
Common Council

City of Appleton

Meeting Agenda - Final

100 North Appleton Street 

Appleton, WI  54911-4799

www.appleton.org

Council Chambers7:00 PMWednesday, November 1, 2023

A. CALL TO ORDER

B. INVOCATION

C. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE TO THE FLAG

D. ROLL CALL OF ALDERPERSONS

E. ROLL CALL OF OFFICERS AND DEPARTMENT HEADS

F. APPROVAL OF PREVIOUS COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES

23-1319 Common Council Meeting Minutes of October 18, 2023

 

CC Minutes 10-18-23.pdfAttachments:

G. BUSINESS PRESENTED BY THE MAYOR

23-1321 Proclamations:

  - Family Literacy Day

  - Small Business Saturday

  - Appleton High School DECA Week

  - Runaway & Homeless Youth Prevention Month

  - Native American Heritage Month

 

Family Literacy Day Proclamation.pdf

Small Business Saturday Proclamation.pdf

Appleton High Schools DECA Week Proclamation.pdf

Runaway and Homeless Youth Prevention Month Proclamation.pdf

Native American Heritage Month Proclamation.pdf

Attachments:

23-1322 Public Art Committee Appointment

 

Nov 1 Public Art Committee Appt Memo.pdfAttachments:

Page 1 City of Appleton Printed on 10/27/2023

https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=23493
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=22bb6a7e-2db0-4a6a-94c0-89a3ee2494b5.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=23495
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=cad46b88-62d2-419c-9d85-fda1f0da08c0.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=2a53c919-69a1-4c61-87ce-0c39f2455699.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=1a33cd16-3128-4f2b-9e94-eca2747a55c2.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=759db1f0-a506-4111-8a6a-4da646dc6342.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=f8df5684-835b-4ca1-9aa5-cb27432e1a93.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=23496
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=bb956bc0-ab53-4bb4-b92f-c29cc1799dff.pdf


November 1, 2023Common Council Meeting Agenda - Final

H. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION

I. PUBLIC HEARINGS

J. SPECIAL RESOLUTIONS

K. ESTABLISH ORDER OF THE DAY

L. COMMITTEE REPORTS

1. MINUTES OF THE MUNICIPAL SERVICES COMMITTEE

23-1176 Request from Appleton Downtown Inc. for free ramp and meter parking on 

Small Business Saturday, November 25, 2023.  

 

ADI Small Business Sat request.pdfAttachments:

Legislative History 

10/9/23 Municipal Services 

Committee

recommended for approval

10/18/23 Common Council referred to the Municipal Services Committee

10/23/23 Municipal Services 

Committee

recommended for approval

Amendment to allow free meter parking only on Small Business Saturday, 

November 25, 2023 8:00 am to 6:00 pm on that day. 5-0 passed

23-1262 Request from Appleton Downtown Inc. and Creative Downtown Appleton 

for a Street Occupancy Permit to host the Holiday Tree Walk in conjunction 

with Light Up Appleton on November 11, 2023 - permit to run from 

November 10, 2023 to November 12, 2023. 

ADI - Light Up Appleton.pdfAttachments:

Legislative History 

10/23/23 Municipal Services 

Committee

recommended for approval

23-1263 Request from Anthony Utschig for a driveway extension appeal at 519 W. 

Sixth Street. 

 

519 6th Street Driveway Extension Request.pdfAttachments:

Legislative History 

10/23/23 Municipal Services 

Committee

recommended for approval

10/23/23 Municipal Services 

Committee

recommended for denial

Page 2 City of Appleton Printed on 10/27/2023

https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=23350
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=ef499c6f-7b5e-4bdb-a391-f0621e57d215.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=23436
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=5e182557-feee-40f3-ad3d-5b657075a3c8.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=23437
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=0ba13471-262d-4795-855a-109f1f07dad0.pdf


November 1, 2023Common Council Meeting Agenda - Final

23-1264 Request from Egge Movers, Inc. to conduct a small building move from 225 

N. Badger Ave to 1839 W. Winnebago Street. 

Building Move 225 N. Badger Ave to 1839 W. Winnebago St.pdfAttachments:

Legislative History 

10/23/23 Municipal Services 

Committee

recommended for approval

2. MINUTES OF THE SAFETY AND LICENSING COMMITTEE

23-1187 Recommended Denial of an Operator License for Katie Baxley

 

Katie Baxley Denial Letter.pdf

Katie Baxley License Application.pdf

Katie Baxley PD Letter.pdf

Attachments:

Legislative History 

10/25/23 Safety and Licensing 

Committee

recommended for approval

10/25/23 Safety and Licensing 

Committee

reconsidered

Motion to Reconsider Application since applicant showed up.

10/25/23 Safety and Licensing 

Committee

held

Katie Baxley, appeared late and addressed the committee.

Chris Ferron, W5553 Harper Rd, Chilton, appeared and addressed the 

committee.

23-1155 Cigarette and Tobacco Products Retail License application for JSH 

Corporation d/b/a The Dispo, located at 2929 N Richmond St Suite 1.

The Dispo S&L.pdfAttachments:

Legislative History 

10/25/23 Safety and Licensing 

Committee

recommended for approval

3. MINUTES OF THE CITY PLAN COMMISSION

23-1227 Request to approve Special Use Permit #11-23 to expand an existing 

restaurant and outdoor sidewalk cafe with alcohol sales and consumption 

located at 204 East College Avenue into the adjacent property located at 

206 East College Avenue (Tax Id #31-2-0313-00), as shown on the 

attached maps and per attached plan of operation, to run with the land 

subject to the conditions in the attached staff report and approve attached 

Resolution (2/3 vote of Common Council required for approval)

StaffReport_Antojitos_SUP_For10-25-23.pdfAttachments:

Legislative History 

Page 3 City of Appleton Printed on 10/27/2023

https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=23438
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=26304ad0-7079-4a40-8fe9-ca71629e697c.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=23361
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=ae97c9e6-8575-47f4-96c3-14d340eafb16.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=5ad62df4-18e8-47f6-9725-a75782c34463.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=c6457c12-e1c4-4a43-8f92-048bfbbe6180.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=23329
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=49768172-0ecd-42ae-953e-a8ce825ad5ba.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=23401
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=46f805d9-8b14-4beb-ae38-98c4499563ac.pdf


November 1, 2023Common Council Meeting Agenda - Final

10/25/23 City Plan Commission recommended for approval

4. MINUTES OF THE PARKS AND RECREATION COMMITTEE

5. MINUTES OF THE FINANCE COMMITTEE

23-1271 Request to approve Fourth Addition to Clearwater Creek Development 

Agreement

 

Clearwater Creek - Fourth Addn to Dev Agrm - 10-20-2023.pdf

Memo_ClearwaterCreek4th_DA_10232023.pdf

Attachments:

Legislative History 

10/23/23 Finance Committee recommended for approval

6. MINUTES OF THE COMMUNITY AND ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE

23-1233 Request to approve City Program Funding for 2024 Community 

Development Block Grant (CDBG) Funding as specified in the attached 

document

CEDC_CDBG_Initial_Allocation_Memo.pdf

CDBG PY24 Request for Funds - Appleton Housing.pdf

Attachments:

Legislative History 

10/25/23 Community & Economic 

Development Committee

recommended for approval

7. MINUTES OF THE UTILITIES COMMITTEE

8. MINUTES OF THE HUMAN RESOURCES & INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY 

COMMITTEE

23-1245 Request to Approve the Valley Transit Teamsters 2024-2026 Contract 

Changes. 

 

Valley Transit TA 10-16-23.pdf

Teamster Valley Transit 2021-2023.pdf

Attachments:

Legislative History 

10/25/23 Human Resources & 

Information Technology 

Committee

recommended for approval

Page 4 City of Appleton Printed on 10/27/2023

https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=23445
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=7b6f3805-b109-472a-be23-e4bceb9e70e5.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=0daf5997-7cf2-40b2-a92b-fefb3d0b534f.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=23407
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=48db4cf4-c716-4f08-86df-0b6bbaeef2dd.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=b6c76ba0-d775-4c28-a949-6b2bb033a603.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=23419
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=9f31375f-c79f-45fd-bd09-ea10c7a3d030.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=ca8918c4-285d-4c7a-b1a8-52f9009e536b.pdf


November 1, 2023Common Council Meeting Agenda - Final

23-1246 Approval of Alderperson Salaries. 

 

HR-IT - Alderperson Raises Deadlines.pdf

Alderperson Compensation Survey.pdf

Elected Alderperson Salaries.pdf

Attachments:

Legislative History 

10/25/23 Human Resources & 

Information Technology 

Committee

recommended for approval

Salary remains at $6,750 annually and includes a parking pass.

9. MINUTES OF THE FOX CITIES TRANSIT COMMISSION

23-1254 Approve Contract with SRF Consulting for Professional Services

SRF Memo.pdfAttachments:

Legislative History 

10/24/23 Fox Cities Transit 

Commission

recommended for approval

23-1255 Authorize PO to Smart Spaces for Audio Visual Equipment

AV Equipment Memo.pdfAttachments:

Legislative History 

10/24/23 Fox Cities Transit 

Commission

recommended for approval

10. MINUTES OF THE BOARD OF HEALTH

M. CONSOLIDATED ACTION ITEMS

N. ITEMS HELD

O. ORDINANCES

23-1320 Ordinance #155-23

Ordinances to Council 11-1-23.pdfAttachments:

P. LICENSE APPLICATIONS AND COMMUNICATIONS REFERRED TO 

COMMITTEES OF JURISDICTION

Q. RESOLUTIONS SUBMITTED BY ALDERPERSONS REFERRED TO COMMITTEES 

OF JURISDICTION

R. OTHER COUNCIL BUSINESS

Page 5 City of Appleton Printed on 10/27/2023

https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=23420
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=feb9a952-e1bd-4d91-b03c-cf7442963c69.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=3dad9a9f-6127-429c-9151-21f122eec238.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=ef9c6856-1402-422a-bce1-72b0d3f0e178.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=23428
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=a733ec48-96c4-497a-81f1-830f048d6b0c.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=23429
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=82791b4a-a368-4273-b088-afdcdf365b7f.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=23494
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=648dbaf5-7ac8-46c9-aff2-2f399fd7bff9.pdf


November 1, 2023Common Council Meeting Agenda - Final

23-1241 Suspend the Council Rules to Cancel the January 3, 2024 & July 3, 2024 

Common Council Meetings

 

S. ADJOURN

Kami Lynch, City Clerk

Reasonable accommodations for persons with disabilities will be made upon request and 

if feasible.  

Remote meeting attendance may be permitted pursuant to Section 2-29 of the Appleton 

Municipal Code and Rules of Council.

Page 6 City of Appleton Printed on 10/27/2023

https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=23415


100 North Appleton Street 

Appleton, WI  54911-4799

www.appleton.org

City of Appleton

Meeting Minutes - Final

Common Council

7:00 PM Council ChambersWednesday, October 18, 2023

CALL TO ORDERA.

The meeting was called to order by Mayor Woodford at 7:00 p.m.

INVOCATIONB.

The Invocation was offered by Alderperson Meltzer.

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE TO THE FLAGC.

ROLL CALL OF ALDERPERSONSD.

All members were present.

Alderperson Croatt appeared virtually.

Alderperson William Siebers, Alderperson Vered Meltzer, Alderperson 

Brad Firkus, Alderperson Israel Del Toro, Alderperson Katie Van Zeeland, 

Alderperson Denise Fenton, Alderperson Patrick Hayden, Alderperson 

Joss Thyssen, Alderperson Alex Schultz, Alderperson Vaya Jones, 

Alderperson Kristin Alfheim, Alderperson Nate Wolff, Alderperson Sheri 

Hartzheim, Alderperson Christopher Croatt, Alderperson Chad Doran and 

Mayor Jake Woodford

Present: 16 - 

ROLL CALL OF OFFICERS AND DEPARTMENT HEADSE.

All departments were represented.

APPROVAL OF PREVIOUS COUNCIL MEETING MINUTESF.

23-1206 Common Council Meeting Minutes of October 4, 2023

CC Minutes 10-4-23.pdfAttachments:

Alderperson Hartzheim moved, seconded by Alderperson Meltzer, that the 

Minutes be approved. Roll Call. Motion carried by the following vote:

Aye: Alderperson William Siebers, Alderperson Vered Meltzer, Alderperson 

Brad Firkus, Alderperson Israel Del Toro, Alderperson Katie Van Zeeland, 

Alderperson Denise Fenton, Alderperson Patrick Hayden, Alderperson 

Joss Thyssen, Alderperson Alex Schultz, Alderperson Vaya Jones, 

Alderperson Kristin Alfheim, Alderperson Nate Wolff, Alderperson Sheri 

Hartzheim, Alderperson Christopher Croatt and Alderperson Chad Doran

15 - 

Abstained: Mayor Jake Woodford1 - 

Page 1City of Appleton

https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=23380
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=041f0db5-b717-47d9-8129-2d2c5b06955c.pdf


October 18, 2023Common Council Meeting Minutes - Final

BUSINESS PRESENTED BY THE MAYORG.

PUBLIC PARTICIPATIONH.

The following spoke regarding Item #23-1199 Neighborhood Grant Request:

Rebecca Zornow, 1009 N Oneida St.

PUBLIC HEARINGSI.

23-1136 Public Hearing for Rezoning #7-23 Prospera Annexation (4704 N. 

Ballard Rd) from Temp AG Agricultural District & R-1A Single Family 

District to C-2 General Commercial District

RZ #7-23 Notice of Public Hearing.pdfAttachments:

The public hearing was held.  No one spoke during the hearing.

SPECIAL RESOLUTIONSJ.

ESTABLISH ORDER OF THE DAYK.

23-1176 Request from Appleton Downtown Inc. for free ramp and meter 

parking on Small Business Saturday, November 25, 2023.  

 

ADI Small Business Sat request.pdfAttachments:

This Item was referred back to the Municipal Services Committee by 

Alderperson Hartzheim.

23-1236 Request to award an American Rescue Plan Act grant to Thompson 

Center on Lourdes, Inc. in the amount of $1,000,000.
 

Thompson Center on Lourdes.pdfAttachments:

Alderperson Fenton moved, seconded by Alderperson Van Zeeland, that the 

ARPA grant award be approved. Roll Call. Motion carried by the following vote:

Aye: Alderperson William Siebers, Alderperson Vered Meltzer, Alderperson 

Brad Firkus, Alderperson Israel Del Toro, Alderperson Katie Van Zeeland, 

Alderperson Denise Fenton, Alderperson Patrick Hayden, Alderperson 

Joss Thyssen, Alderperson Alex Schultz, Alderperson Kristin Alfheim, 

Alderperson Nate Wolff, Alderperson Sheri Hartzheim and Alderperson 

Christopher Croatt

13 - 

Nay: Alderperson Chad Doran1 - 

Abstained: Alderperson Vaya Jones and Mayor Jake Woodford2 - 

Page 2City of Appleton

https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=23310
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=f1459829-8b22-4ade-8aba-8129a09126fc.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=23350
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=ef499c6f-7b5e-4bdb-a391-f0621e57d215.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=23410
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=ec70f9f8-d85a-45a4-9dd8-1c9ebe356b7f.pdf


October 18, 2023Common Council Meeting Minutes - Final

23-1128 Resolution #10-R-22, Alternate Lawe Street Truck Route.

2023.09.20_MSC Lawe Street Truck Route Memo.pdf

Lawe Street Attachments.pdf

10-R-22 Amended.pdf

AMENDED 10-R-22 Staff Memo.pdf

WisDOT functional class map appleton.pdf

10-R-22 Email Feedback 2023.09.25.pdf

Attachments:

Amend to reinstate the original language of the Resolution

Alderperson Meltzer moved, seconded by Alderperson Wolff, that the 

Resolution be amended to restore the original language (removing the last two 

sentences that were added in Committee) of the Resolution. Roll Call. Motion 

carried by the following vote:

Aye: Alderperson Vered Meltzer, Alderperson Brad Firkus, Alderperson Israel 

Del Toro, Alderperson Denise Fenton, Alderperson Patrick Hayden, 

Alderperson Joss Thyssen, Alderperson Alex Schultz, Alderperson Vaya 

Jones, Alderperson Kristin Alfheim, Alderperson Nate Wolff and 

Alderperson Christopher Croatt

11 - 

Nay: Alderperson William Siebers, Alderperson Katie Van Zeeland, 

Alderperson Sheri Hartzheim and Alderperson Chad Doran

4 - 

Abstained: Mayor Jake Woodford1 - 

Alderperson Fenton moved, seconded by Alderperson Van Zeeland, that the 

recommendation from Committee to deny the Resolution be approved as 

amended. Roll Call. Motion carried by the following vote:

Aye: Alderperson William Siebers, Alderperson Brad Firkus, Alderperson Katie 

Van Zeeland, Alderperson Denise Fenton, Alderperson Vaya Jones, 

Alderperson Kristin Alfheim, Alderperson Sheri Hartzheim and 

Alderperson Chad Doran

8 - 

Nay: Alderperson Vered Meltzer, Alderperson Israel Del Toro, Alderperson 

Patrick Hayden, Alderperson Joss Thyssen, Alderperson Nate Wolff and 

Alderperson Christopher Croatt

6 - 

Abstained: Alderperson Alex Schultz and Mayor Jake Woodford2 - 

There was a Motion by Alderperson Fenton, seconded by Alderperson Van Zeeland, 

to reconsider this item.  Motion carried 14/1 (Hartzheim) and the item was 

reconsidered.

A notwithstanding vote was requested.

Alderperson Van Zeeland moved, seconded by Alderperson Alfheim, that the 

Resolution be approved as amended. Roll Call. Motion carried by the following 

vote:

Aye: Alderperson Vered Meltzer, Alderperson Israel Del Toro, Alderperson 

Denise Fenton, Alderperson Patrick Hayden, Alderperson Joss Thyssen, 

Alderperson Alex Schultz, Alderperson Nate Wolff and Alderperson 

Christopher Croatt

8 - 

Page 3City of Appleton

https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=23302
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=d1af290b-4cd9-4aed-90cd-7059fa233205.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=58dc1bf5-17b5-4fd8-baa4-ce66ad833364.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=8caa4674-0e7d-458d-adae-029bc884f251.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=8247ba4e-f733-4b5b-883e-927b433fbc1a.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=10b95625-0087-4843-b717-6e2897b6adc1.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=3c3d7a0c-3cc7-47d1-99d1-bcaa4f83a575.pdf


October 18, 2023Common Council Meeting Minutes - Final

Nay: Alderperson William Siebers, Alderperson Brad Firkus, Alderperson Katie 

Van Zeeland, Alderperson Vaya Jones, Alderperson Kristin Alfheim, 

Alderperson Sheri Hartzheim and Alderperson Chad Doran

7 - 

Abstained: Mayor Jake Woodford1 - 

23-1199 Request to approve the Neighborhood Grant Program request 

submitted by the Historic Central Neighborhood

Memo_RequestForTNGP_HistoricCentral_For10-11-23.pdf

ApplicationSubmittedByHIstoricCentralNeighborhood_10-02-23.pdf

HistoricCentral_BoundaryMap.pdf

SubjectAreaMap_HistoricCentral_TNGP.pdf

NGP Support Letter HCN.pdf

Attachments:

Alderperson Del Toro moved, seconded by Alderperson Van Zeeland, that the 

Grant Request be approved. Roll Call. Motion carried by the following vote:

Aye: Alderperson William Siebers, Alderperson Vered Meltzer, Alderperson 

Brad Firkus, Alderperson Israel Del Toro, Alderperson Katie Van Zeeland, 

Alderperson Denise Fenton, Alderperson Patrick Hayden, Alderperson 

Joss Thyssen, Alderperson Alex Schultz, Alderperson Vaya Jones, 

Alderperson Kristin Alfheim, Alderperson Nate Wolff, Alderperson Sheri 

Hartzheim, Alderperson Christopher Croatt and Alderperson Chad Doran

15 - 

Abstained: Mayor Jake Woodford1 - 

23-1197 Request to approve the following budget amendment:

2023 Jones Park Shade Project  -$37,400

2022 City Hall Remodel Project +$37,400

for additional project costs (2/3 vote of Council required)
 

City Hall Renovation Project Budget Adjustment.pdfAttachments:

Alderperson Fenton moved, seconded by Alderperson Van Zeeland, that the 

Budget Amendment be approved. Roll Call. Motion carried by the following 

vote:

Aye: Alderperson William Siebers, Alderperson Vered Meltzer, Alderperson 

Brad Firkus, Alderperson Israel Del Toro, Alderperson Katie Van Zeeland, 

Alderperson Denise Fenton, Alderperson Patrick Hayden, Alderperson 

Joss Thyssen, Alderperson Vaya Jones, Alderperson Kristin Alfheim, 

Alderperson Nate Wolff, Alderperson Sheri Hartzheim, Alderperson 

Christopher Croatt and Alderperson Chad Doran

14 - 

Nay: Alderperson Alex Schultz1 - 

Abstained: Mayor Jake Woodford1 - 

Page 4City of Appleton

https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=23373
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=9ff76076-8abe-4905-9641-b8015f92a1e8.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=c5d68f1e-b84e-4ec0-b491-21639447817d.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=7aec2753-b385-4973-bc1e-aa7f3eb8b124.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=2bc54409-8682-4ad2-889f-1c11fb1a9532.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=3002084c-0356-4d8c-b95a-ae84792f4fb4.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=23371
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=3b247e07-30bf-4b7c-80fc-1c1151ec394f.pdf


October 18, 2023Common Council Meeting Minutes - Final

23-1162 Elected City of Appleton Attorney Compensation for May 2024 term. 
 

Elected COA Attorney Compensation for May 2024 Term.pdfAttachments:

Alderperson Doran moved, seconded by Alderperson Alfheim, that the 

Compensation be amended to increase the salary by 3% for all years in the 

term. Roll Call. Motion failed by the following vote:

Aye: Alderperson William Siebers, Alderperson Brad Firkus, Alderperson Katie 

Van Zeeland, Alderperson Kristin Alfheim, Alderperson Nate Wolff, 

Alderperson Sheri Hartzheim and Alderperson Chad Doran

7 - 

Nay: Alderperson Vered Meltzer, Alderperson Israel Del Toro, Alderperson 

Denise Fenton, Alderperson Patrick Hayden, Alderperson Joss Thyssen, 

Alderperson Alex Schultz, Alderperson Vaya Jones and Alderperson 

Christopher Croatt

8 - 

Abstained: Mayor Jake Woodford1 - 

Alderperson Fenton moved, seconded by Alderperson Hartzheim, that the 

Compensation be approved. Roll Call. Motion carried by the following vote:

Aye: Alderperson William Siebers, Alderperson Vered Meltzer, Alderperson 

Brad Firkus, Alderperson Katie Van Zeeland, Alderperson Denise Fenton, 

Alderperson Patrick Hayden, Alderperson Joss Thyssen, Alderperson 

Alex Schultz, Alderperson Vaya Jones, Alderperson Kristin Alfheim, 

Alderperson Nate Wolff, Alderperson Sheri Hartzheim, Alderperson 

Christopher Croatt and Alderperson Chad Doran

14 - 

Nay: Alderperson Israel Del Toro1 - 

Abstained: Mayor Jake Woodford1 - 

23-1012 Resolution #9-R-23 Mental Health Awareness & Services 
 

#9-R-23 mental health awareness.pdfAttachments:

Alderperson Fenton moved, seconded by Alderperson Del Toro, that the 

Resolution be amended to add "Community Wellness, Mental Health & 

Violence Prevention" after $1,000,000 ARPA allocation and to remove "and we 

will divide this money amongst organizations in our community." Roll Call. 

Motion carried by the following vote:

Aye: Alderperson Israel Del Toro, Alderperson Katie Van Zeeland, Alderperson 

Denise Fenton, Alderperson Patrick Hayden, Alderperson Joss Thyssen, 

Alderperson Alex Schultz, Alderperson Nate Wolff and Alderperson 

Christopher Croatt

8 - 

Nay: Alderperson William Siebers, Alderperson Vered Meltzer, Alderperson 

Brad Firkus, Alderperson Vaya Jones, Alderperson Kristin Alfheim, 

Alderperson Sheri Hartzheim and Alderperson Chad Doran

7 - 

Abstained: Mayor Jake Woodford1 - 

Alderperson Fenton moved, seconded by Alderperson Del Toro, that the 

Resolution be approved as amended. Roll Call. Motion carried by the following 

vote:

Page 5City of Appleton

https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=23336
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=703e7422-4008-471c-8be3-9b48536b77e4.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=23186
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=9b7e2e44-7336-4085-9017-1e472689cbde.pdf


October 18, 2023Common Council Meeting Minutes - Final

Aye: Alderperson William Siebers, Alderperson Vered Meltzer, Alderperson 

Israel Del Toro, Alderperson Denise Fenton, Alderperson Patrick Hayden, 

Alderperson Joss Thyssen, Alderperson Alex Schultz and Alderperson 

Nate Wolff

8 - 

Nay: Alderperson Brad Firkus, Alderperson Katie Van Zeeland, Alderperson 

Vaya Jones, Alderperson Kristin Alfheim, Alderperson Sheri Hartzheim, 

Alderperson Christopher Croatt and Alderperson Chad Doran

7 - 

Abstained: Mayor Jake Woodford1 - 

COMMITTEE REPORTSL.

Balance of the action items on the agenda.

Alderperson Fenton moved, Alderperson Van Zeeland seconded, to approve 

the balance of the agenda.  The motion carried by the following vote:

Aye: Alderperson William Siebers, Alderperson Vered Meltzer, Alderperson 

Brad Firkus, Alderperson Israel Del Toro, Alderperson Katie Van Zeeland, 

Alderperson Denise Fenton, Alderperson Patrick Hayden, Alderperson 

Joss Thyssen, Alderperson Alex Schultz, Alderperson Vaya Jones, 

Alderperson Kristin Alfheim, Alderperson Nate Wolff, Alderperson Sheri 

Hartzheim, Alderperson Christopher Croatt and Alderperson Chad Doran

15 - 

Abstained: Mayor Jake Woodford1 - 

MINUTES OF THE MUNICIPAL SERVICES COMMITTEE1.

23-1175 Request from Alan Schmidt at 508 W. Wisconsin Avenue for a Terrace 

Occupancy Permit to keep an existing terrace flower garden in the 

street terrace along N. Alvin Street.  

 

2023.10.03 508 W. Wisconsin Ave Terrace Occupancy Permit.pdfAttachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

MINUTES OF THE SAFETY AND LICENSING COMMITTEE2.

MINUTES OF THE CITY PLAN COMMISSION3.

Page 6City of Appleton

https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=23349
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=ad346027-4a57-4e79-b5a1-385575f682be.pdf


October 18, 2023Common Council Meeting Minutes - Final

23-1118 Request to approve Rezoning #7-23 for the subject parcels located at 

4704 N. Ballard Road (Tax Id #31-1-8008-00), including to the 

centerline of the adjacent right-of-way, and the adjacent land locked 

parcel directly to the east (Tax Id #31-1-8007-00), as shown on the 

attached maps, from Temporary AG Agricultural District and R-1A 

Single-Family District to C-2 General Commercial District

StaffReport_4704NBallardRdandParceltoEast_Rezoning_For9-27-2

3.pdf

Attachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

MINUTES OF THE PARKS AND RECREATION COMMITTEE4.

MINUTES OF THE FINANCE COMMITTEE5.

MINUTES OF THE COMMUNITY AND ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT 

COMMITTEE

6.

MINUTES OF THE UTILITIES COMMITTEE7.

23-1180 Approval to single source and award 2023C Stormwater Consulting 

Services Contract for assistance with the Interstate 41 Reconstruction 

Project to Brown and Caldwell in an amount not to exceed $50,000.
 

2023C Single Source 41 Reconstruction Phase 2 BC award util 

memo.pdf

Attachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

23-1181 Second amendment 2023A Stormwater Management Plan Review 

contract with Brown and Caldwell by an increase of $20,000 for a total 

contract amount not to exceed $75,000.
 

2023A SWM Plan Review BC 2nd Amendment Memo Util Cmte.pdfAttachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

23-1182 Approve wastewater rate increase of 7% for general service and 

special hauled waste service and increase compost fee to $13/cu. yard 

to be effective January 1, 2024.
 

Memo 2024 Rate Increase.pdf

2024 Rate Sheet.pdf

Attachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

Page 7City of Appleton

https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=23292
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=0485886a-6b80-49dd-b5ab-4191de692884.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=23354
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=fe27ddf2-d9e8-4930-8c3b-d47fd59e8e6a.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=23355
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=af6bacc5-d043-4207-a03c-9a3984e5d712.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=23356
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=408cc2f1-0fff-4ce9-9027-f6ba606f1940.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=35f3bbaa-67d8-451c-8a9e-9434f430537d.pdf


October 18, 2023Common Council Meeting Minutes - Final

MINUTES OF THE HUMAN RESOURCES & INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY 

COMMITTEE

8.

23-1161 Lieutenant Over Hire Request. 
 

Lt Overhire 2023.pdfAttachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

23-1163 City of Appleton Mayor Compensation for April 2024 Term. 
 

COA Mayor Compensation for April 2024 Term.pdfAttachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

MINUTES OF THE FOX CITIES TRANSIT COMMISSION9.

MINUTES OF THE BOARD OF HEALTH10.

23-1152 AHD002_Creation and Maintenance of Procedures

ADH002_Creation and Maintenance of Procedures_10.02.2023.pdfAttachments:

This Report Action Item was approved.

CONSOLIDATED ACTION ITEMSM.

ITEMS HELDN.

ORDINANCESO.

23-1207 Ordinances #153-23 and #154-23
 

Ordinances to Council 10-18-23.pdfAttachments:

Alderperson Hartzheim moved, seconded by Alderperson Fenton, that the 

Ordinances be approved. Roll Call. Motion carried by the following vote:

Aye: Alderperson William Siebers, Alderperson Vered Meltzer, Alderperson 

Brad Firkus, Alderperson Israel Del Toro, Alderperson Katie Van Zeeland, 

Alderperson Denise Fenton, Alderperson Patrick Hayden, Alderperson 

Joss Thyssen, Alderperson Alex Schultz, Alderperson Vaya Jones, 

Alderperson Kristin Alfheim, Alderperson Nate Wolff, Alderperson Sheri 

Hartzheim, Alderperson Christopher Croatt and Alderperson Chad Doran

15 - 

Abstained: Mayor Jake Woodford1 - 

Page 8City of Appleton

https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=23335
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=6cfd4f52-4b6a-4777-abc6-ff4eba784ede.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=23337
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=2293c15d-9b57-4307-8101-7e58cbb1cce4.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=23326
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=f3e860a3-4ea6-4f2b-8f61-6e5bafebeb6e.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=23381
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=f6570570-fdf5-4575-ba9d-bbc981ad2d5a.pdf


October 18, 2023Common Council Meeting Minutes - Final

LICENSE APPLICATIONS AND COMMUNICATIONS REFERRED TO 

COMMITTEES OF JURISDICTION
P.

RESOLUTIONS SUBMITTED BY ALDERPERSONS REFERRED TO 

COMMITTEES OF JURISDICTION
Q.

23-1251 Resolution #11-R-23 Overnight Parking
 

#11-R-23 Overnight Parking.pdfAttachments:

OTHER COUNCIL BUSINESSR.

ADJOURNS.

Alderperson Hartzheim moved, seconded by Alderperson Wolff, that the 

meeting be adjourned at 8:01 p.m. Roll Call. Motion carried by the following 

vote:

Aye: Alderperson William Siebers, Alderperson Vered Meltzer, Alderperson 

Brad Firkus, Alderperson Israel Del Toro, Alderperson Katie Van Zeeland, 

Alderperson Denise Fenton, Alderperson Patrick Hayden, Alderperson 

Joss Thyssen, Alderperson Alex Schultz, Alderperson Vaya Jones, 

Alderperson Kristin Alfheim, Alderperson Nate Wolff, Alderperson Sheri 

Hartzheim, Alderperson Christopher Croatt and Alderperson Chad Doran

15 - 

Abstained: Mayor Jake Woodford1 - 

Kami Lynch, City Clerk

Page 9City of Appleton

https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=23425
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=969671cf-5ff4-44c9-9e1c-3589b6e9c620.pdf
























 
 
 

DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
100 North Appleton Street 

Appleton, WI  54911 
Phone (920) 832-6474 

Fax (920) 832-6489 
 
TO:   Municipal Services Committee  
 
FROM:  Kurt W. Craanen, Inspections Supervisor 
   Danielle Block, Director of Public Works 

Kara Homan, Director of Community Development  
 
SUBJECT:   519 W. Sixth St. (31-3-0660-00) Driveway Extension Appeal 
     
DATE:   October 23, 2023 
▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬ 
 
 
The owner of 519 W. Sixth St. submitted a plan to the Inspections Division to widen the front 
driveway twelve (12) feet, four (4) inches into the front yard.  Section 19-91(f)(3) of the Municipal 
Code limits driveway extensions to four (4) feet into the front yard.  
 
Section 19-91(g) of the Municipal Code states that appeals shall be heard by the Municipal Services 
Committee.  
 
The owner claims the eleven (11) feet three (3) inches of driveway between the sidewalk and garage 
is not enough space to park a car and would like to park vehicles between the garage and house.  
 
Staff does not support this plan because paving the front yard of a residential property is not 
consistent with Appleton’s community standards for front yards.  
 
The Department of Community Development recommends denial of the appeal to extend the 
driveway twelve (12) feet, four (4) inches into the front yard at 519 W. Sixth St. 
 
   

















Page 1 of 1 

MEMO 

To: 
From: 
Date: 
Re: 

Municipal Services Committee 
Danielle Block, P.E. Director of Public Works 
October 18, 2023 
Building Move 225 N. Badger Ave. to 1839 W. Winnebago St. – Street Occupancy Permit 

The property owner at 225 N. Badger has applied for a Street Occupancy Permit to allow for a building to be moved 
from 225 N. Badger Avenue to 1839 W. Winnebago Street..  See the attached application information and proposed 
relocation route. 

The applicant submitted the following project details: 
• Axle load of truck = 23,000 lb. and trailer = 30,000 lb./dolly
• Dimensions of truck = 8’6” wide, 22’ long
• Overall structure dimensions of truck and trailer loaded = 54’ length, 20’10” height, 26’ width

Section 4-206 of the Appleton City Code outlines requirements for relocating buildings within the City.  Staff has 
reviewed the application and notes the following: 

• Conditions as noted in the Permit to Occupy the Public Right-of-Way;
• Applicant must verify and coordinate with private utilities prior to move;
• Applicant must coordinate move once date is known with the Department of Public Works – Traffic Division

and the Appleton Police Department.

Staff recommends approval of the Street Occupancy Permit.  All required documentation has been submitted by 
the contractor.

“. . .   meeting community needs . . .  enhancing quality of life.”  
DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 

100 North Appleton Street 
Appleton, WI  54911 
TEL  (920) 832-6474 
FAX  (920) 832-6489 



 
 
 

DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
100 North Appleton Street 

Appleton, WI  54911 
Phone (920) 832-6474 

Fax (920) 832-6489 
 
TO:   Municipal Services Committee  
 
FROM:  Kurt W. Craanen, Inspections Supervisor 
   Danielle Block, Director of Public Works 

Kara Homan, Director of Community Development  
 
SUBJECT:   Moving Building from 225 N. Badger Ave. to 1839 W. Winnebago St.  

    
DATE:   October 23, 2023 
▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬ 
 
On October 4, 2023, our office received an application for a Building Moving Permit. The Appleton 
Area School District proposes moving the existing 32’ x 24’storage building located at 225 N. 
Badger Ave. to 1839 W. Winnebago St.   
 
Section 4-408 of the Appleton City Code outlines requirements for relocating buildings within the 
City.  The following are some of the specific requirements of that section: 
 

• Section 4-408(b) requires that the Inspection Supervisor shall issue a permit only after it 
has been approved by the Municipal Services Committee and the Common Council. 

 
• Section 4-408(c) specifies that the alderperson of the ward of the proposed relocation be 

notified.  Alderperson Vaya Jones has been sent a letter regarding this project.  
 

• Section 4-408(d) states that if 20% of the owners of property within one hundred (100) 
feet of the adjacent property protest the relocation, the permit may only be issued with a 
three-fourths (¾) vote of the Common Council. The owners of the properties in this 
category have been sent a letter and a copy of this meeting’s agenda. 

 
The Appleton Area School District has been notified that once the building is moved to 1839 W. 
Winnebago St. it must pass a full inspection as if it is a new building.   
 
The Department of Community Development recommends approval of the Moving Permit 
Application. 
 
c:  Darrin Glad   



x

x

x

x

x

x
Route Reviewed by DPW Traffic.  Applicant be 
aware of City Traffic Signals and signage.

Applicant is responsible for private utility locates and coordination at, below and above ground.  Prior notification to DPW, APD and AFD of move date.

Section 4-206 to 4-212 of City Code must be followed.

X $5,000 Permit Bond





IR 4.1 – Razing or Moving Buildings or Material 
Page | 1 

IR 4.1 – Razing or Moving Buildings or Material 
City of Appleton 

Insurance Requirements 
 

Project: _______________________________________________ 
 
The contract or purchase order is not considered approved and the Contractor shall not commence 
work until proof of the required insurance has been provided to the applicable department for the 
City of Appleton.  
 
It is hereby agreed and understood that the insurance required by the City of Appleton is primary 
coverage and any  insurance or  self‐insurance maintained by  the City of Appleton,  its officers, 
council members, agents, employees or authorized volunteers will not contribute to a loss.  All 
insurance shall be in full force prior to commencing work and remain in force until the entire job 
is completed or the length of time specified in the contract or listed below, whichever is longer. 
 
1.  INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS FOR CONTRACTOR 
 
  Commercial  General  Liability  coverage  at  least  as  broad  as  Insurance  Services  Office 

Commercial General  Liability  Form,  including coverage  for Products  Liability, Completed 
Operations, Contractual Liability, and Explosion, Collapse, Underground   coverage  with 
the following minimum limits and coverage: 

 
    •  Each occurrence limit ................................................................................. $1,000,000 
    •  Personal and Advertising Injury limit ......................................................... $1,000,000 
    •  General aggregate limit (other than products/completed  
        operations) per project ....................................................................... $2,000,000 
    •  Products/Completed Operations aggregate .............................................. $2,000,000 
        NOTE:  Coverage must be carried for two years after acceptance  
        of completed work. 
    •  Fire Damage limit – any one fire ..................................................................... $50,000 
    •  Medical Expense limit – per person .................................................................. $5,000 
 
  Automobile  Liability  coverage  at  least  as  broad  as  Insurance  Services  Office  Business  

Automobile Form with $1,000,000 minimum limits combined single limit per accident for 
Bodily Injury and Property Damage, provided on a Symbol #1 ‐ “Any Auto”  basis. 
 

Workers’  Compensation  as  required  by  the  State  of Wisconsin  and  employers  liability 
insurance  with  sufficient  limits  to  meet  underlying  umbrella  liability  insurance 
requirements.  If applicable  for  the work coverage must  include Maritime  (Jones Act) or 
Longshoremen’s and Harbor Workers Act coverage. 
 
Umbrella Liability coverage at least as broad as the underlying commercial general Liability, 
automobile liability and employers liability, with a minimum limit of 



IR 4.1 – Razing or Moving Buildings or Material 
Page | 2 

• Each occurrence ......................................................................................... $2,000,000 
• Aggregate ................................................................................................... $2,000,000 
• Maximum self‐insured retention .................................................................... $10,000 

 
Builder’s Risk/Installation Floater/Contractor’s Equipment or Property: If applicable the 
contractor is responsible for loss and coverage for these exposures.  The City of Appleton 
will  not  assume  responsibility  for  loss,  including  loss  of  use,  or  damage  to  property, 
materials, tools, equipment and items of a similar nature which are being used in the work 
being performed by the contractor or  its subcontractors or are to be built,  installed or 
erected by the contractor or subcontractors. 
 
Bond Requirements:  Per Municipal Code Sec. 4‐207 

• License and Permit Bond:  The Contractor will  provide  to  the City  a  License and 
Permit  Bond  in  the  amount  of  $5,000  or  the  amount  stipulated  in  the  City  of 
Appleton’s Municipal Code Section 4. 

•  Acceptability of Bonding Company:  The Permit Bond shall be placed with a bonding 
company with an A.M. Best rating of no less than A‐ and a Financial Size Category of 
no less than Class VI. 

 
2.  APPLICABLE TO CONTRACTORS/SUBCONTRACTORS/SUB‐SUB CONTRACTORS 
 
  •  Primary and Non‐Contributory requirement – All insurance must be primary   and 

non‐contributory to any insurance or self‐insurance carried by the City of Appleton. 
 
  •  Acceptability of Insurers: Insurance is to be placed with insurers who have an A.M. Best 

rating of no less than A‐ and a Financial Size Category of no less than Class VI, and who 
are authorized as an admitted insurance company in the state of Wisconsin. 

 
  •  Additional  Insured  Requirements:  The  City  of  Appleton,  and  its  officers,  council 

members, agents, employees and authorized volunteers must be named as additional 
insureds on all liability policies for liability arising out of project.  On the Commercial 
General Liability Policy, the additional insured coverage must be ISO form CG 20 10 
07 04 and also include Products – Completed Operations equivalent to ISO form CG 
20 37 07 04 or their equivalents for a minimum of 2 years after acceptance of work.  
This does not apply to Workers Compensation Policies. 

 
  •  Certificates of Insurance acceptable to the City of Appleton shall be submitted prior to 

commencement of the work and shall contain a provision that coverage afforded under 
the policies will not be canceled or non‐renewed until at least 30 days’ prior written 
notice has been given to the City of Appleton.    In addition form CG 20 10 07 04 for 
ongoing work exposure and form CG 20 37 07 04 for products‐completed operations 
exposure or its equivalent must also be provided.    

 
 



IR 4.1 – Razing or Moving Buildings or Material 
Page | 3 

3.  INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS FOR SUBCONTRACTOR 
 

All sub‐contractors shall be required to obtain Commercial General Liability, Automobile 
Liability, Worker’s Compensation, Employer’s Liability and if applicable, Watercraft Liability, 
Aircraft Liability and Unmanned Aircraft Liability insurance.  This insurance shall be as and 
with the same coverage limits as those required of the Contractor. 
 

REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK –  
REQUIREMENTS CONTINUE ON THE FOLLOWING PAGE 

 
   



IR 4.1 – Razing or Moving Buildings or Material 
Page | 4 

The following additional coverages are  required where the corresponding box  is checked.    In 
addition, Contractor shall be responsible for consulting with its insurance carrier to determine 
whether any of the other following coverages should be carried based upon the specific project: 

 

☐  Bond Requirements 
•  Bid  Bond:  The  Contractor’s  Bid  Bond  equal  to  5%  of  the  contract  shall 

accompany the bid for the project.  
•  Payment and Performance Bond:  If awarded the contract, the Contractor will 

provide to the Owner a Payment and Performance Bond in the amount of the 
contract price, covering faithful performance of the contract and payment of 
obligations  arising  thereunder,  as  stipulated  in  bidding  requirements,  or 
specifically  required  in  the contract documents on the date of  the contract’s 
execution. 

•  Acceptability of Bonding Company:  The Bid, Payment and Performance Bonds 
shall be placed with a bonding company with an A.M. Best rating of no less than 
A‐ and a Financial Size Category of no less than Class VI. 

• License and Permit Bond:  The Contractor will provide to the City a License and 
Permit Bond in the amount stipulated in Appleton’s Municipal Code. 

 

☐  Property Insurance Coverage (Builder’s Risk) to be provided by the Contractor  
•  The property  insurance must  include engineering or architect  fees and must 

equal the bid amount, plus any change orders.  
•  Coverage includes property on the work site/s, property in transit and property 

stored off the work site/s.  
•  Coverage will be on a Replacement Cost basis.   
•  The City of Appleton, consultants, architects, architect consultants, engineers, 

engineer consultants, contractors and subcontractors will be added as named 
insureds to the policy.   

•  Coverage must include collapse and be written on a “special perils” or “all risk” 
perils basis.   

•  Coverage  must  include  water  damage  (including,  but  not  limited  to,  flood, 
surface water, hydrostatic pressure) and earth movement.   

•  Coverage must include testing and start up.   
•  Coverage must include boiler and machinery if the exposure exists.   
•  Coverage must include engineers’ and architects’ fees.   
•  Coverage must include building ordinance or law coverage with a limit of 5% of 

the contract amount.   
•  The policy must cover/allow partial utilization by owner.   
•  Coverage must include a “waiver of subrogation” against any named insureds 

or additional insureds.   
•  Contractor is responsible for all deductibles and coinsurance penalties. 
 
 
 



IR 4.1 – Razing or Moving Buildings or Material 
Page | 5 

☐  Pollution  Liability  –  Contractors;  Motor  Vehicle/Automobile;  Professional; 
Environmental Consultants/Engineers 
•  Definition of “Covered Operations” in the policy must include the type of 

work being done for the City of Appleton 
•  Limits of Liability:  

◦  $500,000 each loss for bodily injury, property damage, environmental 
damage 

◦  $1,000,000 Aggregate for bodily injury, property damage, 
environmental damage (environmental damage includes pollution 
and clean‐up costs) 

•  Deductible must be paid by the Contractor, consultants/engineers 
•  The City of Appleton, its Council members and employees must be Additional 

Insureds 
  •  The policy must also cover subcontractors 

• Specify if “Wrongful Delivery” is covered 
•  Must cover motor vehicle loading and unloading and show on Certificate of 

Insurance 
  •  Certificate of Insurance must state: 

◦   If the policy is an Occurrence or a Claims Made Form 
◦  If the defense costs reduce the limit of liability 
◦  If the policy covers motor vehicle loading and unloading claims 
◦  If there is an underground storage tank or a super fund exclusion 
◦  If there is a Contractual Liability Exclusion 
◦  If Bodily Injury includes mental anguish and emotional distress  

 

☐  Aircraft  Liability  insurance with  a  limit  of  $3,000,000  per  occurrence  for  bodily 
injury  and  property  damage  including  passenger  liability  and  slung  cargo  if  the 
project includes the use or operation of any aircraft or helicopter. 

 

☐   Unmanned Aircraft Liability insurance with a limit of $1,000,000 per occurrence for 
bodily injury, property damage liability, and invasion of privacy liability if the project 
includes the use of or operation of any unmanned aircraft (drones). 

 

☐  Watercraft Liability insurance with a limit of $1,000,000 per occurrence for bodily 
injury and property damage if the project includes the use of and/or operation of 
any watercraft 

 

  ☐   Cyber Liability and Technology Errors and Omissions Insurance 
      •  Per occurrence .................................................................................... $100,000 
 

  ☐  Commercial Crime Policy  
    •  Per Occurrence  .................................................................................. $100,000 
Last Review: 12/2021 







 
 
 

DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
100 North Appleton Street 

Appleton, WI  54911 
Phone (920) 832-6474 

Fax (920) 832-6489 
 
TO:   Alderperson Vaya Jones  
 
FROM:  Kurt W. Craanen, Inspections Supervisor 
    
SUBJECT:   Moving Building from 225 N. Badger Ave. to 1839 W. Winnebago St.  

    
DATE:   October 13, 2023 
▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬ 
 
On October 4, 2023, our office received an application for a Building Moving Permit. The Appleton 
Area School District proposes moving the existing 32’ x 24’storage building located at 225 N. 
Badger Ave. to 1839 W. Winnebago St.   
 
Section 4-408(c) specifies that the alderperson of the ward of the proposed relocation be notified.   
 
Section 4-408(d) states that if 20% of the owners of property within one hundred (100) feet of the 
adjacent property protest the relocation, the permit may only be issued with a three-fourths (¾) vote 
of the Common Council. The owners of the properties in this category have been sent a letter and a 
copy of this meeting’s agenda. 
 
The Appleton Area School District has been notified that once the building is moved to 1839 W. 
Winnebago St. it must pass a full inspection as if it is a new building.   
 
This item will be on the agenda for the Municipal Services Agenda on October 23, 2023, at 4:30 pm. 
 
c: Kara Homan   



 
 

DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT 

                       Inspection Division 
100 North Appleton Street 

            Appleton, WI  54911 
         TEL  (920) 832-6411 

            FAX  (920) 832-6464 
October 11, 2023 
 
 
«Owner_Name» 
«Owner_Address» 
«Owner_City_State_ZIP» 
 
 
RE: Relocation of building at 225 N. Badger St.  (31-5-1730-01), to 1839 W. Winnebago 
St.  (31-5-1463-00) 
 
Dear «Owner_Name»: 
 
On Monday, October 23, 2023, the Municipal Services Committee will be deliberating on 
an issue in your property’s neighborhood.  An application to move a building has been 
submitted to the City of Appleton Inspection Division.  The Appleton Area School 
District is proposing to move a building currently located at 225 N. Badger Ave. to 1825 
W. Winnebago St.  
 
According to Section 4-208(d) of the Appleton City Code, a relocation shall not be made 
if there is a protest of the relocation by 20% of the owners within 100 feet of this 
property. Your property at «Property_Address» is within 100 feet from 1839 W. 
Winnebago St. 
 
The Municipal Services Committee will be discussing this agenda item October 23, 
2023.  This meeting will be held in City Hall Council Chambers 6th Floor at 4:30pm. 
 
If you have any questions regarding this agenda item, please contact me at (920) 832-
6413. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
Kurt W. Craanen 
Inspection Supervisor 
 
cc: Dani Block 
 Kara Homan 
 













“…meeting community needs…enhancing quality of life.”

TO: Safety and Licensing Committee 

FROM: Lt. Adam Nagel

DATE: 09/12/2023

RE: Denial of Katie D. Baxley 

Committee Members:

As a designee for the police department, I am requesting that the Safety and Licensing 
Committee recommend to the Common Council to deny Katie D. Baxley application for an
operator’s license. 

It is not employment discrimination for a licensing agency to deny an applicant based on a
conviction record where the circumstances of the conviction substantially relate to the 
circumstances of the particular licensed activity.

No license or permit related to alcohol beverages may be issued to a habitual law offender where 
the circumstances of the offenses substantially relate to the circumstances of the particular 
licensed activity. A person is a habitual law offender if they have been convicted of repeat 
misdemeanor or ordinance violations. No license may also be issued to a person who has been 
convicted of a felony which substantially relates to the alcohol beverage licensing activity unless 
duly pardoned.

An applicant is allowed an opportunity to show evidence of rehabilitation and fitness to engage 
in the licensed activity, unless the conviction(s) are for exempt offenses.  The applicant may 
produce the following to conclusively demonstrate their rehabilitation and fitness from a given 
conviction:

A copy of the local, state, or federal release document; and either
(1) a copy of the relevant department of corrections document showing completion of
probation, extended supervision, or parole; or
(2) other evidence that at least one year has elapsed since release from any local, state, or
federal correctional institution without subsequent conviction of a crime along with
evidence showing compliance with all terms and conditions of probation, extended
supervision, or parole.

Reviewing Katie’s prior history of police contacts, I find the following offenses are substantially
related to the sale of alcohol and demonstrate that Katie Baxley is a habitual law offender. Katie
has history of arrests and convictions starting in 2015 up to October of 2019.



In 2015, Katie Baxley was found guilty of a misdemeanor Resisting or Obstructing an
Officer in Brown County case number 2015CM000045. This case shows dishonesty toward
authority and presents concerns about her making ethical decisions in the service of alcohol. This
incident is substantially related to Katie’s lack of judgment and ability to serve alcohol.

In 2015, Katie was found guilty of felony Possession of Narcotic Drugs Brown County 
case number 2015CF000118. Possessing illegal drugs demonstrates a lack of good judgment 
necessary for a bartender. People under the influence of alcohol are generally susceptible to poor 
decision-making, including illicit drug law violations. This violation is directly related to the sale 
of alcohol.

In 2019, Katie was found guilty of Felony Possession of Methamphetamine in Brown
County case number 2019CF001543.   Possessing illegal drugs demonstrates a lack of good 
judgment necessary for a bartender. People under the influence of alcohol are generally 
susceptible to poor decision-making, including illicit drug law violations. This violation is 
directly related to the sale of alcohol. 

The service of alcohol includes encountering individuals in a vulnerable state and the 
Police Department feels Katie Baxley has not demonstrated the necessary maturity and decision-
making capacity to be allowed a bartender’s license in the City of Appleton. Her violations of 
drug laws and the last arrest for drugs being approximately four years prior shows that she is not 
capable of being a responsible bartender.

Her arrest and conviction record go back several years. This further corroborates the 
decision for the APD to recommend a denial for this license request.

Respectfully: 

Lt. Adam Nagel #9191
Appleton Police Department 



07/01/2023-06/30/2024

REDACTED

REDACTED

REDACTED



 

 

 

 

 

GENERAL INFORMATION___________________________________________________  _ 

Owner:  FA & VB, LLC 

 

Applicant:  Fernando Almaza - Antojitos Mexicanos, LLC 

 

Address/Parcel #:  204 & 206 E. College Avenue (Tax Id #31-2-0313-00) 

 

Petitioner’s Request:  The owner/applicant is requesting a Special Use Permit to expand an existing 

restaurant and outdoor sidewalk café with alcohol sales and consumption.  

 

BACKGROUND______________________________________________________________  _ 

The applicant’s 5,414 sq. ft. site is located on the two hundred block of E. College Avenue between N. 

Morrison Street and N. Durkee Street. Per Assessor’s Office records, the building was originally built in 

1884 and remodeled in 1958. Donald’s Gift Shop operated in this building for approximately six years.  

 

Special Use Permit #2-07 was approved for alcohol sales (beer only) in conjunction with a restaurant and 

with outdoor seating in the amenity strip along College Avenue at 204 E. College Avenue for 1910 

Sausage Company. One of the conditions of approval was any deviation from the approved Development 

Plan may require a major or minor change request to the Special Use Permit pursuant to Section 23-66(g) 

of the Zoning Ordinance.  

 

Minor Amendment to Special Use Permit #2-07 was approved for alcohol sales in conjunction with a 

restaurant and with outdoor seating in the amenity strip along College Avenue at 204 E. College Avenue 

by the Plan Commission on February 25, 2013. The minor amendment removed the stipulation of beer 

only.  

 

206 E. College Avenue has been utilized for various retail establishments over the years.  

  

On September 20, 2023, a Certified Survey Map was recorded to combine 204 & 206 E. College Avenue 

to allow for the expansion of Antojitos Mexicano into 206 E. College Avenue.  

 

STAFF ANALYSIS____________________________________________________________  _ 

Project Summary:  Antojitos Mexicanos has operated within 204 E. College Avenue since 2015.  The 

owner/applicant acquired 204 & 206 E. College Avenue in May of 2017. The applicant proposes to 

expand Antojitos Mexicanos restaurant and outdoor sidewalk café with alcohol sales and consumption. 

REPORT TO CITY PLAN COMMISSION 

Plan Commission Public Hearing Date:  October 25, 2023 

Common Council Meeting Date:  November 1, 2023 

Item:  Special Use Permit #11-23 for expanded restaurant and outdoor 

sidewalk café with alcohol sales and consumption 

 

Case Manager:  Lindsey Smith 

Community  

and Economic 

Development 



Special Use Permit #11-23 

October 25, 2023 

Page  2 
 

The expansion is approximately 2,794 sq. ft., which includes the outdoor sidewalk café. Antojitos 

Mexicano restaurant and outdoor sidewalk café will total approximately 5,546 sq. ft.  

 

Existing Site Conditions:  The existing mixed-use building totals approximately 8,374 square feet, 

including the existing restaurant, former retail space, and five dwelling units on the upper floors. 

 

Major Changes to Special Uses:  Per Section 23-66(g)(2) of the Municipal Code, all changes not 

identified as a “minor change” shall be deemed a major change in a special use and shall be submitted to  

Common Council for review through the typical Special Use Permit procedure.  The original request was 

approved as Special Use Permit #2-07.  The applicant’s current request, Special Use Permit #11-23, is to 

expand the area of the restaurant and outdoor sidewalk cafe from 2,752 square feet to 5,546 square feet.  

This expansion is greater than 10% and therefore constitutes a major change.  If approved, Special Use 

Permit #11-23 will replace Special Use Permit #2-07. 

 

Zoning Ordinance Requirements:  The subject property has a zoning designation of CBD Central 

Business District.  Per Section 23-114(e) of the Municipal Code, a restaurant and outdoor sidewalk café 

with alcohol sales and consumption requires a Special Use Permit in the CBD District.  In order to permit 

alcohol sales and consumption in conjunction with an expanded restaurant and outdoor sidewalk café, the 

Plan Commission makes a recommendation to the Common Council who will make the final decision on 

the Special Use Permit.  A two-thirds (2/3) vote of the Common Council is required for approval. 

 

Operational Information:  A plan of operation is attached to the Staff Report. 

 

Outdoor Seating:  The applicant proposes to expand the outdoor sidewalk café with alcohol sales and 

consumption.   

 

Surrounding Zoning and Land Uses:  The surrounding area is under the jurisdiction of the City of 

Appleton (north, south, east, and west).  The uses are generally commercial in nature. 

 

North:  CBD Central Business District.  The adjacent land uses to the north are currently a mix of 

commercial and institutional uses. 

 

South:  CBD Central Business District.  The adjacent land uses to the south are currently a mix of 

commercial and residential uses. 

 

East:  CBD Central Business District.  The adjacent land uses to the east are currently a mix of 

commercial and residential uses. 

 

West:  CBD Central Business District.  The adjacent land uses to the west are currently a mix of 

commercial uses. 

 

Appleton Comprehensive Plan 2010-2030:  Community and Economic Development staff has reviewed 

this proposal and determined it is compatible with the Central Business District designation shown on the 

City’s Comprehensive Plan 2010-2030 Future Land Use Map.  Listed below are related excerpts from the 

City’s Comprehensive Plan 2010-2030. 

 

 



Special Use Permit #11-23 

October 25, 2023 

Page  3 
 

Goal 1 – Community Growth 

Appleton will continue to provide opportunities for residential, commercial, and industrial growth, 

including appropriate redevelopment sites within the downtown and existing neighborhoods, and 

greenfield development sites at the City's edge. 

 

Goal 8 – Economic Development 

Appleton will pursue economic development that retains and attracts talented people, brings good jobs to 

the area, and supports the vitality of its industrial areas, downtown, and neighborhood business districts. 

 

OBJECTIVE 9.4 Economic Development: 

Ensure the continued vitality of downtown and the City’s neighborhood commercial districts. 

 

Chapter 14 Downtown Plan, Initiative 1 Urban Form and Design: 

Strategy 1.6 – Add additional flexible outdoor space throughout the downtown area. 

 

Chapter 14 Downtown Plan, Initiative 4 Downtown Development and Business Retention: 

Strategy 4.8 – Support private sector efforts to redevelop and invest in downtown. 

 

Zoning Ordinance Requirements and Substantial Evidence:  When reviewing an application for a 

Special Use Permit, the City must determine if the owner’s/applicant’s proposal satisfies Municipal Code 

requirements and conditions.  Pursuant to Section 23-66(c)(5) of the Municipal Code, the Plan 

Commission and Common Council must provide substantial evidence supporting their decision to 

approve, approve with conditions, or deny the Special Use Permit.  Substantial evidence means “facts and 

information, other than merely personal preferences or speculation, directly pertaining to the requirements 

and conditions an owner/applicant must meet to obtain a Special Use Permit and that reasonable persons 

would accept in support of a conclusion.”  Any requirements and conditions listed for approval must be 

reasonable, and to the extent practicable, measurable. 

 

Finding of Fact:  This request was reviewed in accordance with the standards for granting a Special Use 

Permit under Sections 23-66(e)(1-8) and 23-66(h)(6) of the Zoning Code: 1. Proper zoning district: CBD 

zoning allows restaurant and sidewalk café with alcohol sales and consumption as a special use permit; 2. 

zoning district regulations: the district regulations were reviewed pursuant to the attached development 

plan; 3. Special Regulations: Stipulations 2, 3, and 4 (below) address the special regulations for the 

proposed use; 4. Consistent with comprehensive plan and other plans: yes, see above analysis; 5. Traffic: 

the proposed use is not expected to create undue traffic congestions; 6. Landscaping and screening: not 

applicable to this use; 7. Neighborhood compatibility with predominant land uses in this area: the 

proposed use exist on the adjacent lot and is located near other existing commercial uses in this area of the 

City; 8. Impact on services: the City has existing utilities and services in place to serve this use. These 

standards were found in the affirmative, as long as all stipulations are satisfied.  

 

Technical Review Group (TRG) Report:  This item was discussed at the October 3, 2023 Technical 

Review Group meeting. No negative comments were received from participating departments.  

 

 

 

 



Special Use Permit #11-23 

October 25, 2023 

Page  4 
 

RECOMMENDATION________________________________________________________  _ 

Staff recommends, based on the above, that Special Use Permit #11-23 to expand an existing restaurant 

and outdoor sidewalk café with alcohol sales and consumption at 204 & 206 E. College Avenue (Tax Id 

#31-2-0313-00), as shown on the attached maps and per attached plan of operation, along with the 

attached resolution, BE APPROVED to run with the land, subject to the following conditions: 

 

1. The applicant shall receive approval of a Liquor License premise amendment from the City Clerk 

prior to serving or consuming alcohol in the expanded interior area and new outdoor area. 

Substantial Evidence:  This condition provides notice to the applicant that a Liquor 

License is also needed prior to serving alcohol. 

 

2. The use shall conform to the standards established in Chapter 9, Article III, Alcoholic Beverages, 

of the Appleton Municipal Code. 

Substantial Evidence:  This condition is one of the special regulations included in Section 23-

66(h)(6) of the Zoning Ordinance for this particular use. 

 

3. The site shall be kept free of litter and debris. 

Substantial Evidence:  This condition is one of the special regulations included in Section 23-

66(h)(6) of the Zoning Ordinance for this particular use. 

 

 

4. All Zoning, Building, Fire, Engineering, Utility and other Municipal Codes, and all applicable 

State and Federal laws shall be complied with. 

Substantial Evidence:  This condition is one of the special regulations included in Section 23-

66(h)(6) of the Zoning Ordinance for this particular use. 

 

5. The serving and consumption of alcohol is limited to the area identified on the attached 

development plan and floor plan drawings.  Any expansions of the special use, changes to the 

development plan(s), plan of operation or any conditions of approval may require a major or minor 

amendment request to this Special Use Permit pursuant to Section 23-66(g) of the Zoning 

Ordinance.  Contact the Community and Economic Development Department to discuss any 

proposed changes. 

Substantial Evidence:  Standardized condition that establishes parameters for the current 

application and identifies the process for review of any future changes to the special use. 

 

 









1 | P a g e  

 

CITY OF APPLETON 

RESOLUTION FOR SPECIAL USE PERMIT #11-23  

RESTAURANT AND SIDEWALK CAFE WITH ALCOHOL 

204 & 206 E. COLLEGE AVENUE 

 

 

WHEREAS, FA & VB, LLC, owner; Antojitos Mexicanos, LLC, applicant, has applied for a Special Use 

Permit to expand an existing restaurant and sidewalk café with alcohol sales and consumption located at 204 & 

206 E. College Avenue, also identified as Parcel Number 31-2-0313-00; and 

 

WHEREAS, the proposed restaurant and sidewalk café with alcohol sales and consumption is located in the 

CBD Central Business District, and the proposed use may be permitted by Special Use Permit within this 

zoning district pursuant to Chapter 23 of the Municipal Code; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City of Appleton Plan Commission held a public hearing on October 25, 2023 on Special Use 

Permit #11-23, at which all those wishing to be heard were allowed to speak or present written comments and 

other materials at the public hearing; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City of Appleton Plan Commission has reviewed and considered the Community and 

Economic Development Department’s staff report and recommendation, as well as other spoken and written 

evidence and testimony presented at the public hearing; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City of Appleton Plan Commission reviewed the standards for granting a Special Use Permit 

under Sections 23-66(e)(1-8) of the Municipal Code; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City of Appleton Plan Commission reviewed the standards for imposing conditions on the 

Special Use Permit under Section 23-66(c)(5) of the Municipal Code, and forwarded Special Use Permit #11-23 

to the City of Appleton Common Council with a   favorable conditional      or       not favorable      (CIRCLE 

ONE) recommendation; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City of Appleton Common Council has reviewed the report and recommendation of the City 

of Appleton Plan Commission at their meeting on November 1, 2023. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, DETERMINED AND ORDERED by the Common Council, 

based on Community and Economic Development Department’s staff report and recommendation, as well as 

other spoken and written evidence and testimony presented at the public hearing and Common Council meeting, 

and having considered the recommendation of the City Plan Commission, that the Common Council: 

 

1. Determines all standards listed under Sections 23-66(e)(1-8) of the Municipal Code are found in the 

affirmative     YES     or     NO      (CIRCLE ONE) 

 

2. If NO, the City of Appleton Common Council hereby denies Special Use Permit #11-23 to expand an 

existing restaurant and sidewalk cafe with alcohol sales and consumption located at 204 & 206 E. College 

Avenue, also identified as Parcel Number 31-2-0313-00, based upon the following standards and 

determinations:  (List reason(s) why the Special Use Permit was denied) 

 



2 | P a g e  

 

3. If YES, the City of Appleton Common Council hereby approves Special Use Permit #11-23 to expand an 

existing restaurant and sidewalk café with alcohol sales and service located at 204 & 206 E. College 

Avenue, also identified as Parcel Number 31-2-0313-00, subject to the following conditions as they are 

related to the purpose of the City of Appleton Municipal Code and based on substantial evidence: 

 

CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL FOR SPECIAL USE PERMIT #11-23: 

 

A. The applicant shall receive approval of a Liquor License premise amendment from the City Clerk prior 

to serving or consuming alcohol in the expanded interior area and new outdoor area. 

 

B. The use shall conform to the standards established in Chapter 9, Article III, Alcoholic Beverages, of the 

Appleton Municipal Code. 

 

C. The site shall be kept free of litter and debris. 

 

D. All Zoning, Building, Fire, Engineering, Utility and other Municipal Codes, and all applicable State and 

Federal laws shall be complied with. 

 

E. The serving and consumption of alcohol is limited to the area identified on the attached development 

plan and floor plan drawings.  Any expansions of the special use, changes to the development plan(s), 

plan of operation or any conditions of approval may require a major or minor amendment request to this 

Special Use Permit pursuant to Section 23-66(g) of the Zoning Ordinance.  Contact the Community and 

Economic Development Department to discuss any proposed changes. 

 

4. The City Clerk’s Office is hereby directed to give a copy of this resolution to the owner/applicant, 

Community and Economic Development Department, Inspections Division, and any other interested party. 

 

 

Adopted this ______ day of ____________________________, 2023. 

 

 

 

        _____________________________________ 

        Jacob A. Woodford, Mayor  

ATTEST: 

 

 

_____________________________________ 

Kami Lynch, City Clerk 





or less







PLAN CONDITIONALLY APPROVED

Review Type:    Building & Structure Review Only 

    Approved By: _________________ Date: 06/19/2023

No Variation of this Plan is Permitted  without the
Approval of E-Plan Exam and the Municipal Building

Inspection Department.  See Plan Review Letter and/or
Permit for additional conditions that must be addressed

during construction prior to inspection.



PLAN CONDITIONALLY APPROVED

Review Type:    Building & Structure Review Only 

    Approved By: _________________ Date: 06/19/2023

No Variation of this Plan is Permitted  without the
Approval of E-Plan Exam and the Municipal Building

Inspection Department.  See Plan Review Letter and/or
Permit for additional conditions that must be addressed

during construction prior to inspection.



PLAN CONDITIONALLY APPROVED

Review Type:    Building & Structure Review Only 

    Approved By: _________________ Date: 06/19/2023

No Variation of this Plan is Permitted  without the
Approval of E-Plan Exam and the Municipal Building

Inspection Department.  See Plan Review Letter and/or
Permit for additional conditions that must be addressed

during construction prior to inspection.



PLAN CONDITIONALLY APPROVED

Review Type:    Building & Structure Review Only 

    Approved By: _________________ Date: 06/19/2023

No Variation of this Plan is Permitted  without the
Approval of E-Plan Exam and the Municipal Building

Inspection Department.  See Plan Review Letter and/or
Permit for additional conditions that must be addressed

during construction prior to inspection.



PLAN CONDITIONALLY APPROVED

Review Type:    Building & Structure Review Only 

    Approved By: _________________ Date: 06/19/2023

No Variation of this Plan is Permitted  without the
Approval of E-Plan Exam and the Municipal Building

Inspection Department.  See Plan Review Letter and/or
Permit for additional conditions that must be addressed

during construction prior to inspection.



PLAN CONDITIONALLY APPROVED

Review Type:    Building & Structure Review Only 

    Approved By: _________________ Date: 06/19/2023

No Variation of this Plan is Permitted  without the
Approval of E-Plan Exam and the Municipal Building

Inspection Department.  See Plan Review Letter and/or
Permit for additional conditions that must be addressed

during construction prior to inspection.



PLAN CONDITIONALLY APPROVED

Review Type:    Building & Structure Review Only 

    Approved By: _________________ Date: 06/19/2023

No Variation of this Plan is Permitted  without the
Approval of E-Plan Exam and the Municipal Building

Inspection Department.  See Plan Review Letter and/or
Permit for additional conditions that must be addressed

during construction prior to inspection.



PLAN CONDITIONALLY APPROVED

Review Type:    Building & Structure Review Only 

    Approved By: _________________ Date: 06/19/2023

No Variation of this Plan is Permitted  without the
Approval of E-Plan Exam and the Municipal Building

Inspection Department.  See Plan Review Letter and/or
Permit for additional conditions that must be addressed

during construction prior to inspection.



PLAN CONDITIONALLY APPROVED

Review Type:    Building & Structure Review Only 

    Approved By: _________________ Date: 06/19/2023

No Variation of this Plan is Permitted  without the
Approval of E-Plan Exam and the Municipal Building

Inspection Department.  See Plan Review Letter and/or
Permit for additional conditions that must be addressed

during construction prior to inspection.



 
City of Appleton – Clearwater Creek, LLC 

Fourth Addition to Development Agreement 
Page 1 of 6 

 

FOURTH ADDITION TO CLEARWATER CREEK 
DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 

 
THIS AGREEMENT, made by and between the City of Appleton, Outagamie County, Wisconsin, 
a body politic and municipal corporation by its Common Council (“City”) and, Clearwater Creek, 
LLC, a corporation with a business address of 2100 North Freedom Road #A, Little Chute, WI 54140, 
the owner and developer (“Developer”) of property lying within the city of Appleton: 
 
WHEREAS, Section 17-3 of the Appleton Municipal Code provides for the installation of required 
improvements in new subdivisions; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Developer has proposed to develop the Fourth Addition to Clearwater Creek, a 
residential subdivision on property within the corporate limits of the City (“Proposed Subdivision”) 
described in Exhibit 1 (Legal Description provided by Developer) attached hereto; and 
 
WHEREAS, a final plat of the Fourth Addition to Clearwater Creek, shown in Exhibit 2 (provided 
by Developer) attached hereto, has been conditionally approved by the City with conditions remaining 
to be satisfied; and  
 
WHEREAS, a series of meetings and negotiations have taken place between the City and the 
Developer to determine various development and financial responsibilities as between the City and 
the Developer for on-site and off-site public improvements and fees in connection with the Proposed 
Subdivision; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City and the Developer, for their mutual benefit, have mutually agreed as to 
development and financial responsibilities for public improvements and fees in connection with the 
Proposed Subdivision;  
 
NOW THEREFORE, it is mutually agreed as follows: 
 
1. The Developer shall be responsible for the installation of the following in the Proposed 

Subdivision: 
 
 a. Sanitary sewer mains, manholes and laterals; 
 b. Water mains, valves, hydrants, hydrant leads, fittings and services; 
 c. Storm sewer mains, manholes, catch basins, inlet leads, overland flow paths, yard drains 

and associated piping and laterals; 
 d. Erosion control measures necessary to meet erosion control requirements for the 

development; 
 e. Street excavation and graveling and terrace seeding, lot filling and grading and seeding; 
 f. Street lights (provided and installed by We Energies, billed directly to Developer); and 
 g. All other infrastructure required for development not specifically set forth in this 

agreement. 
 
2. The Developer shall provide an estimate for items 1a – 1g prior to the installation of the items 

for the development. 



 
City of Appleton – Clearwater Creek, LLC 

Fourth Addition to Development Agreement 
Page 2 of 6 

 

 
3. The Developer shall provide fully executed and signed Waivers of Special Assessment Notices and 

Hearing (shown in Exhibit 3) for the development, acknowledging consent to pay Special 
Assessments levied by the City for the following items that may be furnished and/or installed 
by the City: 

 
 a. City Administrative Fees  
 b. Temporary Asphalt  
 c. Sanitary Sewer Area Assessment 
 d. Sewer Televising   
 e. Street Name / Traffic Control Signs   
 f. Concrete Pavement abutting lots owned by the Developer at the time of concrete paving 
 g. Sidewalks installed on lots owned by the Developer at the time of concrete paving 
  
 Estimate of up-front City costs and associated special assessments to be paid by the Developer 

for items 3a – 3g for the development are attached hereto as Exhibit 4.  The actual final costs 
for items 3a - 3g will be used as the basis for the amount of the special assessments billed to 
the Development and following the City’s Special Assessment Policy at the time of billing. 

 
 Concrete paving and sidewalks will be assessed to the abutting property owners and the 

Developer will be assessed for only the cost of those lots owned by the Developer.  Concrete 
streets shall be installed, no sooner than, seventy-five percent (75%) of the lots in the Proposed 
Development have been issued building permits or after a five (5) year period. 

 
4. The Developer shall provide the City with copies of all final costs, invoices, labor costs, the 

contract documents and specifications, design documentation, all contract administration 
supporting documentation, an itemized list of all expenses for the installation of sanitary sewer, 
storm sewer, water main, street excavation and graveling, and street lights for the Proposed 
Subdivision. Said information provided by Developer shall be provided within 60 days of 
installation and shall meet City’s Infrastructure Adjustment Form requirements.  The 
Developer shall perform the construction staking and the City shall inspect the same. 

 
5. The Developer shall perform the testing of the water main, sanitary sewer and storm sewer 

under the supervision of the City of Appleton inspectors. 
 
6. The Developer shall provide lien waivers to the City from prime contractor, subcontractors, 

suppliers and consultants within 60 days of the installation of the items in Paragraph 1. 
 
7. The Developer agrees to convey, by deed or dedication, to the City all the streets, roads, courts, 

avenues drives, public ways, sanitary sewer, water main, storm sewer and storm water facilities 
in the Proposed Subdivision.  Developer further agrees to convey any public access ways by 
dedication or easement to the City.  All public improvements contemplated in the final plat 
shall be constructed within areas to be dedicated to the City either by deed, dedication or 
easement as contemplated in the Proposed Subdivision and this Agreement.  

 
8. The Developer agrees to allow the City’s continued use of parcel #31-6-6200-00 for soil 



 
City of Appleton – Clearwater Creek, LLC 

Fourth Addition to Development Agreement 
Page 3 of 6 

 

stockpile purposes, as a continuation of the agreement dated June 7, 2019, included within 
Exhibit 5, and the memorandum of understanding dated January 23, 2019, included within 
Exhibit 6, until the City no longer requires soil storage, not to exceed year 2030.  This shall be 
effectuated via a temporary limited easement. 

 
9. Upon completion of construction, and prior to acceptance of streets, the Developer shall 

provide a certification from a professional land surveyor licensed in the State of Wisconsin 
that all monumentation within the development is properly installed within three inches (3”) 
of finished grade. 

 
10. The Developer shall establish a level loop on the hydrants in the plat and a copy of those 

benchmarks shall be provided to the City. 
 
11. The City agrees to accept the dedication of all the Public Improvements in the plat, whether 

by deed, dedication or easement, subject to the City’s acceptance of the Public Improvements 
in accordance with and subject to the terms of the City’s Subdivision Ordinance. 

 
12. The Developer shall repair or replace, as directed by the City and to the City’s satisfaction, at 

its own cost, any damage caused to City property by the installation of the improvements made 
by Developer in the Proposed Subdivision.  Repairs shall be completed within six (6) months 
of notification from the City to the Developer of the need to repair or replace such damage. 

 
13. The estimate of costs paid by the Developer for items 3a – 3g is attached hereto as Exhibit 4 

and shows the items and amounts projected to be paid by the Developer.   The actual final 
costs for these items will be used as the basis for the special assessments billed to the 
developer. 

 
14. The schedule for the Proposed Subdivision shall be as follows: 
 

 Infrastructure installation may commence after City approval of Final Plat, Drainage 
Plan, Established Grades, Storm Water Management Plan, Plans and Specifications. 
 

 Building permits may be issued upon City approval and acceptance of all 
infrastructure. Streets must be officially opened to the public by the City Engineer 
prior to the issuance of building permits. 

 
15. The City represents that this Agreement and the terms and conditions contained herein are 

consistent with adopted ordinances and resolutions on the subject matter. 
 
16. The Developer shall pay the entire cost associated with installation of underground gas, 

electric, telephone and cable TV utilities and streetlights in the Proposed Subdivision.  The 
City shall review the proposed locations and have approval authority over any utilities 
proposed within the public right-of-way, prior to installation.  The City standard for street 
lights shall be wooden poles.  The street lighting plan shall be designed by We Energies and 
approved by the City.  The City shall pay We Energies the monthly electrical charge for street 
lighting.  If the Developer desires decorative streetlights, then the Developer will be 



 
City of Appleton – Clearwater Creek, LLC 

Fourth Addition to Development Agreement 
Page 4 of 6 

 

responsible for all costs associated with the decorative streetlights.  The Developer will be 
responsible for requesting said decorative lights from We Energies.  The Developer must also 
sign a Waiver of Special Assessments document for the annual assessments associated with 
decorative lighting. 

 
17. This development is restricted to fourteen (14) building permits until a second public access 

is available. 
 
18. The City represents and warrants to Developer that it has the power, authority, and legal right 

to enter into all of the transactions and to perform all of the covenants and obligations required 
to be entered into or performed by the City under this Agreement. 

 
 a. The City represents and warrants to Developer that it is empowered and authorized to 

execute and deliver this Agreement and other agreements and documents, if any, required 
hereunder to be executed and delivered by the City.  This Agreement has been, and each 
such document at the time it is executed and delivered, will be duly executed and delivered 
on behalf of the City.   

 
 b.  When executed and delivered to Developer, all such agreements shall constitute a legal, 

valid, and binding obligation of the City, enforceable in accordance with its terms. 
 
19. The Developer represents and warrants to the City that Developer is a Limited Liability 

Company, duly organized and existing under the laws of the State of Wisconsin, and that all 
proceedings of Developer necessary to authorize the negotiation and execution of this 
Agreement and the consummation of the transaction contemplated by this Agreement have 
been taken in accordance with applicable law. 

 
20. The Developer represents and warrants to the City that the execution and delivery of this 

Agreement, the consummation of the transactions contemplated in this Agreement and the 
execution and delivery of the documents required to be executed, delivered or acknowledged 
by Developer at the closing will not violate any provision of Developer's partnership 
agreement or any applicable statute, rule, regulation, judgment, order or decree of the State of 
Wisconsin or a court having jurisdiction over Developer or its properties. 

 
21. The Agreement shall be effective as of the date of execution thereof and remain in effect until 

the earliest of: (a) the Developer notifies the City that the Proposed Subdivision has been 
terminated, (b) upon the mutual agreement of the Parties to terminate the Agreement, or (c) 
if one (1) year after the date of execution the Developer has not taken any further action on 
the Proposed Subdivision. 

 
22. This Agreement, along with Exhibits 1, 2, 3 and 4, sets forth the entire understanding of the 

parties relative to its subject matter and supersedes and merges any and all prior 
communications, negotiations and agreements, oral or written, except for the Agreements 
previously approved by Council attached hereto as Exhibit 5. 

 
23. It is understood and agreed that the provisions of this Agreement shall be deemed severable 



 
City of Appleton – Clearwater Creek, LLC 

Fourth Addition to Development Agreement 
Page 5 of 6 

 

and the invalidity or unenforceability of any one or more of the provisions contained herein 
shall not affect the validity and enforceability of the other provisions contained herein. 

 
24. This Agreement may not be modified or amended, except in writing, with the written consent 

of both the City and the Developer. 
 
CLEARWATER CREEK DEVELOPMENT, LLC 
 
 
 
By: _________________________________  By: ________________________________ 
Printed Name: ________________________  Printed Name: _______________________ 
Title: _______________________________  Title: _______________________________ 

 
STATE OF WISCONSIN ) 
    : ss. 
_______________ COUNTY ) 
 
 Personally came before me on this ____ day of ______________________, 2023, the above-
named _____________________________ and ____________________________, to me known 
to be the persons who executed the foregoing instrument and acknowledge the same. 
 
 
       ____________________________________ 
       Printed Name: ________________________ 
       Notary Public, State of Wisconsin 

   My commission is/expires: _______________ 

 

 

[SIGNATURES CONTINUE ON THE FOLLOWING PAGE] 

  



 
City of Appleton – Clearwater Creek, LLC 

Fourth Addition to Development Agreement 
Page 6 of 6 

 

CITY OF APPLETON 
 
 
By: _______________________________  By: _________________________________ 
       Jacob A. Woodford, Mayor         Kami L. Lynch, City Clerk 
  
STATE OF WISCONSIN ) 
    : ss. 
OUTAGAMIE COUNTY ) 
 
 Personally came before me on this ____ day of ______________________, 2023, the above-
named Jacob A. Woodford and Kami L. Lynch, to me known to be the persons who executed the 
foregoing instrument and acknowledge the same. 
 
       ____________________________________ 
       Printed Name: ________________________ 
       Notary Public, State of Wisconsin 
       My commission expires: _________________ 
 
 
Provision has been made to pay the liability  
that will accrue under this contract.   Approved as to Form: 
 
 
___________________________________  ____________________________________ 
Jeri Ohman, Director of Finance   Christopher R. Behrens, City Attorney 
 
This instrument was drafted by: 
Christopher R. Behrens, Appleton City Attorney 
CL: A23‐1111 

 
 
 



EXHIBIT 1 – Legal Description 
 
PART OF LOT 2 OF CERTIFIED SURVEY MAP NO. 3927 FILED IN VOLUME 21 OF 
CERTIFIED SURVEY MAPS ON PAGE 3927 AS DOCUMENT NO. 1388606, BEING PART OF 
THE SOUTHWEST 1/4 OF THE FRACTIONAL NORTHEAST 1/4; AND UNPLATTED LANDS 
BEING PART OF THE NORTHWEST 1/4 OF THE SOUTHEAST 1/4; ALL IN SECTION 2, 
TOWNSHIP 21 NORTH, RANGE 17 EAST, CITY OF APPLETON, OUTAGAMIE COUNTY, 
WISCONSIN, MORE FULLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: 
 
COMMENCING AT THE EAST 1/4 CORNER OF SAID SECTION 2; THENCE NORTH 89 
DEGREES 40 MINUTES 21 SECONDS WEST, ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF THE SOUTHEAST 
1/4 OF SAID SECTION, A DISTANCE OF 1300.89 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING; 
THENCE SOUTH 00 DEGREES 07 MINUTES 09 SECONDS EAST, ALONG THE EAST LINE OF 
THE SOUTHEAST 1/4 OF SAID SECTION, A DISTANCE OF 19.71 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 
50 DEGREES 55 MINUTES 11 SECONDS WEST, ALONG THE NORTHERLY LINE OF OUTLOT 
2, FIRST ADDITION TO CLEARWATER CREEK, A DISTANCE OF 880.71 FEET; THENCE 
SOUTH 41 DEGREES 17 MINUTES 35 SECONDS WEST, CONTINUING ALONG THE 
NORTHERLY LINE OF SAID OUTLOT 2, A DISTANCE OF 209.90 FEET; THENCE NORTH 
39 DEGREES 21 MINUTES 44 SECONDS WEST, ALONG THE NORTHEASTERLY LINE OF 
OUTLOT 1, CERTIFIED SURVEY MAP NO. 7827, A DISTANCE OF 227.58 FEET; THENCE 
88.74 FEET ALONG AN ARC OF A CURVE TO THE LEFT, ALONG THE SOUTHERLY RIGHT-
OF-WAY LINE OF SWEETWATER WAY, SAID CURVE HAVING A RADIUS OF 280.00 FEET 
AND A CHORD THAT BEARS NORTH 59 DEGREES 43 MINUTES 01.5 SECONDS EAST, 
88.37 FEET; THENCE NORTH 50 DEGREES 38 MINUTES 16 SECONDS EAST, CONTINUING 
ALONG THE SOUTHERLY RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF SWEETWATER WAY, A DISTANCE OF 
22.82 FEET; THENCE NORTH 29 DEGREES 14 MINUTES 54 SECONDS WEST, ALONG THE 
EASTERLY RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF SWEETWATER WAY, A DISTANCE OF 60.95 FEET; 
THENCE THE FOLLOWING SIX CALLS ARE ALONG THE SOUTHERLY LINE OF THE THIRD 
ADDITION TO CLEARWATER CREEK AND CERTIFIED SURVEY MAP NO. 8106: 
 THENCE NORTH 39 DEGREES 21 MINUTES 44 SECONDS WEST, 59.84 FEET; 
 THENCE NORTH 00 DEGREES 15 MINUTES 15 SECONDS EAST, 100.20 FEET; 
 THENCE NORTH 73 DEGREES 01 MINUTES 34 SECONDS EAST, 49.11 FEET; 
 THENCE NORTH 50 DEGREES 38 MINUTES 16 SECONDS EAST, 190.00 FEET; 
 THENCE NORTH 43 DEGREES 34 MINUTES 56 SECONDS EAST, 95.72 FEET; 
 THENCE NORTH 50 DEGREES 38 MINUTES 16 SECONDS EAST, 290.53 FEET; 
THENCE SOUTH 00 DEGREES 19 MINUTES 45 SECONDS WEST, ALONG THE EAST LINE OF 
LOT 2, CERTIFIED SURVEY MAP NO. 3927, A DISTANCE OF 87.84 FEET; THENCE 
SOUTH 89 DEGREES 40 MINUTES 21 SECONDS EAST, ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF THE 
SOUTHEAST 1/4 OF SAID SECTION 2, A DISTANCE OF 455.83 FEET TO THE POINT OF 
BEGINNING. CONTAINING 312,063 SQ.FT. [7.164 ACRES].                             

 

 
 



Exhibit 2





\\Appletonstorage.file.core.windows.net\citylaw-fileshare\WPDOCS\D018\P004\WAIVER OF SPECIAL ASSESSMENT NOTICES AND HEARING.DOCX 

WAIVER OF SPECIAL ASSESSMENT NOTICES AND HEARING 

UNDER S.66.0703 WISCONSIN STATUTES 

The undersigned owner(s) of property benefited by the following proposed public improvement to be 
made by the City of Appleton, Outagamie-Calumet- Winnebago County, Wisconsin, to wit: 

The undersigned owner(s) of property benefited by the above proposed public improvement to be made 
by the City of Appleton, Outagamie-Calumet-Winnebago County, Wisconsin, in consideration of the 
construction of said improvement will benefit our property and consent to the levying of special 
assessments against our premises under S.66.0703 of the Wisconsin Statutes, for the cost of such 
improvement. 

In accordance with S.66.0703 (7) of the Wisconsin Statutes, I/we hereby waive all special assessment 
notices and hearings required by S.66.0703 (7), and I /we hereby further agree and admit that my (our) 
property is specially benefited by the above described municipal work or improvement as contemplated 
by Sec.66.0703 (7) Wisconsin Statutes. 

Property Address Signature of Owner(s)  Date 

OFFICE USE ONLY 
Notes: 

Project Unit No.  Authorized City Representative: 

Final Cost of Assessable Improvements:  

Date work completed:  

Date billed to Property Owner:  

Billed by:  

Exhibit 3



Clearwater Creek 4th Addition Exhibit 4
Number of Lots: 14, Plus 2 Outlots
Lot Area: 267,047Square Feet Developer: Clearwater Creek, LLC
Total C/L Footage: 801.3' (based on avg of lot frontages) Work Order: TBD
Total Pavement Area (33' wide streets): 2,938 SY (not including stub outside plat)

City Administrative Fees (estimated cost) $6,410.40 $0.00 $6,410.40 $6,410.40 $0.00

Temporary Asphalt (estimated cost) $44,070.00 $0.00 $44,070.00 $44,070.00 $0.00

Sanitary Sewer Area Assessment (Area 18T6) $18,896.25 $0.00 $18,896.25 $18,896.25 $0.00 5431

Sewer Televising (estimated cost) $1,121.40 $0.00 $1,121.40 $1,121.40 $0.00
5427          
5222

Street Name / Traffic Control Signs (estimated cost) $1,602.00 $0.00 $1,602.00 $1,602.00 $0.00 4010

Concrete Pavement (estimated cost) $160,200.00 $0.00 $160,200.00 $0.00 $160,200.00 4010

Sidewalks - with Concrete Pavement (estimated cost) $56,070.00 $0.00 $56,070.00 $0.00 $56,070.00 4010

Sanitary Sewer $102,797.00 $102,797.00 $0.00 n/a n/a 5431

Storm Sewer / Erosion Control $94,310.00 $94,310.00 $0.00 n/a n/a 5230

Water Main $91,726.00 $91,726.00 $0.00 n/a n/a 5371

Sanitary Laterals $15,680.00 $15,680.00 $0.00 n/a n/a -

Storm Laterals $14,000.00 $14,000.00 $0.00 n/a n/a -

Water Services $20,300.00 $20,300.00 $0.00 n/a n/a -

Grading & Graveling $80,100.00 $80,100.00 $0.00 n/a n/a 4010

Street Lights/Electric/Gas $48,512.00 $48,512.00 $0.00 n/a n/a 4010

TOTALS $755,795.05 $467,425.00 $288,370.05 $72,100.05 $216,270.00

Private Contractor hired by Developer        

(1,602 Lin Ft.) x ($0.70 / Lin. Ft.)

(801 LF) x ($200.00/LF)  

(8010 s.f.) x ($7.00/s.f.)

Private Contractor hired by Developer

Private Contractor hired by Developer

Private Contractor hired by Developer

(801 C/L Ft.) x ($2.00 / C/L. Ft.)

Private Contractor hired by Developer

September 12, 2023

Private Contractor hired by Developer

Private Contractor hired by Developer

Private Contractor hired by Developer

($70.76/1000 s.f.)*(267047s.f.)

(2,938 s.y.) x ($15.00/s.y.)

Account       
to be          

Credited
NOTES / COMMENTS             

(801.3 C/L Ft.) x ($8.00 / C/L. Ft.)

DESCRIPTION
TOTAL        

PROJECT     
COSTS

Developer 
Financed 

Construction     
(Private 

Contracts)

Up-Front        
City Costs       

Special 
Assessments     

(2023-2024 
ESTIMATED)

Special 
Assessments     

(2030 
ESTIMATED)



Exhibit 5























































Exhibit 6



 
 
 
 

 
TO: Finance Committee 
  
FROM: Kara Homan, AICP, Director of Community & Economic Development 
 Danielle Block, PE, Director of Public Works  
 
DATE: October 23, 2023 

RE: Development Agreement – 4th Addition to Clearwater Creek 

 
 

The Final Plat for the 4th Addition to Clearwater Creek was approved by the Appleton 
Common Council on October 4, 2023.  As a condition of that approval, the staff memo 
(condition #2, pg 4) outlined that a Development Agreement is required prior to issuance 
of any permit to commence grading and/or construction of any public improvement. 
 
With this development, the City initiated a new approach to negotiating development 
agreements, with the Community & Economic Development Director leading negotiations 
and internally coordinating with the City Attorney’s office and Public Works 
Director/Department.  This development agreement used the Attorney’s office template 
for Development Agreements as a basis, and ensured the development agreement did 
not provide any fiscal/administrative contribution beyond standard policy from the City - 
aligning with the City’s debt reduction strategy.  Unlike prior development agreements for 
earlier phase(s) of Clearwater Creek, this agreement does not waive the City’s 
administrative fees, and ensures the cost of temporary asphalt is borne by the developer 
(not the City).  It also extends the City’s continued ability to store soil stockpiles (to be 
used for future street extensions) on the developer’s land through 2030.  The developer 
has confirmed they are agreeable to the agreement’s language as drafted. 
 
Staff Recommendation:  
The Directors of CED and DPW recommend APPROVAL of the 4th Addition to 
Clearwater Creek Development Agreement. 

M E M O R A N D U M 

 
“…meeting community needs…enhancing quality of life.” 



 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
TO:  Community and Economic Development Committee  

FROM: Olivia Galyon, Community Development Specialist   

DATE:  October 18, 2023  

RE: City Program funding approval and City Proposals for 2024 Community Development 
Block Grant (CDBG) Funding  

 

Per City of Appleton CDBG Policy, the process of allocating 2024 CDBG funds has begun. An award 
estimate of $576,900  is anticipated for the 2024 Program Year. $576,900 is only an estimate and is subject 
to change upon adoption of the Federal budget. Also, according to City CDBG Policy, the CEDC must 
approve allocations for City Programs. Those proposed amounts total $190,000, and are identified as 
follows: 

Housing Rehabilitation Loan Program - $0 
Neighborhood Program - $40,000 
Appleton Housing Authority - $50,000 
*CDBG Administrative Costs for the Community and Economic Development Department - $100,000 
 

*includes funding for provision of HUD required Fair Housing Services 
 
The remaining balance of funds, $386,900, is made available first to City departments and then community 
partners. Appleton Police Department and the Health Department continue to have conversations regarding 
potential project(s) that may use CDBG and/or American Rescue Plan Act (ARPA) funding. The best source 
of funding needs to be determined. Should a CDBG request be derived from these departments, we expect 
it to occur in the next one-two months. 

 
Following CEDC and Common Council action on City program funding and City Department 
application(s), the next step in the CDBG allocation process includes applications from community 
partners. After community partner applications have been received (due November 10, 2023) and eligibility 
is determined, CEDD staff will supply the CDBG Advisory Board with the applications, appropriate 
guidelines, and a scoring sheet. These packets of information are expected to be distributed to the Advisory 
Board members in November. Board members are asked to allocate funding among the applicants and 
return their allocations to CEDD staff who will compile all results and will present allocation 
recommendations at an Advisory Board meeting, during which allocation amounts will be finalized based 
on the anticipated projected award. Funding recommendations from this Board will be presented as an 
Action Item to the CEDC at a subsequent meeting. CEDC’s recommendation will then be presented to the 
Common Council for final approval.  

 
If you have any questions, please contact me at 832-6469 or olivia.galyon@appleton.org. Thank you! 
 

MEM O R A N D U M 

 

“…meeting community needs…enhancing quality of life.” 





City of Appleton and Teamster Union Local 662 

Tentative agreements 

October 16, 2023 

 

Article 1 –Term of Agreement - This Agreement shall be in full force and effect from January 1, 

2021 2024 to and including December 31, 2023 2026 and shall continue from year to year 

thereafter unless written notice of desire to cancel or terminate the Agreement is served by 

either party upon the other at least one hundred twenty (120) days prior to the date of 

expiration  

Article 6.4 A -Probationary Period - There shall be a probationary period of six (6) months after 

in-service for all new employees hired for regular positions.  This period may be extended by 

mutual agreement between the Employer and the Union. 

 

Article 7.2 – Suspension and Discharge – Discharge or suspension of an employee must be by 

proper written notice, Certified Mail, return receipt requested, sent to the last known address 

of the employee, or by personal service on the employee, with a copy to the Union.  Appeal 

from discharge must be taken within five (5) working days by written notice to the Director of 

Human Resources and a meeting held between the Employer and the Union within fifteen (15) 

working days after the appeal is filed.  A decision must be reached within five (5) working days 

from the date of this meeting. 

 

Article 10 – Alcohol and Drug Use –  10.2 F. All FTA drug and alcohol testing will be conducted 

in accordance with 49CFR part 40 as amended.  The parties agree that the results of an 

Evidential Breathalyzer Machine FTA approved testing process administered by a certified 

technician an Occupational Health Provider shall be presumed accurate, cannot be challenged 

and are not subject to the grievance procedure. 

Article 11.3 B. 5 – An employee who is being retrained in lieu of suspension shall receive only 

one-half (1/2) their regular straight time hourly rate for all time spent in retraining. 

 

Article 13.2 C. 1. a – The employee was late because they were using Valley Transit buses 

(excludes contracted services) to get to work. 

Article 14.3 Reimbursement of Job-related Schooling – The Employer shall pay for any job-

related schooling, which it requires of employees.  Employees who successfully complete other 

job-related continuing education courses shall be reimbursed for one-half (1/2) the cost of 

tuition and books subject to available funds.  The City’s reimbursement for each class will be 

based on the UW System rates.  Participation in such courses must be approved, in advance, by 



the Department Head and the Director of Human Resources.  Successful completion shall mean 

a passing grade if the course or program is graded on a pass/fail basis or a grade of “C” or 

better if letter grades are issued.  An employee must remain employed in good standing for a 

period of two years after the completion of such course, if an employee exits employment 

prior to this time frame they will be required to reimburse the Employer. 

 

16.3 Longevity Pay Schedule 

 

A. All regular full-time employees who have completed five (5) to ten (10) years of service 

will receive an additional six cents ($.06) per hour added to their base rate. 

 

B. All regular full-time employees who have completed ten (10) or more years of service 

will receive an additional ten cents ($.10) per hour added to their base rate. 

 

C. Longevity will be based upon the date the employee was hired. 

 

D.      All regular full-time employees with that many years of service with the city in another 

classification(s) but fewer years in the classification to which this schedule applies, shall 

have the identical differential added to the applicable base pay step. 

 

Article 18 –   

     2021                               2022                               2023 

New Year’s Day    January 1  January 1  January 2 

Memorial Day    May 31   May 30   May 29 

Independence Day   July 5   July 4   July 4 

Labor Day    September 6  September 5  September 4 

Thanksgiving Day    November 25  November 24  November 23 

Christmas Day    December 25  December 26  December 25 

 

     2024                               2025                                2026 

New Year’s Day    January 1  January 1  January 1 

Memorial Day    May 27   May 26   May 25 

Independence Day   July 4   July 4   July 4 

Labor Day    September 2  September 1  September 7 

Thanksgiving Day    November 28  November 27  November 26 

Christmas Day    December 25  December 25  December 25 

 

Article 20.1 A. 2.b. – If an employee qualifies for a one (1), two (2), three (3), four (4) or five (5) 

week vacation as of January 1 and completes the service necessary for an additional week or 

day(s) of vacation later in that the calendar year, such employee shall receive the additional 



vacation after their anniversary date and shall thereafter be eligible for such increased vacation 

as of January 1 of each succeeding that calendar year.  In the event that an employee uses this 

additional vacation prior to their anniversary date and then exits employment they will be 

required to reimburse the employer for the additional day(s)/week.  The additional week or 

day(s) will not be used in calculation of the full week selection requirement in the first year.  

(See Article 20.1C.) 

 

Article 20.3 –   Vacation Paid Leave Bidding 

 

Article 20.3 A. 1 – Maintenance and Office Employees. 

Vacations for each calendar year will be bid by seniority beginning December November 1 

preceding the year vacations are to run.  Each employee will have forty-eight (48) hours to 

select their vacation. 

 

Article 20.3 C – VacationPaid Leave Bidding – Days 

 

Article 20.4 -Vacation Paid Leave scheduling   

Article 21.4 A – If a driver an employee is sick or otherwise unable to come to work, they must 

call in at least sixty (60) minutes prior to the scheduled start of the shift or be subject to the 

“late” policy defined in Article 13. 

 

Article 23 – Funeral Leave – In the case of death in the immediate family of a regular full-time 

employee (non-dependent children, grandchildren, parents or legal guardian, sister or brother, 

mother-in-law, father-in-law, or any other relative living in the employee’s residence at the 

time of death), the employee will be paid for the scheduled time lost from the date of death 

but not to exceed three (3) scheduled work days within a seven (7) day period from the date of 

death at the employee’s regular straight time hourly rate, but not to exceed twenty-four (24) 

hours. 

 

Article 32.3 B – Method of Bidding – Drivers must leave with the Administrative Services 

Manager or other office personnel and the Union Steward, a list of bids, first, second and third 

choice bids, before going on scheduled leave. 

 

 

 

 

 



Adding Article 40.5 

(non-benefited) PART-TIME UTILITY WORKER SCHEDULES 

A. The City of Appleton and the Teamster Union agree to use a labor pool to fill the Part Time 

Utility Worker schedules. The scheduling options will be based on management needs and 

employees availability. 

B. Part Time Utility Workers will be assigned a varied schedule between 3:00 p.m. — 12:00 
a.m. The schedule will consider coverage needs and availability provided by the employee 
and may be any amount of hours to a maximum average of 29.5 hours per week. 

Coverage needs generally fall into the time frame listed below: 

Monday — Saturday 3:00 p.m. — 12:00 a.m. 

Additional hours are needed for shelter cleaning and can be flexible during any 
hours of operation. 

Additional hours will be available for snow removal and will be unpredictable, these 
hours will be offered on a voluntary basis as they occur. 

C. Part Time Utility Workers will be allowed to voluntarily sign for additional Utility Worker 

hours beyond those agreed upon and will be given available hours based on seniority. 

 

D. Part Time Utility Workers will not be inversed outside of the hours/days they are initially 

assigned. 

 

E. The number of Part Time Utility Workers will be a management decision. 

 

F. No guarantee of hours will be provided. 

 

G. The pay scale listed in the contract for Utility Worker will be used. 

H. Part Time Workers will be paid for actual hours worked and overtime after 40 hours. 

I. Adjustments to the hour definitions above may be created based on Management 

decision and candidate availability. 

 

 

 



 

Exhibit C – Side letter – update employees listed  

EXHIBIT C (UPDATED VERSION 1/1/2024 6/8/2021) 
LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING 

LONGEVITY AND VACATION FOR PART-TIME EMPLOYEES 

 

This Letter of Understanding outlines an agreement reached between the City of Appleton and 

the Teamster Local #662 Valley Transit during negotiations for a 2021 2024 Collective 

Bargaining Agreement.  The Letter of Understanding applies to the elimination of longevity and 

vacation for part-time employees.  The following employees shall be grandfathered as outlined 

below: 

    Steve Hamilton  Longevity Only 

    Tom Coon   Vacation Only 

    Paul Rollefson   Vacation and Longevity 

    Dan Kobussen  Vacation and Longevity 

    Carl Gustavson  Vacation Only 

 

 

________________________     _________   ________________________    _________ 

For the City of Appleton      Date  For the Union         Date 

 

Expire Vacation carry over side-letter 

EXHIBIT E 
LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING 

ADDITIONAL VACATION PAID TO POST EMPLOYMENT  
HEALTH PLAN (PEHP) OR HEALTH SAVINGS ACCOUNT (HSA) 

 

Effective July 1, 2021 to December 31, 2021  

In recognition of the current staffing levels and difficulties filling vacant driver positions, the 

City of Appleton and Teamsters Local Union #662 covering Valley Transit Employees have 

reached an agreement to allow for up to one additional week of vacation to be deposited to the 



Post Employment Health Plan (PEHP) or Health Savings Account (HSA). This agreement only 

applies to drivers. An employee choosing to have unused vacation paid to the PEHP or HSA shall 

notify the department prior to year-end. This agreement is being offered on a non-precedent 

basis. All other provisions of the union contract shall remain unchanged. 

This benefit may be used only after meeting the following:  

1. Drivers must use at least one week of vacation time.  
2. The maximum time that may deposited will not exceed 80 hours (40 hours per the 

current contract and 40 additional hours per this letter of understanding).  

This agreement will expire on December 31, 2021. 

 

______________________________ ____________________________________ 

For the City     For the Union  

 

Gender neutral changes – a few clean up items that were missed in last contract will be 

made. 

Create title of Communication Technician/Scheduler – this position will be awarded to the 

senior qualified employee and paid $1.00/hour above the Communication Technician rate. 

*draft job description is attached for clarification of duties 

 

Wages 

2024 – 3% on 1/1/24 

2025 – 3% on 1/1/25 

2026 – 2.5% on 1/1/26 

Wage scale steps will be reduced and will be modified for driver and part time driver as 

follows: 

Training rate 85% 

Completion of probation rate 90% 

1 year after completion of probation 95% 

2 years after completion of probation 100% 



I 

2021-2023 AGREEMENT 

Between 

THE CITY OF APPLETON  

and  

TEAMSTERS LOCAL UNION #662 

covering 

VALLEY TRANSIT EMPLOYEES 

 

PART A  

 GENERAL PROVISIONS 

ARTICLE TITLE PAGE 

1 TERM OF AGREEMENT 1 

2 SEPARABILITY AND SAVINGS 1 

3 UNION RECOGNITION 1 

4 UNION SECURITY 

   .1  Fair Share Deduction 

   .2  Union Business 

   .3  Bulletin Board 

   .4  Picket Lines 

2 

5 SUBCONTRACTING 2 

6 HIRING AND PROMOTION 

   .1  Non-Discrimination 

   .2  Bonds 

.3  Hire Rate 

   .4  Probationary Period 

   .5  Seniority 

   .6  Job Posting 

   .7  Seniority Upon Promotion/Transfer 

   .8  Layoff Procedure 

   .9  Recall Procedure 

3 - 6 

7 DISCIPLINE 

   .1  Warning Notice 

   .2  Suspension or Discharge 

   .3  Reinstatement 

   .4  Time Limits 

7 

8 GRIEVANCE PROCEDURES 

   .1  Time Limits 

   .2  Grievance Hearing Steps 

8 

9 ARBITRATION 

   .1  Time Limits 

   .2  Authority of the Arbitrator 

   .3  Distribution of Costs 

8 - 9 

10 ALCOHOL AND DRUG USE 

   .1  Policy 

   .2  Discipline 

   .3  Leave of Absence – Prior to Testing 

9 - 10 

11 ACCIDENTS 

   .1  Accident Reports 

   .2  Accident Review Committee 

   .3  Discipline 

10 - 12 

12 SAFETY EQUIPMENT 

   .1  Furnishing of Equipment 

   .2  Maximum Employer Contribution 

12 

13 LATES & MISS-OUTS 

   .1  Lates 

12 - 14 



II 

   .2  Miss-outs 

14 MISCELLANEOUS GENERAL PROVISIONS 

   .1  Physical Examinations 

   .2  Letters of Reference 

   .3  Reimbursement of Job-related Schooling 

   .4  Inclement Weather 

   .5  Commercial Driver’s License (CDL) 

14-15 

         PART B 

         EMPLOYEE COMPENSATION AND BENEFITS 

15 HOURS OF WORK 

   .1  Work Day 

   .2  Work Week 

   .3  Drivers 

   .4  Maintenance/Office Employees 

   .5  Part-time Employees 

   .6  Hours of Work 

16 

16 COMPENSATION 

   .1  Pay Period 

   .2  Job Classifications and Hourly Rates 

   .3  Longevity Pay Schedule 

   .4  Minimum Guarantee 

   .5  Overtime 

   .6  Attendance Incentive Pay 

   .7  Payment for Attendance at Meetings 

16 - 18 

17 ELIGIBLITY FOR BENEFITS 

   .1  Part-time Employees 

   .2  Temporary Full-time Employees 

18 - 19 

18 HOLIDAYS 

   .1  Legal Holidays 

   .2  Holiday Pay 

   .3  Floating Holidays 

   .4  Proration of Floating Holidays for New, Terminating, and 

        Laid Off Employees 

   .5  Selection of Floating Holidays 

19 - 20 

19 Paid Time Off (PTO) 

.1  Paid Time Off 

.2  PTO Requests 

.3  PTO Proration 

.4  Mechanics & Comm Techs 

21 

20 VACATIONS 

   .1  Vacation Entitlement 

   .2  Vacation Pay 

   .3  Vacation Bidding 

   .4  Vacation Scheduling 

21 - 26 

21 SICK LEAVE 

   .1  Sick Leave Accrual 

   .2  Eligible Uses 

   .3  Ineligible Uses 

   .4  Employee Responsibilities 

   .5  Waiting Period 

   .6  Sick Pay 

   .7  Payout Upon Retirement or Death 

26 - 27 

22 WORKER’S COMPENSATION BENEFITS  27 

23 FUNERAL LEAVE 28 

24 MILITARY LEAVE 28 



III 

25 JURY/WITNESS DUTY 28 

26 LEAVE OF ABSENCE 29 

27 HEALTH INSURANCE BENEFITS 

   .1  Medical Plan 

   .2  Dental Plan 

   .3  Part-time Employee Coverage 

   .4  Retiree Coverage 

29 

28 POST EMPLOYMENT HEALTH PLAN 30 

29 LIFE INSURANCE BENEFITS 30 

30 PENSION BENEFITS 30 

        PART C 

        SPECIAL PROVISIONS - DRIVERS 

31 SCHEDULE CHANGES 31-32 

32 RUN BIDDING PROCEDURES 

   .1  Posting and Effective Dates 

   .2  Order of Bidding/Time Limits 

   .3  Method of Bidding 

   .4  Rebidding 

   .5  Right to Assign Unbid Runs 

32 - 33 

33 STAND-BY DRIVERS 

   .1  Duties 

   .2  Hours and Days of Work 

   .3  Availability 

   .4  Order of Assignment 

   .5  Miscellaneous Stand-by Provisions 

   .6 Part-time Drivers 

33 – 36 

34 DISTRIBUTION OF OVERTIME 

   .1  Seniority 

   .2  Order of Distribution 

   .3  Errors in Distribution 

36 – 37 

35 DISPATCHING PROCEDURES 

   .1  Filling of Daily Vacancies 

   .2  Overtime Restrictions 

37 – 38 

36 REPORTING FOR WORK 

   .1  Driver Responsibilities 

   .2  Transportation 

   .3  Paid Leave 

38 – 39 

37 PREMIUM PAY 39 

38 UNIFORMS 39 

39 CONDITION OF EQUIPMENT 40 

        PART D 

        SPECIAL PROVISIONS – MAINTENANCE & OFFICE EMPLOYEES 

40 WORK SCHEDULES 

   .1  Establishment of Work Schedules 

   .2  Breaks 

   .3  Shift Adjustments 

   .4  Work at Home 

41 

41 SHIFT BIDDING PROCEDURES 

   .1  Posting and Effective Dates 

   .2  Order of Bidding/Time Limits 

   .3  Method of Bidding 

   .4  Rebidding 

   .5  Right to Assign Unbid Work Shifts 

41 - 42 

42 DISTRIBUTION OF OVERTIME 43 - 44 



IV 

   .1  Seniority 

   .2  Order of Distribution 

   .3  Duration of Overtime Work 

   .4  Errors in Distribution 

43 REPORTING FOR WORK 

   .1  Maintenance and Office Employee Responsibilities 

   .2  Paid Leave 

   .3  Late Reports 

44 

44 UNIFORMS 45 

45 MECHANIC PROVISIONS 

   .1  Mechanic Classifications 

   .2  ASE Testing 

   .3 Lead Mechanic 

45 

EXHIBIT A VALLEY TRANSIT SALARY SCHEDULE 47 

EXHIBIT B LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING – SICK LEAVE BANK 48 

EXHIBIT C LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING-LONGEVITY AND 

VACATION FOR PART-TIME EMPLOYEES 

49 

EXHIBIT D LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING -LEAD DRIVER PROGRAM 50 

   

  



1 

 CITY OF APPLETON – VALLEY TRANSIT 1 
and 2 

TEAMSTERS LOCAL UNION NO. 662 3 
 4 

This Agreement made and entered into by and between the City of Appleton, with the Director of Human Resources 5 
acting as its agent, hereinafter referred to as the “Employer,” and Teamsters Local Union No. 662, hereinafter referred 6 
to as the “Union”, for the purpose of establishing sound labor relations and to establish minimum wages, hours and 7 
working conditions for the employees covered hereby.   8 
 9 

PART A 10 
GENERAL PROVISIONS 11 

 12 
ARTICLE 1 13 

TERM OF AGREEMENT 14 
 15 

This Agreement shall be in full force and effect from January 1, 2021 to and including December 31, 2023 and shall 16 
continue from year to year thereafter unless written notice of desire to cancel or terminate the Agreement is served by 17 
either party upon the other at least one hundred twenty (120) days prior to the date of expiration. 18 
 19 

ARTICLE 2 20 
SEPARABILITY AND SAVINGS 21 

 22 
A. If any Article or Section of this contract should be held invalid by operation of law or by any tribunal of 23 

competent jurisdiction, or if compliance with or enforcement of any Article or Section should be restrained by 24 
such tribunal pending a final determination as to its validity, the remainder of this contract or the application of 25 
such Article or Section to persons or circumstances other than those as to which it has been held invalid or as 26 
to which compliance with or enforcement of has been restrained shall not be affected thereby. 27 
 28 

B. In the event that any Article or Section is held invalid or enforcement of or compliance with which has been 29 
restrained, as above set forth, the parties affected thereby shall enter into immediate collective bargaining 30 
negotiations, upon the request of either party, for the purpose of arriving at a mutually satisfactory 31 
replacement for such Article or Section during the period of invalidity or restraint. 32 

 33 
ARTICLE 3 34 

UNION RECOGNITION 35 
 36 

A. The Employer shall recognize Teamsters Local Union No. 662 as the authorized representative and exclusive 37 
bargaining agent for all employees employed as drivers, maintenance, and clerical employees of the City of 38 
Appleton transit system, excluding supervisory, confidential, managerial, craft and professional employees. 39 
 40 

B. Membership in the Union is not compulsory.  An employee may join the Union and maintain membership 41 
therein consistent with its constitution and by-laws.  No employee will be denied membership because of 42 
race, color, religion, age, disability, marital status, family status, national origin, sexual orientation, creed or 43 
sex.  This Article is subject to the duty of the Wisconsin Employment Relations Commission to suspend the 44 
application of this Article whenever the Commission finds that the Union has denied an employee 45 
membership because of race, color, religion, age, disability, marital status, family status, national origin, 46 
sexual orientation, creed or sex. The Union, as exclusive Representative of all employees in the bargaining 47 
unit, will represent all employees fairly and equally. 48 

 49 
C. The Union acknowledges that staffing levels are not a mandatory subject of bargaining. 50 
 51 
 52 
 53 
 54 



2 

ARTICLE 4 1 
UNION SECURITY 2 

 3 
4.1 Fair Share Deduction 4 
 5 
The Employer agrees to deduct from the pay of all employees covered by this Agreement, who have an application on 6 
file with the Union, the amount certified by the Union as the amount of dues uniformly required of its members; and 7 
agrees to remit monthly to the Union, all such deductions. The Union shall indemnify and hold harmless the Employer 8 
from any claims against the Employer for Union deductions. 9 
 10 
4.2 Union Business 11 
 12 
A. The Shop Committee shall be one Steward and two Committee persons. 13 

 14 
B. Authorized representatives as defined above shall suffer no loss of wages for working hours spent on matters 15 

of negotiations or grievances relating to this bargaining unit.  16 
 17 

C. The Union agrees to conduct its business off the job as much as possible.  This Article shall not operate as to 18 
prevent a Steward from the proper conduct of any grievance in accordance with the procedure outlined in this 19 
Agreement, nor to prevent certain routine business such as the posting of Union notices and bulletins. 20 
 21 

D. Business agents or representatives of the Union having business with members of the Union may confer with 22 
such members during the course of the work day for a reasonable time, provided that they first notify the 23 
Department Head and/or designee of their presence. 24 
 25 

E. The Employer agrees to provide copies of changes in administrative or operating procedures and work rules 26 
to the Shop Committee and, if requested, to discuss these changes prior to their implementation.  This 27 
provision shall not be considered to be a waiver of the right of the Union to bargain the impact of changes or 28 
to grieve the reasonableness of rules. 29 
 30 

4.3 Bulletin Board 31 
 32 
The Employer agrees to provide the Union with sufficient bulletin board space for its purposes. 33 
 34 
4.4 Picket Lines 35 
 36 
It shall not be a violation of this Agreement and it shall not be cause for discharge or disciplinary action in the event an 37 
employee refuses to enter upon any property involved in a labor dispute, or refuses to go through and work behind 38 
any picket line. 39 

 40 
ARTICLE 5 41 

SUBCONTRACTING 42 
 43 

The Employer agrees to notify the Union prior to the subcontracting of any work presently performed by Union 44 
employees.  The Employer will negotiate with the Union, upon request, on any matters relating to such subcontracting 45 
which are mandatory subjects of bargaining.  Nothing herein shall be construed to limit either party’s legal rights 46 
relating to subcontracting. 47 
 48 
 49 
  50 



3 

 1 
ARTICLE 6 2 

HIRING AND PROMOTION 3 
 4 

6.1 Non-Discrimination 5 
 6 
A. The Employer and the Union agree not to discriminate against any individual with respect to hiring, 7 

compensation, terms or conditions of employment, nor will they limit, segregate or classify employees in any 8 
way to deprive any individual employee of employment opportunities pursuant to applicable Federal, State or 9 
local legislation. 10 

 11 
6.2 Bonds 12 
 13 
The Employer shall not require any employee to give bond. 14 
 15 
6.3 Hire Rate 16 
 17 
The General Manager, with approval of the Human Resources Director will have the ability to hire new employees at 18 
any step of the pay scale as deemed appropriate to recognize the experience level of the applicant. 19 
 20 
6.4 Probationary Period 21 
 22 
A. There shall be a probationary period of six (6) months for all new employees hired for regular positions.  This 23 

period may be extended by mutual agreement between the Employer and the Union. 24 
 25 

B. Temporary employees who are hired on a regular basis prior to working 1000 hours in a twelve (12) month 26 
period shall be required to serve the full probationary period provided for in Paragraph “A” above, regardless 27 
of the number of hours they worked as a temporary employee. 28 

 29 
6.5 Seniority 30 
 31 
A. Unless otherwise modified elsewhere in this Agreement, seniority rights shall prevail.  Seniority for all 32 

employees shall prevail on the following basis.   33 
 34 
1. Full-time Drivers. 35 
2. Part-time Drivers. 36 
3. Maintenance employees. 37 
4. Office clerical employees. 38 

 39 
Seniority lists of employees shall be posted in a conspicuous place.  Any disagreement concerning an 40 
employee’s seniority shall be subject to the grievance procedure. 41 
 42 

B. Seniority for regular employees shall be determined by the length of service of the employee and shall 43 
commence upon completion of training (driver place in-service).  If an employee attains regular full-time status 44 
and is later involuntarily reduced to part-time, that employee shall be considered to have more seniority for all 45 
purposes than any other part-time employee.  An employee who voluntarily reduces to part-time shall be 46 
placed on the part-time seniority list based on original date of hire, but not higher on that list than any 47 
employee who was involuntarily reduced to part-time.  An employee’s seniority is nullified in the following 48 
circumstances.  49 

 50 
1. The employee is laid off and not re-employed within two (2) years from the date of layoff. 51 
2. The employee fails to return to duty when recalled from layoff as herein provided. 52 
3. The employee leaves the Employer of the employee’s own volition. 53 
4. The employee is discharged for just cause and not subsequently reinstated. 54 



4 

 1 
C. Seniority lists of all employees covered by this Agreement shall be furnished by the Employer to the Union 2 

upon request. 3 
 4 
6.6 Job Posting 5 
 6 
A. Qualification Standards. 7 
 8 

1. Job postings shall include the qualification standards for the position, where such standards have been 9 
developed. 10 

2. The Employer will provide qualification standards to the Union before utilizing them in the posting 11 
procedure.  The standards shall not be arbitrary and capricious.  The Union reserves the right to grieve 12 
the reasonableness of the standards. 13 

 14 
B. For purposes of this Article, the “Divisions” shall be as follows. 15 
 16 

1. Full-time and part-time drivers. 17 
2. Maintenance employees. 18 
3. Office clerical employees. 19 

 20 
C. Posting Procedure. 21 
 22 
 A new job or vacancy shall be filled as follows. 23 
 24 

1. Posted on the bulletin board for five (5) working days. 25 
2. The Steward will be furnished copies of the original and the completed postings. 26 
3. Employees desiring posted job shall sign such notice. 27 
4. The employee oldest in seniority within the Division who meets the qualification standards of the position 28 

shall be eligible for the trial period.  If no standards are included in the posting, the employee oldest in 29 
seniority in the Division shall be eligible for the trial period. 30 

 31 
D. Trial Periods. 32 
 33 

1. Employees may request to return to their prior position during the first ten (10) working days of the trial 34 
period.  A request to return shall be honored within two (2) weeks. 35 

2. A trial period in which to qualify for the job shall be given as follows. 36 
a. For vacancies in the Master Mechanic and Communication Technician classifications the trial period 37 

shall be up to sixty (60) days.  This initial sixty (60) day trial period may be extended to one hundred 38 
twenty (120) days upon written request by the Employer to the Union prior to the expiration of the 39 
initial period. 40 

b. For vacancies in all other classifications the trial period shall be up to thirty (30) days.  This initial 41 
thirty (30) day trial period may be extended to sixty (60) days upon written request by the Employer to 42 
the Union prior to the expiration of the initial period. 43 

3. Employees serving a trial period shall not be eligible to sign a job posting for a different position during 44 
that trial period. 45 

 46 
E. Any new job or vacancy shall initially be posted only in the Division where the vacancy occurs.  Any vacancy 47 

not filled from within a Division shall be posted department wide before a new employee is hired.  Such 48 
posting may be made simultaneously with the posting provided for in Paragraph “C” above if the Employer 49 
determines it would be proper to do so to expedite the process.  These postings shall be as provided in 50 
Paragraph “C” above. 51 
 52 

F. Temporary vacancies will be filled as follows. 53 
 54 



5 

1. The Employer retains the right to determine which temporary vacancies will be filled on a case-by-case 1 
basis.  The Employer will not, however, utilize the temporary vacancy provision to fill vacancies caused 2 
solely by employee vacations or to circumvent the procedures set forth in Paragraph “C” above. 3 
 4 

2. Temporary vacancies shall be posted on the bulletin board for five (5) working days.  If a full-time driver 5 
vacancy is to be filled during a bid period, the Employer will simultaneously post the full-time vacancy and 6 
anticipated vacancies for part-time drivers. 7 

 8 
3. The procedure for filling full-time vacancies will be handled on a case-by-case basis.  One (1) of the two 9 

(2) options listed below will be followed however, any permanent schedule changes involving the open 10 
bid will remain in effect for the balance of the bid period: 11 
a. If the duration of the temporary vacancy is known, and sufficient time is available to justify doing so, 12 

employees will be asked in seniority order, from the vacancy down, if they wish to take the open bid.  13 
The employee who is promoted to fill the temporary vacancy will be assigned to fill the bid that 14 
remains.  15 

b. If the particular case makes it impractical to perform the administrative reshuffle, the partner of the 16 
absent driver will be offered partner’s rights, as defined below, for the entire duration of the vacancy.  17 
When a driver takes partner’s rights in such a case it will be considered a permanent schedule 18 
change, thus allowing the driver to make other schedule changes as desired.  The employee who is 19 
promoted to fill the temporary vacancy will be assigned the bid that remains.  20 

 21 
   Partner’s Rights:  Partners are drivers who operate the same run.  If a partner is going to be 22 

scheduled off (vacation, PTO. Floating holiday, sick leave, etc.) and it is known by 10:00 a.m. of the 23 
previous day (10:00 a.m. Friday for Saturday, Sunday, and Monday) the daily partner has first choice 24 
to the work schedule of the open run, however, weekly partners rights take precedence over daily 25 
partner’s rights. When more than two people work a run, the most senior partner shall have first 26 
choice to the open work.  The partner requesting daily partners rights must already be scheduled to 27 
work that day. 28 

 29 
4. When part-time vacancies are filled, employees will be asked in order of seniority, from the vacancy 30 

down, if they wish to take the open bid.  The newest person hired will be assigned to the bid that remains.  31 
This procedure will also be handled administratively, in lieu of formal re-bidding.  32 
 33 

5. All affected employees will revert to their previous status and work assignment under the following 34 
circumstances. 35 
a. When the employee whose absence created the temporary vacancy returns to work.  36 
b. With the effective date of the next run bid period. 37 

 38 
6. If the Employer decides to leave any vacancies unfilled, the above administrative bidding procedure will 39 

not be followed and the remaining work will become available for stand-by drivers or for other employees. 40 
 41 
G. Vacancies may be filled for a maximum of six (6) working days without posting and without regard to seniority. 42 

 43 
6.7 Seniority Upon Promotion/Transfer 44 

 45 
A. Non-Represented Position. 46 

 47 
An employee assigned or promoted, with their consent, to a position with the Employer for which there is no 48 
bargaining agent and who subsequently is reassigned or voluntarily returns to work within this bargaining unit, 49 
provided the employee returns within one (1) year, shall not lose seniority as the result of such transfer or 50 
promotion, but shall accumulate seniority during the period thereof.  Such employee, upon returning to work 51 
within this unit, shall be permitted to exercise their seniority to apply for any posted vacancy within the unit at 52 
the time of their return.  If no vacancy exists at that time, the employee shall return to work available until such 53 
time as their seniority permits them to receive another job through posting.  Any resulting layoffs shall be in 54 



6 

accordance with Article 6.8.  The Union shall be notified in writing of such transfers or promotions.  If the 1 
employee so transferred or promoted does not return to work in the bargaining unit within one (1) year from 2 
date of such transfer or promotion, the employee shall forfeit all accrued seniority.   3 
 4 

B. Represented Positions. 5 
 6 
Employees who voluntarily transfer to a lower rated position shall be paid at the step of the new position 7 
based on the employee’s qualifications.  This shall not apply to temporary positions.  8 
 9 

6.8 Layoff Procedure 10 
 11 

A. In laying off employees because of reduction in forces, the employees shortest in length of service in the 12 
bargaining unit shall be laid off first, provided those retained are capable of carrying on the Employer’s usual 13 
operation.  14 

 15 
B. Full-time employees being laid off can bump a less senior employee in any position they are qualified to 16 

perform.  All full-time employees shall be considered to have more seniority than part-time employees.  17 
 18 
C. If the employee who bumps under paragraph B. is unable to demonstrate their ability to do the job within (30) 19 

days, the employee will have the option to bump another less senior employee in a different classification and 20 
must demonstrate their ability to do the job within thirty (30) days.  If unable to demonstrate their ability to do 21 
the job the employee will be laid off. 22 

 23 
D. Employees who bump shall have the option to return to their original position for a period of two (2) years 24 

from the date they exercised their option to bump.  25 
 26 
E. Employees who exercise their option to bump to a higher paid classification will be placed, on the salary 27 

schedule, at the next higher rate in the new classification.  Employees who exercise their option to bump to a 28 
lower paid classification will be placed, on the salary schedule, based on the employee’s qualifications. 29 

 30 
6.9 Recall Procedure 31 

 32 
A. In re-employing those who have been laid off because of a reduction in forces, the employees on the seniority 33 

list having the greatest length of service in the bargaining unit shall be called back first, provided they are 34 
qualified to perform the available work.  35 

 36 
B. A laid off employee shall be given notice of recall by a call to the employee’s phone from the recorded line.  37 

The employee must respond to such notice within three (3) days after receipt thereof and must actually report 38 
to work in seven (7) days after receipt of such notice unless otherwise mutually agreed to.  This notice 39 
requirement may be waived by the employee in writing, at the time of layoff, provided that copy of such waiver 40 
is sent to the Union. 41 

 42 
 43 

  44 



7 

ARTICLE 7 1 
DISCIPLINE 2 

 3 
7.1 Warning Notices 4 
 5 
A. The Employer shall not suspend or discharge an employee without just cause and shall give at least one 6 

warning notice of the complaint against such employee to the employee in writing, and a copy of same to the 7 
Union, except that no warning notice need be given in the following cases. 8 
 9 
1. Dishonesty. 10 
2. Drunkenness, drinking, testing positive for or being in possession of alcoholic beverages while on duty 11 

and/or on Valley Transit property or when in uniform in a public place provided, however, that the 12 
purchase of sealed package goods while in uniform or having such beverages in a locked personal 13 
vehicle shall not be considered “possession” for purposes of this Paragraph.  Discipline for drunkenness 14 
or results of a positive test shall be governed by the provisions of Article 10.2. 15 

3. Use of, testing positive for, or in possession of any controlled substance while on duty and/or on Valley 16 
Transit property or when in uniform in a public place, unless such substance has been legally prescribed.  17 
The provisions of Article 10.1 shall be utilized to determine if the results of a test are positive. 18 

4. Recklessness or endangering others while on duty. 19 
5. Miss-outs, as defined in Article 13.2. 20 
6. Failure to report an accident, if the driver is aware of the accident. 21 
7. Rape, sexual assault or attempted rape or sexual assault as specified in State Statutes Sec. 940.225. 22 

 23 
B. The warning notice as herein provided shall not remain in effect for more than one hundred and eighty (180) 24 

days from date of issuance, except that warning notices relating to accidents or attendance issues shall 25 
remain in effect for one (1) year and records of suspension shall remain in effect for eighteen (18) months.  26 

 27 
7.2 Suspension or Discharge 28 
 29 
Discharge or suspension of an employee must be by proper written notice, Certified Mail, return receipt requested, 30 
sent to the last known address of the employee, or by personal service on the employee, with a copy to the Union.  31 
Appeal from discharge must be taken within five (5) working days by written notice to the Director of Human 32 
Resources and a meeting held between the Employer and the Union within fifteen (15) working days after the appeal 33 
is filed.  A decision must be reached within five (5) working days from the date of this meeting. 34 
 35 
7.3 Reinstatement 36 
 37 
The employee may be reinstated under other conditions agreed upon by the Employer and the Union or pursuant to 38 
the terms of an arbitration award.  Failure to agree shall be cause for the matter to be submitted to arbitration as 39 
provided in Article 9 of this Agreement. 40 
 41 
7.4 Time Limits 42 
 43 
Employees shall be notified of disciplinary action within ten (10) working days of the incident or the Employer’s 44 
knowledge of the incident, or in a matter relating to an accident, within ten (10) working days of the decision of the 45 
Accident Review Committee.  Such discipline shall be administered starting not later than thirty (30) days from the 46 
date the employee is notified of the discipline. Working days are any week day excluding Saturdays, Sundays, and 47 
holidays. 48 

 49 
 50 
 51 
 52 
 53 
 54 



8 

 1 
ARTICLE 8 2 

GRIEVANCE PROCEDURES 3 
 4 
8.1 Time Limits 5 
 6 
Any grievance must be presented in writing within ten (10) working days of its occurrence or discovery or it shall not 7 
be subject to the grievance procedure.  Working days are any week days excluding Saturdays, Sundays, and 8 
holidays.  9 
 10 
8.2 Grievance Hearing Steps 11 
 12 
A grievance shall be processed as follows. 13 
 14 
A. A grievance shall be reduced to writing and submitted in person to the employee’s supervisor.  The supervisor 15 

will have up to seven (7) working days, from the date that the grievance was first officially submitted, to 16 
schedule a Step 1 hearing and discuss with the employee and the Steward, if requested, the basis for the 17 
grievance.  The supervisor shall then respond in writing within seven (7) working days to the status of the 18 
grievance.  If the grievance is not resolved, the grievance shall be taken to Step 2 provided it is done within 19 
five (5) working days from the date that the employee officially receives the supervisor’s written decision. 20 

 21 
B. The Steward shall then present the grievance to the General Manager and/or designee.  The General 22 

Manager will have up to five (5) working days, from the date of the Steward’s presentation, to schedule a Step 23 
2 hearing.  He will meet with the Steward and the employee, if requested, and then respond in writing within 24 
seven (7) working days of such meeting.  A copy of this response shall be provided to the Steward and the 25 
Local Union Office.  If this solution is not satisfactory, the process shall move to Step 3, provided it is done 26 
within five (5) working days from the date the written statement is received by the Union.   27 

 28 
C. The Local Union shall then present the grievance to the Director of Human Resources and/or designee.  The 29 

Director of Human Resources will have up to seven (7) working days, from the date of the Local Union’s 30 
presentation, to schedule a Step 3 hearing.  The Director of Human Resources or designee will meet with the 31 
Union and then respond in writing within seven (7) working days of such meeting.  If the grievance is not 32 
satisfactorily resolved, either party may notify the other within five (5) working days from receipt of the written 33 
statement of their desire to arbitrate. 34 

 35 
ARTICLE 9 36 

ARBITRATION 37 
 38 
9.1. Time Limits 39 
 40 
Any grievance relative to the interpretation or application of this Agreement, which cannot be adjusted by conciliation 41 
between the parties, may be referred by either party hereto, within five (5) working days to the Wisconsin Employment 42 
Relations Commission for the appointment of a panel of five (5) arbitrators from its staff. 43 
 44 
9.2 Authority of the Arbitrator 45 
 46 
A. The arbitrator shall conduct hearings and receive testimony relating to the grievance and shall submit findings 47 

and decision.  The decision of the arbitrator shall be final and binding on the employee, the Employer and the 48 
Union. 49 

 50 
B. It is understood that the arbitrator shall not have the authority to change, alter or modify any of the terms or 51 

provisions of this Agreement. 52 
 53 
 54 



9 

 1 
 2 
9.3 Distribution of Costs 3 
 4 
A. The expense of the arbitrator, and the WERC filing fee, shall be divided equally between the parties to this 5 

Agreement. 6 
 7 
B. The grievant and up to one authorized representative as defined in Article 4.2 shall suffer no loss of pay for 8 

working hours spent at the arbitration hearing. 9 
 10 

ARTICLE 10 11 
ALCOHOL AND DRUG USE 12 

 13 
10.1 Policy 14 
 15 
The parties agree to comply with all State and Federal laws and regulations relating to the use of alcohol and other 16 
drugs.  The City of Appleton Drug and Alcohol Free Workplace Policy shall be binding on both parties.  The City 17 
agrees to notify the Union of any proposed changes to said policy and to negotiate any mandatory subjects of 18 
bargaining which may be contained in the changes, except that any changes required in order to meet the 19 
requirements of any State or Federal law or regulation may be made by the Employer, with or without prior notice.  In 20 
cases where notice of the proposed change is not required, the City shall provide notice of the completed change to 21 
the Union within thirty (30) days of the change. 22 
 23 
10.2 Discipline 24 
 25 
A. Refusal of an employee to participate in any legal testing procedure for alcohol or drug intoxication shall 26 

constitute a presumption of intoxication and shall constitute the basis of discharge without the receipt of a 27 
prior warning letter. 28 

 29 
B. If test results demonstrate the presence of any breath alcohol concentration, the employee shall be subject to 30 

discipline without receipt of a prior warning letter based on the following schedule. 31 
 32 
1. Concentration equal to or above .04  of alcohol in 210 liters of breath -- discharge. 33 
2. Any concentration equal to or above .02 grams but less than .04 grams of alcohol in 210 liters of breath - 34 

- suspension without pay for the balance of the work day plus one day. 35 
 36 
C. In addition to the above, any employee who has a breath alcohol concentration of less than.04 in 210 liters of 37 

breath shall be required, as a condition of continued employment, to submit to an assessment under the 38 
Employee Assistance Program and to comply fully with any recommendations made under that program. 39 
 40 

D. Any employee who has been suspended pursuant to the above and who subsequently has a positive breath 41 
alcohol test shall be subject to immediate discharge.  A breath alcohol level of less than .02 grams in 210 42 
liters of breath shall be considered a negative test. 43 

 44 
E. If test results are positive for controlled substances, the employee shall be subject to discharge without 45 

receipt of a prior warning letter. 46 
 47 
F. The parties agree that the results of an Evidential Breathalyzer Machine administered by an Occupational 48 

Health Provider shall be presumed accurate, cannot be challenged and are not subject to the grievance 49 
procedure. 50 
 51 

 52 
 53 



10 

10.3 Leave of Absence – Prior to Testing 1 
 2 
A. An employee shall be permitted to take a leave of absence for the purpose of undergoing treatment pursuant 3 

to an approved program of alcoholism or drug use.  The leave of absence must be requested prior to the 4 
commission of any act subject to disciplinary action. 5 

 6 
B. The Employer shall give between thirty (30) and sixty (60) days prior written notice to an employee of the 7 

Employer’s intention to request a test for drug use during a DOT physical examination.  The employee may, 8 
within five (5) days of receipt of such written notice, make written request for a leave of absence. 9 
 10 

C. Such leaves of absence shall be granted on a one (1) time basis and shall be for a maximum of sixty (60) 11 
days unless extended by mutual agreement.  While on such leave, the employee shall not receive any of the 12 
benefits provided by this Agreement or Supplements thereto except continued accrual of seniority, nor does 13 
this provision amend or alter the disciplinary provisions. 14 

 15 
D. Employees requesting to return to work from a leave of absence for drug or alcohol use shall be subject to the 16 

Return-To-Duty/Follow-Up Testing provision outlined in the City of Appleton Drug and Alcohol Free 17 
Workplace Policy before returning to work.  Failure to take the tests or to meet the standards of the testing 18 
procedure shall be cause for discharge without a prior warning letter. 19 

 20 
ARTICLE 11 21 
ACCIDENTS 22 

 23 
11.1 Accident Reports 24 
 25 
Accident reports must be made out the day of occurrence, if possible to do so. 26 
 27 
11.2 Accident Review Committee 28 
 29 
A. An Accident Review Committee shall be maintained that consists of two (2) drivers elected for staggered 30 

twenty-four (24) month terms (effective January 1, of even and odd years), two (2) management personnel, 31 
and a neutral individual with experience in motor vehicle safety.  Committee members or their substitute will 32 
be paid for meetings in accordance with Article 16.7A. 33 
 34 
If a driver member of the Accident Review Committee has an accident to be reviewed, a substitute member 35 
will be appointed for that meeting.  The substitute will generally be a former Committee member. 36 
 37 
If an employee who has an accident being reviewed is working during the time that the review meeting is 38 
held, that employee, upon request, will be relieved from their shift while their accident is being reviewed and 39 
will not suffer any loss of pay to attend said meeting. 40 

 41 
B. The Accident Review Committee shall determine if accidents were preventable or non-preventable. 42 

 43 
1. A preventable accident shall be defined as any occurrence involving a Valley Transit vehicle in which the 44 

employee failed to do everything they could have done to prevent the occurrence through reasonable 45 
defensive driving practices.  46 

2. The National Safety Council publication “A Guide to Determine Accident Preventability” shall be used in 47 
determining whether accidents were preventable or non-preventable. 48 

 49 
C. The following types of occurrences will be considered incidents and will not be subject to review by the 50 

Accident Review Committee.  51 
 52 



11 

1. Collision Incident – Any collision occurrence caused by an act of nature (wind, water, hail, ice, snow) or 1 
by an object coming into contact with the bus that is beyond the reasonable control of the employee to 2 
avoid. 3 
Examples: Tree limb falls on bus; caught in a hail storm; snowball thrown at bus; rock thrown up;  4 
  ball rolls into street; bird flies into side of bus. 5 

2. Passenger Fall Incidents –  6 
a. Any fall that occurs when the bus is parked and stationary. 7 
b. Any fall that occurs completely outside the bus. 8 
c. If a passenger falls while the bus is making a routine stop. 9 
 10 
A supervisor will document all passenger falls on the Supervisor’s Incident Form.  If the stop was not 11 
routine, the fall will continue to be handled through the Accident Review Committee. 12 
 13 
When an employee has accumulated three (3) passenger falls from routine stops in the preceding 365 14 
days, the fourth such fall will be submitted to the Accident Review Committee.  If the fall is determined to 15 
have been a preventable accident, discipline will be based on that accident, not the prior incidents, and 16 
will follow normal progressive disciplinary procedures. 17 
 18 

 All other types of occurrences will be treated as accidents. 19 
 20 
D. Minor accidents with fixed objects, (i.e., mirror dings, bumper touches or scuffs, etc.), where serious public 21 

safety issues are not compromised, will not be reviewed by the Accident Review Committee.  Instead they will 22 
be listed as a minor preventable accident resulting in discipline by means of a written oral warning.  After 23 
three (3) accidents of this type within a three hundred sixty-five (365) day period, retraining will be conducted 24 
at the employee’s regular hourly rate of pay with no loss of pay or suspension incurred.  These accidents will 25 
not be subject to discipline under Section 11.3 Discipline of this Article in the Labor Agreement.  (Note:  26 
Normally, written oral warnings do not remain in effect for three hundred sixty-five (365) days; see Article 7.1-27 
B.  However, in this particular situation, on a non-precedent setting basis, all written oral warnings 28 
documenting minor accidents as presented above will remain in effect for three hundred sixty-five (365) days 29 
from the date of the occurrence of a minor accident.  These written oral warnings will be used exclusively as a 30 
tool or means to track the number of minor accidents a particular employee has in a three hundred sixty-five 31 
(365) day period.  In addition, this specific written oral warning will not be used in any way for the purpose of 32 
further progressive discipline in the future, they merely cease to exist after the expiration of the 33 
aforementioned time limitation.) 34 
 35 
If an employee has four (4) such minor accidents within a three hundred sixty-five (365) day period, the fourth 36 
minor accident and all subsequent minor accidents over four (4) in a three hundred sixty-five (365) day period 37 
will be subject to the normal actions of the Accident Review Committee’s guidelines for preventability and 38 
possible disciplinary action. 39 
 40 
The Union Steward will receive a legible copy of all written oral warnings pertaining to employees involved in 41 
minor accidents.  The written oral warning will accurately detail the circumstances surrounding the chairman’s 42 
decision.  It will disclose the date of the minor accident and the number of current minor accidents that are 43 
active, if any. 44 

 45 
E. The Accident Review Committee, if agreed upon unanimously, can determine if any accident/incident or minor 46 

accidents shall be reviewed at all. 47 
 48 
F. The determination of preventable or non-preventable by the Accident Review Committee shall not be subject 49 

to the grievance procedure. 50 
 51 
11.3 Discipline 52 
 53 
A. Employees who are involved in a preventable accident may be subject to discipline. 54 



12 

 1 
B. The Employer shall have the option of retraining an employee in lieu of all or part of a suspension without pay 2 

for involvement in a preventable accident under the following conditions. 3 
 4 

1. A normal schedule of progressive discipline that would have reasonably led to a suspension must be 5 
followed before the retraining option may be invoked.  The disciplinary exception noted in Article 7.1-A, 4 6 
will still apply if appropriate. 7 

2. The retraining shall have the same weight and effect as the equivalent suspension would have had in any 8 
future progressive discipline. 9 

3. The hours spent in retraining will be considered equal to the same number of suspension hours. 10 
4. Unless different hours are mutually agreed upon, the retraining must be scheduled to coincide with the 11 

employee’s normal shift for that day. 12 
5. An employee who is being retrained in lieu of suspension shall receive only one-half (1/2) their regular 13 

straight time hourly rate for all time spent in retraining. 14 
 15 
C. A stand-by driver who is suspended as a result of a preventable accident shall have their guarantee reduced 16 

by eight (8) hours for each day of the suspension administered. 17 
 18 

ARTICLE 12 19 
SAFETY EQUIPMENT 20 

 21 
12.1 Furnishing of Equipment 22 
 23 
A. The Employer shall furnish all required safety equipment or protective clothing, except as hereinafter 24 

modified.  The safety equipment or protective clothing furnished by the Employer shall be used only in the 25 
course of an employee’s work.   26 

 27 
B. Any employee who refuses or repeatedly fails to use the safety equipment furnished or required by the 28 

Employer shall be subject to disciplinary action. 29 
 30 
12.2 Maximum Employer Contribution 31 
 32 
A. Any employee who is required by the Employer to wear safety glasses, shall, if the employee does not require 33 

corrective lenses, be provided with non-prescription safety glasses by the Employer.  If such employee 34 
requires corrective lenses, the Employer shall contribute $25.00 toward the glasses and if the employee 35 
requires bifocal lenses, the Employer shall contribute $35.00 toward the glasses.  36 
 37 

B. Any employee who is required by the Employer to wear safety shoes shall receive an annual allowance of 38 
fifty-five dollars ($55) towards safety shoes. The annual allowance will be paid on the first paycheck in April 39 
each year.  40 
 41 

ARTICLE 13 42 
LATES AND MISS-OUTS 43 

 44 
13.1 Lates 45 
 46 
A “late” is defined as anytime an employee fails to punch in by the scheduled start of their shift but reports for work 47 
within two (2) hours after the scheduled starting time.  The manner in which the employee is required to report for 48 
work and the discipline levied for a late will vary depending on the length of shift or piece of work involved.  49 
 50 
A. Reporting for Work 51 

 52 



13 

1. For a shift or piece of work that is three (3) hours or more in duration, the employee must punch in within 1 
two (2) hours of the scheduled start or the employee will be considered a miss-out. 2 

2. For a shift or piece of work that is less than three (3) hours in duration, the employee must either punch in 3 
or telephone the office at 832-5555 within two (2) hours of the scheduled start or the employee will be 4 
considered a miss-out. 5 

 6 
B. Discipline. 7 

 8 
1. A shift or piece of work three (3) hours or more duration: 9 

a. An employee who punches in no more than five (5) minutes after the scheduled start time will be 10 
charged with a “late” but will be permitted to work the entire shift or piece of work. 11 

b. An employee who punches in at least six (6) minutes but less than two (2) hours after the scheduled 12 
start of the shift or piece of work will be charged with a “late”, docked two (2) hours pay and will 13 
complete the remainder of the shift or piece of work. 14 

2. A shift or piece of work less than three (3) hours in duration. 15 
a. An employee who punches in no more than five (5) minutes after the scheduled start time will be 16 

charged with a “late” but will be permitted to work the entire shift or piece of work. 17 
b. An employee who punches in or telephones at least six (6) minutes but less than two (2) hours after 18 

the scheduled start of shift or piece of work will be charged with a “late”, will not work and will lose 19 
pay for the entire shift or piece of work. 20 

 21 
A supervisor, at their discretion, may allow an employee who is late to go to work.  22 

 23 
13.2 Miss-outs 24 
 25 
A. Definition. 26 

 27 
A “miss-out” is defined as follows. 28 
 29 
1. Any time that an employee fails to punch in within two (2) hours of the scheduled start of the shift or piece 30 

of work of three (3) hours or more in duration. 31 
2. Any time that an employee fails to either punch in or to telephone the office at 832-5555 within two (2) 32 

hours of the scheduled start of a shift or piece of work that is less than three (3) hours in duration. 33 
 34 
B. Discipline. 35 
 36 

1. If an employee misses-out, the employee shall not work the shift or piece of work that they missed-out on 37 
and will not receive any pay for it.  The employee may fill in on their own or other runs in an emergency.  38 
If an employee misses-out on the first part of a work day that has two separate report times, the 39 
employee will be eligible to work starting with the second report time but will be subject to a second miss-40 
out for that day.  If there are not separate report times, the employee will not be eligible to work that day, 41 
except in an emergency, but will only be subject to one miss-out for that day. 42 

2. In addition to not working their scheduled shift, an employee that misses-out may also be subject to 43 
suspension without pay depending on the number of miss-outs that employee has experienced during the 44 
previous twelve (12) months.  Those suspensions will be imposed in accordance with the following 45 
schedule and served at the direction of the General Manager: 46 
 47 
  NUMBER OF MISS-OUTS 48 
  IN A 12 MONTH PERIOD  DAYS OF SUSPENSION 49 
        1            0 50 
        2            1 51 
        3            1 52 
        4            1 53 

 54 



14 

3. If an employee accumulates five (5) miss-outs or any combination of seven (7) lates and/or miss-outs in a 1 
twelve (12) month period, the employee will automatically be discharged. 2 

4. A stand-by driver who is suspended for miss-outs in accordance with Paragraph 2 above shall have their 3 
guarantee reduced by eight (8) hours for each day of suspension administered. 4 

 5 
C. Exceptions for Lates and Miss-outs 6 

 7 
1. Exceptions to the above late and/or miss-out policies will be granted if it is determined that one of the 8 

following applies.  9 
 10 

a. The employee was late because they were using Valley Transit buses to get to work.  The employee 11 
must have the driver of the bus that they are on notify the office via the two-way radio that they are on 12 
board and headed to the garage.  When the employee punches in, they must complete and submit a 13 
payroll adjustment form giving a short explanation as to why there was a late report time punched.  14 
The employee will not be docked for any time lost and will be allowed to go to work.  15 

b. The employee was late or missed out due to an unforeseeable occurrence, which is caused by nature 16 
and not by human negligence.  The employee must notify the office at 832-5555 within two (2) hours 17 
after their scheduled report time.  The employee was late or missed out because they were involved 18 
in an accident on the way to work.  The employee must notify the office, (832-5555), within two (2) 19 
hours after their scheduled report time.  In addition, the employee must obtain a copy of the police 20 
report as soon as possible and turn it into the office.  If the employee is able to work, they will be 21 
allowed to punch in as soon as possible and finish their shift.  When the office obtains a copy of the 22 
police report, the late or miss-out will be removed.  If the employee is unable to work, they will have 23 
the late or miss-out removed and be allowed to use vacation, PTO, and/or floating holiday for all 24 
scheduled time lost after a copy of the police report has been provided to the office. 25 

c. The employee was late or missed out because they rendered emergency care, in good faith, at the 26 
scene of any accident on the way to work, i.e., Wisconsin’s Good Samaritan Law – 895.48.  The 27 
employee must notify the office, (832-5555), within two (2) hours after their scheduled report time.  In 28 
addition, the employee must obtain a copy of the police report as soon as possible and turn it into the 29 
office.  If the employee is able to work, they will be allowed to punch in as soon as possible and finish 30 
their shift.  When the office obtains a copy of the police report, the late or miss-out will be removed.  If 31 
the employee is unable to work, they will have the late or miss-out removed and be allowed to use 32 
vacation, PTO and/or floating holiday for all scheduled time lost after a copy of the police report has 33 
been provided to the office. 34 
 35 

2. In such situations the employee must call Dispatch (832-5555) as soon as possible and indicate whether 36 
or not and when they can get to work. 37 

3. If the employee is able to get to work, they will be docked the time not worked or two (2) hours, whichever 38 
is greater, and then be allowed to complete their shift. 39 

4. The employee will not be charged with a late or a miss-out under the above exceptions and any hours not 40 
worked will be recorded as “other non-chargeable” on the employee’s attendance record. 41 

 42 
ARTICLE 14 43 

MISCELLANEOUS GENERAL PROVISIONS 44 
 45 

14.1 Physical Examinations 46 
 47 
The Employer shall pay the cost of any physical examination including Federal Medical Physical Exams, which it 48 
requires of any employee.  The Employer shall not be responsible for the cost of any medical follow-up exams with 49 
personal physicians as a result of any employer required exam. 50 
 51 
 52 
 53 
 54 



15 

14.2 Letters of Reference 1 
 2 
The Employer agrees to furnish upon request a letter of reference to the respective employee at the time of 3 
termination. 4 
 5 
14.3 Reimbursement of Job-related Schooling 6 
 7 
The Employer shall pay for any job-related schooling, which it requires of employees.  Employees who successfully 8 
complete other job-related continuing education courses shall be reimbursed for one-half (1/2) the cost of tuition and 9 
books subject to available funds.  The City’s reimbursement for each class will be based on the UW System rates.  10 
Participation in such courses must be approved, in advance, by the Department Head and the Director of Human 11 
Resources.  Successful completion shall mean a passing grade if the course or program is graded on a pass/fail basis 12 
or a grade of “C” or better if letter grades are issued. 13 
 14 
14.4 Inclement Weather 15 
 16 
During periods of inclement weather, the Mayor and/or designee may deem it appropriate for safety reasons to direct 17 
non-essential personnel not to report for work or to send such employees home. 18 
 19 
Employees who are sent home will be paid in accordance with the Labor Agreement.  Employees who are directed 20 
not to report shall not be paid, unless they choose to use pre-earned compensatory, vacation, PTO or floating holiday 21 
time. 22 
 23 
14.5 Commercial Drivers License (CDL) 24 
 25 
Valley Transit agrees to pay the difference between the renewal cost of a regular driver’s license and the renewal cost 26 
of the CDL for all employees required to hold a CDL. 27 

28 



16 

PART B 1 

EMPLOYEE COMPENSATION AND BENEFITS 2 

 3 
ARTICLE 15 4 

HOURS OF WORK 5 
 6 

15.1 Work Day 7 
 8 
The work day is defined as a twenty-four (24) hour period beginning at 12:01 AM. 9 
 10 
15.2 Work Week 11 
 12 
The work week begins at 12:01 AM Sunday. 13 
 14 
15.3 Drivers 15 
 16 
The normal work week for full-time drivers will be forty (40) hours. 17 
 18 
15.4 Maintenance/Office Employees 19 
 20 
A. The work week for full-time maintenance and office clerical personnel will be forty (40) hours based on five (5) 21 

days of eight (8) hours each scheduled from Monday to Saturday, unless otherwise mutually agreed upon. 22 
 23 
B. When mutually agreed upon by the Employer and the employee, full-time maintenance and office clerical 24 

employees may work a forty (40) hour week that consists of some schedule other than the five (5) eight (8) 25 
hour days.  In such circumstances, the work days must still be scheduled from Monday to Saturday, but no 26 
restrictions shall apply to starting or ending times.  27 

 28 
15.5 Part-time Employees 29 
 30 
The work week for part-time employees will be scheduled according to the needs of the transit system. 31 
 32 
15.6 Hours of Work 33 
 34 
Changes to the schedule may be made by mutual agreement between the Department Head and a majority of the 35 
affected employees.  The Union shall determine if a majority agrees to the change and will so notify the Employer.   36 
 37 

ARTICLE 16 38 
COMPENSATION 39 

 40 
16.1 Pay Period 41 
 42 
All hourly paid employees shall be paid bi-weekly, every other Thursday.  If a holiday falls on a day, Monday through 43 
Thursday, payday shall be on Friday.  Each pay period ends at midnight the Saturday preceding payday.  All 44 
employees shall be required to participate in direct deposit.   45 
 46 
16.2 Job Classifications and Hourly Rates 47 
 48 
A. Job classifications and compensation are set forth in Exhibit “A”, attached hereto, and made a part of this 49 

Agreement. 50 
 51 
 52 



17 

B. When employees work on a job calling for a lesser rate of pay than the job in which they were classified, they 1 
shall continue to receive their classified rate.  2 

 3 
16.3 Longevity Pay Schedule 4 
 5 
A. All regular full-time employees who have completed five (5) to ten (10) years of service will receive an 6 

additional six cents ($.06) per hour added to their base rate. 7 
 8 
B. All regular full-time employees who have completed ten (10) or more years of service will receive an 9 

additional ten cents ($.10) per hour added to their base rate. 10 
 11 
C. Longevity will be based upon the date the employee was hired. 12 

 13 
D.      All regular full-time employees with that many years of service with the city in another classification(s) but 14 

fewer years in the classification to which this schedule applies, shall have the identical differential added to 15 
the applicable base pay step. 16 
 17 

16.4 Minimum Guarantee 18 
 19 
A. An employee who reports for work as scheduled and remains available for work shall receive two (2) hours 20 

pay or pay for actual hours worked, whichever is greater.  The use of employees to perform work in their 21 
classification for the entire two (2) hour guarantee period will not be subject to challenge under the grievance 22 
procedure. 23 

 24 
B. Employees called back for emergency work after leaving the premises shall receive two (2) hours pay at their 25 

regular rate or pay for actual hours worked, whichever is greater. 26 
 27 
C. Employees who are requested to continue work after punching out but before leaving the premises shall 28 

receive two (2) hours pay at their regular rate or pay for actual hours worked, whichever is greater, provided 29 
that thirty (30) or more minutes have elapsed since punching out.  If less than thirty (30) minutes have 30 
elapsed, such employees shall be considered to have worked through this period and shall be paid 31 
accordingly but shall not be eligible for the above two (2) hour minimum. 32 

 33 
16.5 Overtime 34 
 35 
A. One and one-half (1 ½) times the base pay shall be paid for all hours worked in excess of forty (40) hours per 36 

week for drivers, maintenance and office clerical employees. 37 
 38 
B. Time off on paid leave, except sick leave, shall be considered as hours worked for overtime purposes. 39 
 40 
C. Two (2) times the base pay shall be paid for all hours worked on Sunday. 41 
 42 
D. Clerical employees shall have the option of taking payment for overtime worked in cash or in time off, subject 43 

to the following conditions. 44 
 45 

1. The maximum allowable accumulation of compensatory time will be twenty-four (24) hours. 46 
2. Compensatory time must be used within sixty (60) days of accrual or it will be paid out at the rate in 47 

effect at the time of accrual. 48 
3. Compensatory time can be taken in periods of full days or less but the scheduling will be subject to 49 

the following restrictions. 50 
a. It must be scheduled by mutual agreement between the employee and the Employer. 51 
b. It can be used only during those periods of time when another clerical employee is regularly 52 

scheduled to work or when it is agreed to by all clerical employees that the overtime created 53 
by the shift vacancy can be worked by a part-time clerical employee. 54 



18 

4. If compensatory time is used in place of sick leave when that employee is sick, such usage shall be 1 
weighted as if it were sick leave when computing, following Valley Transit’s Attendance Policy, an 2 
employee’s overall attendance for the Attendance Incentive Pay program and the Annual Attendance 3 
Evaluation. 4 

 5 
16.6 Attendance Incentive Pay 6 
 7 
A. Full-time employees who have one (1) day and one (1) or fewer occurrences of chargeable absence in a 8 

calendar year according to Valley Transit’s Attendance Policy shall receive a lump sum payment of one 9 
hundred twenty dollars ($120).  Full-time employees who have more than one (1) day but not more than 10 
twenty-four (24) hours and three (3) or fewer occurrences in a calendar year shall receive a lump sum 11 
payment of sixty dollars ($60). 12 

 13 
B. Part-time employees who have one day (1) and one (1) or fewer occurrences of chargeable absence in a 14 

calendar year according to Valley Transit’s Attendance Policy shall receive a lump sum payment of seventy 15 
dollars ($70).  Part-time employees who have more than one (1) day but not more than fifteen (15) hours and 16 
three (3) or fewer occurrences in a calendar year shall receive a lump sum payment of thirty-five dollars ($35). 17 

 18 
C. Such payment shall be made on the second payday of the subsequent year.  19 
 20 
D. Valley Transit agrees that it will make no unilateral changes in its Attendance Policy that would affect the 21 

qualifying criteria for receiving attendance incentive pay described above.  22 
 23 
16.7 Payment for Attendance at Meetings 24 
 25 
A. All employees who are required to attend mandatory meetings, shall be paid.  Employer does not deem 26 

attendance at Accident Review Committee or grievance hearings as mandatory. 27 
 28 
B. Shop Committee members who attend meetings relating to Valley Transit’s Employee Manual or contract 29 

negotiations shall be paid for every other meeting.  Shop Committee members will suffer no loss of wages for 30 
attendance at meetings held during working hours.  31 

 32 
C. The Steward or his designee shall be paid for all meetings relating to disciplinary matters, grievances, or 33 

investigating public complaints of all represented employees when requested by the Employer. 34 
 35 
D. The Employer shall attempt, where possible, to reasonably accommodate the employee’s personal schedule 36 

when paid or unpaid meetings are held outside normal working hours. 37 
 38 

ARTICLE 17 39 
ELIGIBILITY FOR BENEFITS 40 

 41 
17.1 Part-time Employees 42 
 43 
Except as modified elsewhere in this Agreement, part-time employees as defined below shall not receive any fringe 44 
benefits of this Agreement.  Part-time employees are defined as those employees who are regularly scheduled to 45 
work less than thirty (30) hours per week. 46 
 47 
17.2 Temporary Full-time Employees 48 
 49 
A. Part-time employees who fill temporary full-time vacancies shall receive the appropriate full-time wage rate 50 

upon filling the vacancy, but no other benefits afforded to full-time employees unless they fill that vacancy for 51 
more than sixty (60) consecutive calendar days.  52 

 53 



19 

B. In the event an employee fills a temporary vacancy for more than sixty (60) consecutive days, that employee 1 
shall receive benefits as follows. 2 

 3 
1. Six hours of sick leave per month of service in the full-time position.  The employee shall accumulate 4 

sick leave during the sixty (60) day period but shall not be eligible to use sick leave until after that 5 
period.  If the employee has sick leave accumulated at the time they return to the part-time position, 6 
they shall be eligible to use sick leave in that position. This provision shall not apply to employees 7 
hired after January 1, 2021. 8 

2. Holiday pay for holidays that fall after the sixty (60) day period while the employee is still in the full-9 
time position and, in addition, a pro-rata portion of the six floating holidays, based on time worked in 10 
the full-time position.  11 

3. Employer payment of group insurance premiums, if the employee elects to take such coverage.   12 
4. Hours worked in the full-time position will be utilized in determining the employee’s vacation 13 

entitlement for the following year. 14 
5. Sick leave cannot be used until all Paid Time Off (PTO) days have been exhausted unless otherwise 15 

qualified under the Family Medical Leave Act. 16 
 17 
C. An employee who successfully completes the sixty (60) day period will be considered as having satisfied the 18 

probationary period for full-time employment in that classification in the future.   19 
 20 
D. Employees who have once met the sixty (60) day temporary vacancy minimum in a given classification will be 21 

eligible for the above described benefits from the first day on any subsequent occasions that they fill a 22 
temporary full-time vacancy in that same classification. 23 

 24 
ARTICLE 18 25 
HOLIDAYS 26 

 27 
18.1 Legal Holidays 28 
 29 
All regular full-time employees shall accrue eight (8) hours pay at their regular straight time hourly rate for the 30 
following holidays irrespective of the day of the week on which they fall:  New Year’s Day; Memorial Day; 31 
Independence Day; Labor Day; Thanksgiving Day; and Christmas Day.  These holidays will be celebrated on the 32 
following dates:        33 
     2021                               2022                               2023 34 
New Year’s Day    January 1  January 1  January 2 35 
Memorial Day    May 31   May 30   May 29 36 
Independence Day   July 5   July 4   July 4 37 
Labor Day    September 6  September 5  September 4 38 
Thanksgiving Day   November 25  November 24  November 23 39 
Christmas Day    December 25  December 26  December 25 40 
 41 
Benefits under this article are effective on the 61st calendar day of employment. 42 
 43 
18.2 Holiday Pay 44 
 45 
A. Any employees required to work on any of the aforementioned paid holidays shall receive two (2) times their 46 

base pay for all hours worked in addition to the holiday pay. 47 
 48 
B. If a holiday as defined in Article 18.1 falls during an employee’s vacation, the employee shall be given the 49 

option of receiving an additional eight (8) hours pay in that pay period or of receiving an additional day off to 50 
be scheduled subject to management approval.  The additional pay is not to be considered as hours worked 51 
for overtime purposes. 52 

 53 



20 

C. If a holiday as defined in Article 18.1 falls on an employee’s regularly scheduled day off, the employee shall  1 
receive an additional eight (8) hours pay in that pay period.  The additional pay is not to be considered as 2 
hours worked for overtime purposes. 3 

 4 
D. In order that employees be eligible for holiday pay, they must work their entire regularly scheduled work day 5 

immediately preceding and following the holiday.  Exceptions will be granted for employees who are on paid 6 
leave, who are off as a result of an approved schedule change, or who are serving a waiting period under 7 
Article 21.5. 8 

 9 
18.3 Floating Holidays 10 
 11 
A. In addition to the above legal holidays, all regular full-time employees shall receive forty-eight (48) hours at 12 

their designated regular straight time hourly rate each calendar year to be designated as paid holidays.  For 13 
all holidays, legal or floating, the employee shall be paid for actual hours off duty. 14 

 15 
B. Floating holiday hours must be taken in the calendar year they are earned or they will be forfeited except that 16 

employees may be paid in cash for unused floating holiday balances of up to twenty-four (24) hours remaining 17 
at the end of the calendar year payable on the paycheck that includes December 31. Such payment is not to 18 
be considered as hours worked for overtime purposes. 19 

 20 
18.4 Proration of Floating Holidays for New, Terminating, and Laid Off Employees 21 
 22 
Floating holiday hours shall be prorated in the first year that an employee becomes eligible for holidays and in the 23 
year an employee terminates for any reason, or is laid off, on the following basis: 24 
 25 
      Termination or    Floating Holiday Hours 26 
  Eligibility Date      Layoff Date           for That Year 27 
  28 
  During 1st quarter  During 4th quarter      48 29 
  During 2nd quarter  During 3rd quarter      36 30 
  During 3rd quarter  During 2nd quarter      24 31 
  During 4th quarter  During 1st quarter      12 32 
 33 
The Employer is authorized to make the appropriate adjustments to the final paycheck of any employee who 34 
terminates employment or is laid off and has utilized more floating holiday hours than they are entitled to under the 35 
above schedule. 36 
 37 
18.5 Selection of Floating Holidays 38 
 39 
A. For employees who elect to combine their available floating holiday hours to take a full week off, seniority 40 

shall determine the order of selection as specified in Article 20.3-B,3. 41 
 42 
B. All other floating holidays shall be selected on a first come, first served basis with proper notice.  Unless this 43 

requirement is specifically waived by the Employer, however, the office must be notified in writing by the 44 
employee no later than five (5) calendar days in advance of the requested holiday for maintenance and office 45 
employees and two (2) calendar days in advance for drivers.  Employees who are on vacation or long-term 46 
disability and are physically unable to report to the garage will be allowed to select floating holidays by calling 47 
on the recorded line (832-5555). 48 

  49 



21 

ARTICLE 19 1 
PAID TIME OFF (PTO) 2 

 3 
19.1 Paid Time Off (PTO): 4 
 5 
Full-time employees hired prior to January 1, 2021 shall receive three (3) PTO days January 1 of each year to be 6 
used as paid time off.  Full-time employees hired after January 1, 2021 shall receive six (6) days January 1 of each 7 
year to be used as paid time off. Any PTO days not used as of December 31st will be forfeited except that employees 8 
may have unused PTO balances of up to twenty-four (24) hours remaining at the end of the calendar year payable to 9 
their Post Employment Health Plan (PEHP) or Health Savings Account (HSA). Such payment is not to be considered 10 
as hours worked for overtime purposes. An employee choosing to have unused PTO paid to the PEHP of HSA shall 11 
complete and submit the appropriate departmental form prior to year end. 12 
 13 
19.2  PTO Requests 14 
 15 
Any request made for PTO days shall follow the normal procedure for the type of leave being requested.  (e.g. 16 
vacation, floating holidays and sick leave must follow the normal guidelines used for requesting that type of benefit) 17 
 18 
19.3  PTO Pro-Ration 19 
 20 
For employees hired prior to January 1, 2021, PTO days shall be pro-rated in the year of 21 
hire/termination/resignation/retirement as follows: 22 
 23 
        Hired  Leaving 24 
     January-April  2  0 25 
     May-August  1  1 26 
     September-December 0  2 27 
 28 
 29 
For employee hired after January 1, 2021, PTO days shall be pro-rated in the year of 30 
hire/termination/resignation/retirement as follows: 31 
  32 
        Hired  Leaving 33 
     January-February 5  0 34 
     March-April  4  1 35 
     May-June  3  2 36 
     July-August  2  3 37 
     September-October 1  4 38 
     November-December 0  5 39 
  40 
Employees who use more PTO than they are entitled to in the year they leave employment shall owe the City the time 41 
back, unless the employee leaves employment as a result of a physician certified disability. 42 
 43 
19.4   Mechanics & Communication Technicians 44 
 45 
For Mechanics and Communication Technicians, PTO days shall be charged in a minimum of two (2) hour increments 46 
and for Driver’s a full shift pursuant to Article 36.3 Paid Leave. 47 
 48 

ARTICLE 20 49 
VACATIONS 50 

 51 
20.1 Vacation Entitlement 52 
 53 
A. Full-time Employees. 54 



22 

 1 
1. Employees shall receive vacation each year according to the following entitlement 2 

schedule: 3 
 4 

  AT LEAST  BUT LESS THAN  VACATION 5 
   6 
  1 year of service 2 years    1 week 7 
  2 years of service 6 years    2 weeks 8 
  6 years of service 8 years    2 weeks plus 2 days 9 
  8 years of service 12 years   3 weeks 10 
  12 years of service 20 years   4 weeks 11 
  20 years of service 26 years   5 weeks 12 
  26 years of service 27 years   5 weeks plus 1 day 13 
  27 years of service 28 years   5 weeks plus 2 days 14 
  28 years of service 29 years   5 weeks plus 3 days 15 
  29 years of service 30 years   5 weeks plus 4 days 16 
  Over 30 years of service    6 weeks 17 
 18 
2. Vacation entitlement shall be determined on a calendar year basis, subject to the following 19 

conditions. 20 
 21 

a. Employees will be eligible for their first paid vacation as of the first anniversary of their date of 22 
hire.  After qualifying for their first vacation, employees will be eligible for future vacations as of 23 
January 1 of each calendar year. 24 

b. If an employee qualifies for a one (1), two (2), three (3), four (4) or five (5) week vacation as of 25 
January 1 and completes the service necessary for an additional week or day(s) of vacation later 26 
in that calendar year, such employee shall receive the additional vacation after their anniversary 27 
date and shall thereafter be eligible for such increased vacation as of January 1 of each 28 
succeeding calendar year.  The additional week or day(s) will not be used in calculation of the full 29 
week selection requirement in the first year.  (See Article 20.1C.) 30 

 31 
B. One half of an employee’s vacation must be taken in periods of full weeks, except that for employees with an 32 

odd number of weeks, the calculation of one half shall be rounded down to the next lower number of full 33 
weeks.  Such selection must be made during the full week bidding period. 34 
 35 
        Required 36 
 Examples:  Vacation Entitlement  Selection 37 

      1 week          0 38 
      2 weeks         1 39 
      3 weeks         1 40 
      4 weeks         2 41 
      5 weeks         2 42 
      6 weeks         3 43 
 44 
 45 
 46 
  47 



23 

20.2 Vacation Pay 1 
 2 
A. All regular full-time employees shall receive forty (40) hours pay at their regular straight time rate for each 3 

week of vacation taken.  Vacation periods of less than a full week shall be charged on the basis of scheduled 4 
hours off. 5 

 6 
B. Vacation must be taken in the calendar year it is earned or it will be forfeited, except that up to forty (40) hours 7 

of unused vacation may be paid to the Post Employment Health Plan (PEHP) or Health Savings Account 8 
(HSA). Such payment is not to be considered as hours worked for overtime purposes. An employee choosing 9 
to have unused vacation paid to the PEHP or HSA shall complete and submit the appropriate departmental 10 
form prior to year end. 11 

 12 
C. Employees who resign their employment with proper notice shall be eligible for a lump sum payout of their 13 

vacation balance. For purposes of this provision, proper notice shall be defined as two (2) weeks. 14 
 15 

 16 
20.3 Vacation Bidding 17 
 18 
A. Bidding Periods. 19 

 20 
1. Maintenance and Office Employees. 21 

Vacations for each calendar year will be bid by seniority beginning December 1 preceding the year 22 
vacations are to run.  Each employee will have forty-eight (48) hours to select their vacation. 23 
 24 

2. Drivers. 25 
a. The bidding of full weeks of vacation for the months of January through April will be open to all drivers 26 

during the first full week of the preceding November.  All such bids received will be processed in 27 
seniority order and posted to the master vacation schedule as soon as possible, but no later than one 28 
week after the conclusion of the bidding.  Once the full week bidding for January through April has 29 
been completed and posted, the selection of individual days for those months will be opened up on a 30 
first come, first served basis. 31 

b. The bidding of full weeks of vacation for the balance of the calendar year will be done by seniority 32 
beginning the first full week of January.  Drivers will be grouped by seniority in blocks of four (4) and 33 
each group will have seventy-two (72) hours to select their vacation.  A calendar will be posted 34 
showing each group and the date their bid is due.  If any request has to be denied, the driver involved 35 
will have an additional twenty-four (24) hours to select an alternate week. 36 

c. The use of a group bidding procedure shall apply only to vacation bidding and shall not impact on the 37 
bidding of runs. 38 

 39 
B. Vacation Bidding Procedures – Weeks 40 
 41 

1. To bid vacation time the employee must correctly and completely fill out the proper request form, punch it 42 
in the time clock, and must personally turn it in to the office.  Exceptions to this procedure will be granted 43 
for employees who are on authorized leave.  Under these conditions, the employees may leave their 44 
completed form with the Steward or office or may call in their request on the recorded line (832-5555). 45 
 46 

2. Any employee who does not bid their vacation by10:00 a.m. on the designated day will lose their turn and 47 
be passed up.  The employee may re-enter the bidding later, but only from the point to which the bidding 48 
has then progressed as determined by the last employee to have actually turned in a time-punched 49 
request.  For the purpose of defining within seventy-two (72) hours, vacation bidding may be done 50 
Monday through Friday, excepting legal holidays, from 5:00 a.m. to 11:00 p.m. 51 
 52 
Once a driver has submitted a request his turn is over and he cannot submit additional requests later in 53 
the bidding. 54 



24 

 1 
If the previous group’s bids were due at noon on Friday, the next group will have until noon on 2 
Wednesday to bid. 3 
 4 

3. Also included on the calendar will be a designated one (1) week period between the end of the full week 5 
bidding and prior to the start of individual day bidding during which all employees may submit requests to 6 
do any of the following: 7 

 8 
a. Cancel previously bid weeks of vacation (in accordance with Article 20.3-F). 9 
b. Bid additional full weeks of vacation. 10 
c. Select additional full weeks of time off by combining available floating holiday hours. 11 

 12 
All such requests received during the designated week will be processed by seniority within the order 13 
of priority assigned to each type of request above. 14 

 15 
4. Selection of vacation by seniority shall apply only to full weeks of vacation and such bid vacation shall 16 

have preference over floating holiday and PTO requests.  If an employee does not select all of their 17 
vacation during this original bidding period, the employee will not be permitted at a later date to bump a 18 
less senior employee who has already selected vacation.  19 

 20 
C. Vacation Bidding – Days 21 
 22 

1. Maintenance & Office Employees 23 
 24 

a. Employees, in seniority order within their division, will have twenty-four (24) hours to select up to two 25 
(2) individual days of vacation, PTO or floating holiday.  A calendar will be posted identifying the day 26 
their requests are due.  All requests must be submitted by 10:00 a.m. on the designated day.  To 27 
assist in accelerating the process, each employee may list up to five (5) selections in priority order on 28 
their request form.  If two (2) of the selections cannot be accommodated, the employee will have an 29 
additional twenty-four (24) hours to make alternate selections.  Any employee who does not make a 30 
selection within the allotted twenty-four (24) hours will lose their turn and be passed up.  The 31 
employee may re-enter the bidding later, but only from the point to which the selection has then 32 
progressed as determined by the last employee to have actually turned in a time-punched request.  33 
For the purpose of defining within twenty-four (24) hours, selection may be done Monday through 34 
Friday (except legal holidays) from 5:00 a.m. to 11:00 p.m. 35 

 36 
If the previous employee makes his selection on Friday, the employee will have until the same time 37 
on Monday to make their selection.  To select vacation time, the employee must correctly and 38 
completely fill out the proper request form, punch it in the time clock, and must personally turn it in to 39 
the office.  Exceptions to this procedure will be granted for employees who are on authorized leave.  40 
Under these conditions, the employees may leave their completed form with the Steward or Dispatch 41 
or may call in their request on the recorded line (832-5555). 42 
 43 
This process will continue for two full rotations of the entire seniority list.  There will be one additional 44 
posting for the remaining available days.  Employees may submit any remaining requests that they 45 
have by the date on the posting.  Requests will be approved on a rotating seniority basis.  One 46 
approved request at a time.  The remaining vacancies will be opened on a first come, first served 47 
basis. 48 
 49 
In the event that previously bid vacation days are cancelled in accordance with Article 20.3-F, ample 50 
notification will be given to all affected employees of the renewed availability of these days.  There will 51 
be an informational posting.  Employees requesting those dates will complete and submit a Time Off 52 
Request by date on the posting.  Requests will be approved on a rotating seniority basis, one 53 
requested day at a time. 54 



25 

 1 
b. Once the specified period for bidding individual days is over, properly completed vacation requests 2 

may be submitted either personally by the employee or by someone else.  3 
 4 

2. Drivers 5 
 6 
Once the full week bidding has been completed including the week designated for cancellation and combining 7 
of vacation PTO and floating holiday time, no additional cancellations will be accepted until the individual day 8 
bidding is complete.  Drivers will be grouped in blocks of five (5) and will have twenty-four (24) hours to select 9 
up to two (2) individual days of vacation, PTO or floating holiday.  A calendar will be posted identifying the 10 
groups and the day their requests are due.  All requests must be submitted by 10:00 a.m. on the designated 11 
day.  To assist in accelerating the process, each driver will list up to five (5) selections in priority order on their 12 
request form.  If two (2) of the selections cannot be accommodated, the driver will have an additional twenty-13 
four (24) hours to make alternate selections. 14 
 15 
Any driver who does not make a selection within the allotted twenty-four (24) hours will lose their turn and be 16 
passed up.  The driver may re-enter the bidding later, but only from the point to which the selection has then 17 
progressed as determined by the last employee to have actually turned in a time-punched request.  For the 18 
purpose of defining within twenty-four (24) hours, selection may be done Monday through Friday (excepting 19 
legal holidays) from 5:00 a.m. to 11:00 p.m. 20 
 21 
If the previous driver makes their selection on Friday, the next group of drivers will have until the same time 22 
on Monday to make their selection.  To select vacation time, the driver must correctly and completely fill out 23 
the proper request form, punch it in the time clock, and must personally turn it in to the office.  Exceptions to 24 
this procedure will be granted for drivers who are on authorized leave.  Under these conditions, the 25 
employees may leave their completed form with the Steward or Dispatch or may call in their request on the 26 
recorded line (832-5555). 27 
 28 
This process will be followed for four (4) full rotations of the entire seniority list.  The remaining available 29 
vacancies will be posted and selected by seniority one at a time on a rotational basis. 30 

 31 
D. In the event that previously bid vacation days are cancelled in accordance with Article 20.3-F, ample 32 

notification will be given to all affected employees of the renewed availability of these days.  There will be an 33 
informational posting.  Employees requesting those days will complete and submit a Time Off Request by 34 
date on the posting.  Requests will be approved on a rotating seniority basis, one requested day at a time.  35 

 36 
E. Vacation not scheduled at the time of the original bid, including vacation periods of less than one week, will be 37 

scheduled by mutual agreement between the Employer and the employee.  Unless this requirement is 38 
specifically waived by the Employer, however, the office must be notified in writing by the employee no later 39 
than five (5) calendar days in advance of the requested starting date of the vacation for maintenance and 40 
office employees and two (2) calendar days in advance for drivers. 41 

 42 
F. Once a request has been approved, an employee may not cancel a day or week of vacation if that day or 43 

week has been bid full by the maximum number of employees allowed off in his Division.  Any employee 44 
requesting to cancel all or part of a required full week of vacation must submit a request to schedule an 45 
alternate full week at that time.  (See Article 20.1-C)  If the alternate full week cannot be granted, the entire 46 
request will be denied.  Exceptions will be granted, however, when individual days must be cancelled 47 
because of overbooking of time or when, as a result of run/shift bids or permanent schedule changes, 48 
previously bid days now fall on the employee’s scheduled day off. 49 

 50 
G. The calendar week during which December 31 falls shall be available for bidding of full weeks of vacation in 51 

that year, unless December 31 is a Sunday.  Vacation days used during that week shall be charged to the 52 
year in which they fall. 53 

 54 



26 

 1 
20.4 Vacation Scheduling 2 
 3 
A. No more than one (1) maintenance employee and one (1) clerical employee will be granted vacation or 4 

personal holiday on the same day unless more are approved by management.  The maximum number of 5 
drivers allowed off will be determined by the following guidelines unless more are approved by management. 6 

 7 
 1.  Seven (7) drivers will be allowed off on Saturdays during the summer bid period with the exception of Mile 8 

of Music and the Flag Day Parade. 9 
 2. Five (5) drivers will be allowed off at all other times including Mile of Music and the Flag Day Parade. 10 
 11 
B. The Employer reserves the right to adjust the vacation schedule in order to maintain service. 12 
 13 
C. Employees may elect to utilize vacation time to compensate for regularly scheduled work day hours that are 14 

lost due to legal holidays or to school not being in session.  15 
 16 
D. When an employee is on a full week of vacation or holiday they count as a vacancy each day regardless of 17 

actual work schedule. 18 
 19 

ARTICLE 21 20 
SICK LEAVE 21 

 22 
21.1 Sick Leave Accrual 23 
 24 
A. All regular full-time employees hired prior to January 1, 2021 shall accumulate sick leave with pay of six (6)  25 

hours for each month of service.  Sick leave shall accumulate but not to exceed nine hundred sixty (960) 26 
hours. Employees hired after January 1, 2021 shall not be eligible for sick leave. 27 

 28 
B. Benefits under this article are effective on the 61st calendar day of employment. 29 
 30 
21.2 Eligible Uses 31 
 32 
A. Employees may use sick leave in case of their personal illness or off-duty injury or illness or injury of 33 

members of the employee’s immediate family living in the employee’s residence when the employee’s 34 
presence is required, within the following guidelines. 35 

 36 
1. When reporting off sick, the employee will call personally and either tell the office or leave a message on 37 

the recording machine (832-5555) explaining the nature of the illness. 38 
2. The employee will keep their supervisor informed of their condition as stated on the physicians report or 39 

as requested by the Employer. 40 
3. The employee will permit the Employer to have made such medical examination or nursing visit as it 41 

deems desirable. 42 
4. An employee sick more than three (3) consecutive days must present a doctor’s note upon return to work. 43 

 44 
21.3 Ineligible Uses 45 
 46 
Sick leave may not be used for absences resulting from injuries received while employed for money by another 47 
employer.  This provision shall not apply to Family Medical Leave Act (FMLA) qualifying absences. 48 
 49 
Sick leave cannot be used until all Paid Time Off (PTO) days have been exhausted unless otherwise qualified under 50 
the Family Medical Leave Act. 51 
 52 
 53 
 54 



27 

 1 
21.4 Employee Responsibilities 2 
 3 
A. If a driver is sick or otherwise unable to come to work, they must call in at least sixty (60) minutes prior to the 4 

scheduled start of the shift or be subject to the “late” policy defined in Article 13. 5 
 6 
B. It is expected that employees will maintain reasonable health standards and will not permit minor 7 

indispositions or illnesses to keep them away from work. 8 
 9 
C. Unexplained absences, excessive absenteeism, or making false report of injury or illness may be causes for 10 

disciplinary action. 11 
 12 

21.5 Waiting Period 13 
 14 
A. Employees may be subject to a waiting period before they become eligible for paid sick leave.  The waiting 15 

period will be based upon the number of occurrences of paid sick leave usage in accordance with the 16 
following schedule except that multiple absences resulting from the same Family Medical Leave occurrence 17 
will be treated as only one sick occurrence per calendar year.  An occurrence is defined as one continuous, 18 
uninterrupted absence due to the reasons outlined in Article 21.2.  Subsequent absences for the same illness 19 
or injury which occur when seven (7) calendar days or less have elapsed between the absences shall be 20 
considered to be the same occurrence, but only if the employee provides medical documentation that the 21 
absences were due to the same illness or injury, immediately upon their return to work.  22 
 23 
1. First two (2) occurrences in six (6) months– no waiting period. 24 
2. Next two (2) occurrences in a calendar year – one (1) day waiting period for each occurrence. 25 
3. Next two (2) occurrences in a calendar year – two (2) day waiting period for each occurrence. 26 
4. All subsequent occurrences in a calendar year – three (3) day waiting period for each occurrence. 27 

 28 
21.6 Sick Pay 29 
 30 
Sick leave used shall be charged on the basis of scheduled hours off. 31 
 32 
21.7 Payout Upon Retirement or Death 33 
 34 
A. At the time of their retirement and if they qualify for an annuity under the Wisconsin Retirement Fund, 35 

employees shall receive payment for their unused sick leave up to a maximum of seven hundred twenty (720) 36 
hours.  Such employees shall receive this payment in cash.  Such payment shall be subject to the terms of 37 
Article 28. 38 

 39 
B. In the event of the death of an employee, said employee’s beneficiary as designated under the Wisconsin 40 

Retirement Fund shall be paid in cash for said employee’s unused accumulated sick leave up to a maximum 41 
of seven hundred twenty (720) hours. 42 

 43 
ARTICLE 22 44 

WORKER’S COMPENSATION BENEFITS 45 
 46 

Employees receiving Worker’s Compensation Benefits as a result of an on-the-job injury or accident shall receive 47 
benefits based on state worker’s compensation laws, except that there shall be no cap on the weekly temporary total 48 
disability (TTD) payments.  49 

 50 
 51 
 52 
 53 
 54 



28 

ARTICLE 23 1 
FUNERAL LEAVE 2 

 3 
A. In the case of death in the immediate family of a regular full-time employee (non-dependent children, 4 

grandchildren, parents or legal guardian, sister or brother, mother-in-law, father-in-law, or any other relative 5 
living in the employee’s residence at the time of death), the employee will be paid for the scheduled time lost 6 
from the date of death but not to exceed three (3) scheduled work days within a seven (7) day period from the 7 
date of death at the employee’s regular straight time hourly rate, but not to exceed twenty-four (24) hours. 8 

 9 
B. In the case of the death of the employee’s spouse or dependent child, the employee will be paid for 10 

scheduled time lost from the date of death but not to exceed five (5) consecutive scheduled work days at the 11 
employee’s regular straight time rate, but not to exceed forty (40) hours. 12 

 13 
C. In the case of the death of the employee’s brother-in-law, sister-in-law, son-in-law, daughter-in-law, 14 

grandparents, aunt, uncle or spouse’s grandparents (other than those living in the employee’s residence at 15 
the time of death), or in the event the employee is a pallbearer for a relative not listed herein, the employee 16 
will be paid for scheduled time lost for the day of the funeral, provided the employee attends the funeral, at 17 
the employee’s regular straight time rate. 18 

 19 
D. No funeral leave will be paid to any employee while on authorized leave.  Employees are not eligible to use 20 

the benefits under this article until their sixty-first (61st) calendar day of employment. 21 
 22 

ARTICLE 24 23 
MILITARY LEAVE 24 

 25 
The Employer shall be governed by the Uniformed Services Employment and Reemployment Rights Act (USERRA), 26 
as amended, as it applies to the employees covered hereunder.  The Employer agrees to make up the difference 27 
between an employee’s regular weekly earnings of forty (40) hours at the employee’s straight time rate and the 28 
employee’s military compensation for summer training for a period not in excess of two (2) weeks per calendar year.  29 
To receive such leave, the employee must file a copy of their order with the Human Resources Director/or designee 30 
prior to the leave beginning.  In order to receive full pay the employee is required to, upon receipt of military pay 31 
submit the full military pay to the City payroll office.  Employees, at their option, may request an unpaid leave of 32 
absence or may use paid time off for military leave and thereby retain the military pay. 33 
 34 

ARTICLE 25 35 
JURY/WITNESS DUTY 36 

 37 
A. Non-probationary regular full-time employees will receive full pay for any time lost while serving on jury duty 38 

or if subpoenaed on witness duty.  The employee shall immediately notify the Employer upon receipt of a jury 39 
summons or subpoena.  In order to receive full pay the employee is required to, upon receipt of jury or 40 
witness pay, submit their jury or witness pay to the City payroll office.  The City payroll office will cash their 41 
check, retain the portion of the check representing per diem payments, and give the employee the mileage 42 
and meal reimbursement portions of the check.  Employees, at their option, may request an unpaid leave of 43 
absence or may use vacation, PTO, or floating holiday for a day of jury or witness duty and thereby retain the 44 
jury pay as well as full pay for the full day(s). 45 

 46 
B. Witness Duty pay shall not apply to those circumstances where an employee is subpoenaed as a witness by 47 

their own attorney or where the employee is the plaintiff or a named defendant in the case.  In order for an 48 
employee to be eligible for witness duty pay, the reason for being the witness must be related to their 49 
employment with the City of Appleton.  50 

 51 
 52 
 53 
 54 



29 

ARTICLE 26 1 
LEAVE OF ABSENCE 2 

 3 
A. Any employees who wish to absent themselves from their employment shall make application for such leave 4 

of absence as follows.  5 
 6 
1. Submit a written request at least forty-eight (48) hours prior to the leave. 7 
2. For a leave not to exceed three (3) consecutive days, the request shall be made to the General Manager. 8 
3. For a leave in excess of three (3) consecutive days, the request shall be made to the Director of Human 9 

Resources through the General Manager. 10 
 11 
B. A leave of absence shall be granted to any employee who has been delegated to perform a service for the 12 

Union, provided, however, it does not impair the operating efficiency of the respective employee’s Division. 13 
 14 
C. After any three (3) consecutive days of an unapproved absence, the Employer may declare a position vacant.  15 
 16 
D. Leave of absence shall be without pay. 17 
 18 
E. No leave of absence shall be granted an employee until such employee has made suitable arrangements with 19 

the General Manager for the continued payment of such employee’s group insurance premium for the period 20 
of the leave of absence. 21 

 22 
F. Failure to comply with the provisions of this Article shall result in the complete loss of seniority rights of the 23 

employee involved subject to the provisions of Paragraph “C” above.  An employee’s inability to work because 24 
of proven sickness or injury shall not result in the loss of seniority rights.  25 

 26 
ARTICLE 27 27 

HEALTH INSURANCE BENEFITS 28 
 29 
27.1 Medical Plan 30 
 31 

Employees shall pay the same contribution as non-represented employees on plans offered by the City to 32 
non-represented employees.    33 

 34 
27.2 Dental Plan 35 
 36 

Provided the employer offers a Dental Plan, employees shall pay the same contribution as non-represented 37 
employees on plans offered by the City to non-represented employees.   38 

 39 
27.3 Part-time Employee Coverage 40 
 41 

Part-time employees who work 30 or more hours and hold a benefited position shall be permitted to 42 
participate in the group insurance program at their own expense.  43 
 44 

27.4 Retiree Coverage 45 
 46 

Any retiring employee who qualifies for an annuity under the Wisconsin Retirement Fund, shall be offered a 47 
group Health Insurance plan but not necessarily the same plan as active employees coverage exclusive of 48 
Dental, at their own expense, until they are eligible for Medicare, provided that they exercise this option 49 
before or on their last day of work. 50 

 51 
 52 
 53 
 54 



30 

ARTICLE 28 1 
POST EMPLOYMENT HEALTH PLAN 2 

 3 
The City of Appleton agrees to participate in the Post Employment Health Plan for Collectively Bargained Public 4 
Employees. The Employer agrees to contribute to the Plan on behalf of employees represented by Teamster Union 5 
Local #662. 6 

 7 
For the term of this agreement, the Employer shall contribute for each eligible full-time employee the amount of $10 8 
per month.  In addition, upon retirement, the percent, as established by November 1 of the eligible employees 9 
accumulated paid leave balance that would have otherwise been paid to the eligible employee, had the Employer not 10 
participated in the Plan, shall be contributed to the Plan. 11 

 12 
Employees hired prior to 1/1/11 shall receive  any accumulated sick leave above the 90 days to a maximum of 30 13 
additional days paid to the PEHP. 14 

 15 
In addition, the bargaining group each year may select what percent of eligible accumulated paid leave balance will be 16 
contributed to the plan. 17 

 18 
The percent contribution for retirees will be established annually by the group and will be used for the subsequent 19 
year.  This elected percent contribution must be submitted to the Human Resource Director/or designee in writing 20 
prior to November 1 of each year. 21 
 22 

ARTICLE 29 23 
LIFE INSURANCE BENEFITS 24 

 25 
The Employer shall provide $20,000 life insurance (A.D.D.) for all regular full-time employees. 26 

 27 
ARTICLE 30 28 

PENSION BENEFITS 29 
 30 

A. Employees agree to pay half of all actuarially required contributions for funding benefits under the retirement 31 
system. 32 

33 



31 

PART C 1 
SPECIAL PROVISIONS – DRIVERS 2 

 3 
ARTICLE 31 4 

SCHEDULE CHANGES 5 
 6 

 A. Four types of schedule changes are allowed as listed below:  7 
 8 

1. Bid changes – are in effect for an entire bid period – are voided in a rebid (not in a reshuffle) – must be 9 
submitted within the specified period prior to the start of the bid. 10 

 11 
2. Partner’s rights – a driver is allowed to take their partner’s open shift on a daily or weekly basis. The most 12 

senior primary partner has first choice; however, weekly partner’s rights take precedence over daily partner’s 13 
rights. The partner requesting daily partner’s rights must already be scheduled to work that day. 14 

 15 
3. Switches - a switch is a schedule change between two or more drivers that lasts a maximum of one week. 16 
 17 
4. Giveaways - driver may request to give a work day or shift away without receiving off-setting hours in return. 18 

Up to six (6) requests per calendar year will be granted. Available part time or stand-by drivers will fill the 19 
giveaway work.  20 

 21 
B. General restrictions 22 
 23 

1. Schedule change requests are subject to management approval.  24 
 25 
2. Schedule changes will not be granted if they directly or indirectly result in overtime, “inversing” or additional 26 

report times. 27 
 28 
3. Schedule change requests must be submitted by 10:00 A.M. the day before the request (Friday for Monday). 29 

Standbys may request a later schedule change by speaking to a supervisor and filling out a request form. 30 
 31 
4. A driver who is scheduled off on vacation, PTO, holiday or any other pre-known absence cannot be a party to 32 

a daily or weekly schedule change.   33 
 34 

5. Daily partner’s rights must result in the driver working the same number of hours they were originally 35 
scheduled. If this is not possible, an operator may waive up to one (1) hour per day to a maximum of two (2) 36 
hours per week. A driver may use vacation, PTO or floating holiday time to supplement any lost hours.  37 

 38 
6. An approved schedule change cannot normally be undone or modified once it has been approved.  39 

 40 
7. Management shall not be held responsible for any errors that occur in the dispatching of schedule changes, 41 

nor shall the administration of the giveaway policy be subject to the grievance procedure. 42 
 43 
8. Drivers who are party to a schedule change or a giveaway assignment are responsible for checking their work 44 

assignment.   45 
 46 
9. Only full shifts may be given away – previous schedule changes may be given away. 47 
 48 
10.  Giveaway requests must be time punched and submitted no earlier than two weeks and no later than 10:00  49 

A.M. the day before (Fri. for Mon.) the desired giveaway.  Requests will be considered in the order they are 50 
time punched. 51 

 52 
11.  Any hours that a stand-by driver would have normally been assigned during the period of their giveaway will 53 

be subtracted from their guarantee. 54 



32 

 1 
12. Giveaways will be assigned to stand-by drivers in bid rotation order, with preference given Monday through 2 

Thursday to any part-time drivers (stand-by or  bid) who have signed the overtime board by 10:00 A.M. the 3 
previous day (Fri. for Mon) and designated “G”. (NOTE: These hours will count toward the guarantee and will 4 
allow management to assign more than the 32 maximum up to 40 hours). 5 

 6 
ARTICLE 32 7 

RUN BIDDING PROCEDURES 8 
 9 

32.1 Posting and Effective Dates 10 
 11 
A. Run bids will be posted no later than December 1, May 1, and August 1, and will take effect on the first 12 

Monday of January, the Monday after the school year ends and the Monday before the school year begins. 13 
 14 
B. If major changes are to be included in the run bid to be posted, the Employer will meet with the Shop 15 

Committee prior to the posting.  If there are only minor changes or no changes in the run bid to be posted, the 16 
Employer will provide the Shop Committee with copies of the bid in advance of the posting and will meet with 17 
the Committee upon request. 18 

 19 
32.2 Order of Bidding/Time Limits 20 
 21 
A. Runs will be bid by seniority.  Any driver who does not bid within twenty-four (24) hours of their turn will lose 22 

their turn and be passed up.  The employee may re-enter the bidding later, but only from the point to which 23 
the bidding has then progressed as determined by the last driver to have actually signed the bid sheet. 24 

 25 
For the purpose of defining within twenty-four (24) hours, bidding may be done Monday through Friday from 26 
5:00 AM to 11:00 PM.  If the previous driver bids on Friday, the next bidder will have until the same time on 27 
Monday to complete his bid. 28 

 29 
B. The placement on the bid list of employees who return from a medical leave in the middle of a bid period and 30 

the determination of whether there will be a resulting rebid will be decided on a case-by-case basis. 31 
 32 
32.3 Method of Bidding 33 
 34 
A. Bids will be accepted by telephone from drivers provided the call is made on the recorded line (832-5555). 35 
 36 
B. Drivers must leave with the Administrative Services Manager or other office personnel and the Union 37 

Steward, a list of bids, first, second and third choice bids, before going on scheduled leave. 38 
 39 
32.4 Rebidding 40 
 41 
When a vacancy occurs that creates a schedule opening, the parties agree to discuss whether a reshuffle might be 42 
utilized instead of the rebid process. If agreement cannot be reached about a reshuffle, then the parties agree to 43 
follow the procedure outlined below. 44 

 45 
A. If a regular vacancy occurs more than forty-five (45) days before the effective date of the next bid, that run 46 

and all other runs from the vacancy down on the seniority list will be rebid.  Permanent bid changes affecting 47 
any open run will be removed.  Rebidding begins with the next most senior employee following the vacancy.  48 
Bid choices include any open run. 49 
 50 

 51 



33 

B. If a regular vacancy occurs forty-five (45) days or less before the effective date of the next bid, one (1) of the 1 
two (2) options listed below will be followed.  Any permanent schedule changes affecting a particular run will 2 
be removed only as that run becomes available. 3 

 4 
a. If sufficient time is available to justify doing so, employees will be asked in seniority order, from the 5 

vacancy down, if they wish to take the open bid.  The employee who is promoted to fill the vacancy will be 6 
assigned to fill the bid that remains. 7 

b. If the conditions of a particular case make it impractical to perform the administrative reshuffle, the partner 8 
of the driver who created the regular vacancy will be offered partner’s rights, as defined below, for the 9 
remainder of the bid.  When a driver takes partner’s rights in this case it will be considered a permanent 10 
schedule change, thus allowing them to make other schedule changes as desired.  The employee who is 11 
promoted to fill the vacancy will be assigned the bid that remains. 12 
 13 

Partner’s Rights:  Partners are drivers who operate the same run.  If a partner is going to be scheduled off 14 
(vacation, PTO, floating holiday, sick leave, etc.) and it is known by 10:00 a.m. of the previous day (10:00 15 
a.m. Friday for Saturday, Sunday, and Monday) the daily partner has first choice to the work schedule of the 16 
open run, however, weekly partner’s rights take precedence over daily partner’s rights.  When two or more 17 
people work a run, the most senior partner shall have the first choice to the open work.  The partner 18 
requesting daily partner’s rights must already be scheduled to work that day. 19 

 20 
32.5 Right to Assign Unbid Runs 21 
 22 
The Employer reserves the right to assign all runs not bid to available drivers. 23 
 24 

 25 
ARTICLE 33 26 

STAND-BY DRIVERS 27 
 28 

33.1 Duties 29 
 30 
A. Stand-by drivers will operate regularly established runs on days when regular drivers are off duty and all 31 

assignments other than regular runs. 32 
 33 
B. As part of their regular duties, a stand-by driver may be required to start and move buses and to perform pre-34 

trip inspections while waiting for other drivers to report. 35 
 36 
33.2 Hours and Days of Work 37 
 38 
A. All stand-by drivers must be available for work six (6) days each week until they accumulate their weekly 39 

maximum, except as provided for in Articles 33.4-C and 33.4-D.  Stand-by drivers will not be scheduled more 40 
than fourteen (14) hours on any given day and will have a minimum of 7.5 hours off between the end of an 41 
evening shift and the start of a morning shift.  Stand-bys may, however, choose to waive this provision by 42 
signing the overtime board and entering the code “E” for available all day Monday-Friday and code “C” for 43 
available all day on Saturday.  Any hours worked by waiving the fourteen (14) hour provision will not count 44 
toward the employee’s weekly maximum. 45 

 46 
B. All Stand-by bids shall have a weekly guarantee as set out in Article 33.5. 47 
 48 
C. Effect of Absences on Hours of Work. 49 
 50 

1. If a stand-by misses out or is otherwise unavailable for work due to reasons other than disciplinary 51 
suspension, illness, or injury, the stand-by will lose their guarantee for that week, will have the hours they 52 
were scheduled to work that shift deducted from their weekly maximum, and will receive pay only for 53 
actual hours worked that week. 54 



34 

2. If a stand-by is unavailable for work due to a disciplinary suspension, the stand-by will lose their  1 
guarantee for that week, will have eight (8) hours for each day of suspension deducted from their weekly 2 
maximum, and will receive pay only for actual hours worked that week. 3 

 4 
D. If a stand-by is “late” for a work assignment the stand-by will have whatever hours are docked subtracted from 5 

their weekly guarantee and maximum weekly hours but will not lose their guarantee for the week. 6 
 7 
E. Hours spent in training by stand-by drivers that do not overlap the shift that they normally would have been 8 

assigned for that day will not count toward either their weekly guarantee or their maximum weekly hours. 9 
 10 
33.3 Availability 11 
 12 
A.  Stand-by drivers must be available at their primary phone during the AM availability period.  At times other 13 

than the AM availability period, the employer will call the stand-bys primary phone number once and then 14 
will call their cell phone.  Stand-bys have up to 20 minutes to call Valley Transit after being called on their 15 
cell phone or be subject to Article 13 Lates and Miss-outs.  16 
 17 

B. During all other regular hours of operation, a stand-by driver is required to report for duty if they are personally 18 
notified to do so or they will be considered a miss-out. 19 

 20 
33.4 Order of Assignment 21 
 22 
The highest stand-by driver, as determined by bid position, will be first out each week.  If this driver gets five (5) hours 23 
or more of work on Monday, but no other stand-by driver does, the next highest driver will be first out on Tuesday, and 24 
so on.  (First out does not refer to chronological order, but rather to the maximum number of work hours available that 25 
day.) 26 
 27 
A. A shift is a piece of work whose length is determined each bid on the bid sheet.  Drivers working two or more 28 

full shifts will be paid for each shift per the bid.  Order of bid position will be full-time stand-bys then part-time 29 
stand-bys. 30 

 31 
B. Each Thursday when boards are made for Friday, the employee responsible for scheduling will review the 32 

status of all stand-bys and determine which, if any, stand-bys have not reached their minimum guarantee.  33 
The normal rotation of stand-bys will be suspended at that point and those drivers who have not reached their 34 
guarantee will be first out on Friday and Saturday, if necessary, in order by bid position.  The normal rotation 35 
will resume once all stand-bys have been scheduled to meet their guarantee. 36 

 37 
C. When a stand-by has, less than two (2) hours remaining to reach their maximum, they will be considered 38 

finished for the week. 39 
 40 
D. Any stand-by will work the number of hours necessary to bring themselves to their maximum hours.  If a 41 

stand-by is “late” for a work assignment it will not affect their order of rotation for any other assignment that 42 
might become available. 43 
 44 

33.5 Miscellaneous Stand-by Provisions 45 
 46 

 Full-Time Stand-bys 

Weekly maximum hours Greater than 32 less than or equal to 40 

Weekly guaranteed hours 32  

Hours of Work 5:25 a.m. – 10:55 p.m. Monday through Saturday 

Day Off None 

Effect of Sick Absence on Hours of Work A full-time stand-by who is unavailable for work due to 

illness or injury, may use PTO or sick leave per the 

agreement PTO and Sick leave hours used will count 



35 

toward their guarantee and maximum hours for the week.  If 

PTO or sick leave hours are not used, their guarantee shall 

be reduced by the number of hours the employee is off, 

however, such absence shall have no impact on the 

maximum number of hours the employee may work that 

week. 

Time off for Medical Appointments Full-time stand-bys may request time off for medical 

appointments for themselves or members of their 

immediate family living in their residence under the 

following guidelines; 

1. Turn in “request for Scheduled Time Off” with an 

explanation as soon as possible after the 

appointment is made. 

2. Time off will be allowed between the hours of 8:55 

a.m. and 1:55p.m.  Minimum request is two (2) 

hours.  Replacement driver will be scheduled a 

minimum of two (2) hours unless coming off or 

going onto another run. 

3. Any available sick leave will be used for hours that 

stand-by would have been scheduled to drive 

during the time off.  If a stand-by driver has no sick 

leave available, they can substitute available 

vacation or holiday pay. 

4. If a stand-by driver would have been scheduled to 

work during the time requested for medical leave, 

their guarantee will be reduced by the same 

number of hours. 

5. Drivers returning to work from approved medical 

leave are subject to Article 13 of the labor 

agreement. 

6. Time off for medical appointments under this 

policy will be considered a “non-chargeable” 

absence. 

All requests are subject to approval on a case-by-case 

basis.  Management reserves the right to limit the number 

of times this provision may be used. 

Effect of daily vacation or personal holiday on Hours of 

Work 

Full-time stand-by drivers will be charged hours for vacation 

or floating holiday based on the number of hours they 

would have been scheduled. 

Legal Holidays Will be charged for and paid for the six (6) legal holidays 

listed in Article 18.1 

 

Holiday hours will count toward guarantee hours and 

weekly maximum.  

Availability Full-time stand-by drivers must be available during the 

following availability periods: 

 

5:00 a.m. to 7:30 a.m. and 12:30 p.m. to 3:30 p.m. Monday 

through Friday and 7:00a.m. to 9:30 a.m. and 12:30 p.m. to 

3:30 p.m. on Saturday 

 1 
33.6 Part-time Drivers 2 
 3 

A. Part-time drivers will be assigned to work schedules based on the needs of the organization and the 4 
availability of the part-time driver. The number of part-time drivers hired and the hours availability will be 5 
determined solely by management. 6 
 7 



36 

B. Part-time drivers will be allowed to voluntarily sign for additional hours and will be given available hours 1 
based on seniority.  2 
 3 
C. Part-time drivers will not be inversed outside of the hours/days of their availability. 4 

 5 
D. Part-time drivers will be paid for actual hours worked and shall be eligible for overtime as outlined in Article 6 
16.5 A. No guarantee of hours will be provided to part-time drivers. 7 
 8 

 E. Part-time drivers will be paid in accordance with Exhibit A. 9 
 10 

ARTICLE 34 11 
DISTRIBUTION OF OVERTIME 12 

 13 
34.1 Seniority 14 
 15 
Except as modified elsewhere in this Agreement, work outside the regular hours of work shall be offered to the senior 16 
available employees in that classification of the unit. 17 
 18 
34.2 Order of Distribution 19 
 20 
The order of the distribution of such work shall be determined as follows. 21 
 22 
A. Voluntary Distribution. 23 

 24 
1. Overtime will be handled on a voluntary basis whenever possible however, the provisions of this article 25 

shall not apply to pieces of work of less than one (1) hour in duration. 26 
2. The Employer will provide the opportunity to volunteer for overtime work by posting overtime availability 27 

sheets.  It is the responsibility of each driver to notify the Employer of the driver’s availability by signing 28 
the overtime availability sheet no later than 10:00 a.m. the day before such work becomes available.  29 
(10:00 a.m. Friday for Monday work.)  In the following circumstances, a driver will also be allowed to 30 
telephone the Office (832-5555) to have their name added or deleted from the overtime availability sheet. 31 

a. If the driver is not scheduled to work that day. 32 
b. If an on-duty A.M. driver is not scheduled or is unable to return to the garage by the 10:00 a.m. 33 

signing deadline. 34 
3. All extra work not covered by stand-by drivers will be assigned on the basis of seniority to those who have 35 

signed for work that day, provided that the driver must be available for at least two (2) hours or the 36 
duration of the work, if less than two (2) hours.  Drivers will be assigned a shift and pieces of shifts which 37 
result in the most available hours going to the most senior driver.  Drivers will not be assigned more than 38 
one full shift until all available drivers have been assigned a shift.  Coverage and trippers are considered 39 
pieces of work, not shifts for this purpose.  Drivers working two or more full shifts will be paid for each shift 40 
per the bid. 41 

4. Any driver who signs the availability sheet and is assigned extra work or overtime at the time the daily 42 
boards are completed will be obligated to work that run or be subject to the miss-out provisions.  If a 43 
driver is called about overtime work after the daily boards are completed they will have the option of 44 
accepting or declining the offered work. 45 

 46 
B. Involuntary Distribution. 47 

 48 
1. Overtime may be assigned by the Employer on an inverse seniority basis. 49 
2. Drivers who do not sign the availability sheet will, however, be assigned extra work or overtime only when 50 

the list of available drivers becomes exhausted.  In that event, extra work will be assigned first to anyone 51 
who missed-out that day and then to the least senior driver who is not already scheduled to work.  52 

 53 
 54 



37 

C. Eligibility for Overtime Work. 1 
 2 
1. A driver who has bid a full week of vacation, PTO or floating holiday hours is ineligible for overtime work 3 

for that entire calendar week. 4 
2. A driver who is on vacation, PTO or floating holiday for an entire day’s work shift(s) is ineligible for any 5 

overtime work during the calendar day(s) they are off. 6 
3. A driver who is on vacation, PTO or floating holiday for a shift of a multi-shift day is ineligible to work 7 

overtime during that shift.  (NOTE:  Drivers should indicate on the “Request for Time Off” form whether 8 
they are requesting off for the entire day or a single shift.  If specific shifts are not indicated, it will be 9 
assumed the individual wants the entire day off.  Drivers on all day vacation, PTO or floating holiday are 10 
ineligible for overtime and inversel.  Drivers on vacation, PTO or floating holiday for a single shift of a 11 
multiple shift day are eligible for overtime and can be inversed outside of their vacation period.) 12 

 13 
34.3 Errors in Distribution 14 
 15 
Management will take all reasonable steps to insure that overtime is distributed properly.  The Employer, however, 16 
assumes no financial liability for errors in overtime assignments which result from employee instigated schedule 17 
changes after the final bid is posted. 18 
 19 

ARTICLE 35 20 
DISPATCHING PROCEDURES 21 

 22 
35.1 Filling of Daily Vacancies 23 
 24 
A. Daily vacancies will be assigned in the following order provided the driver is available for at least two (2) 25 

hours or the duration of the work. 26 
 27 
1. Stand-by Drivers by rotation. 28 
2. Overtime by seniority. 29 
3. Volunteers by seniority. 30 
4. Miss-outs by inverse seniority. 31 
5. Inverse seniority. 32 

a. First with drivers that are working that day. 33 
b. If none, then with any driver on a scheduled day off. 34 

 35 
Drivers who sign or volunteer for extra work on a scheduled day off shall be considered on a 36 
scheduled day off outside the hours they signed to work. 37 
 38 
Stand-by drivers shall be considered to be on a scheduled day off when their hours are 39 
completed for the week.  A stand-by driver who is scheduled to work on a day in which they reach 40 
their maximum hours shall not be considered to be on a scheduled day off that day. 41 

c. Drivers who are on paid leave will not be subject to being inversed. 42 
 43 
35.2 Overtime Restrictions 44 
 45 
A. The following restrictions shall apply to the filling of all overtime work regardless of the status of the driver 46 

involved (i.e. stand-by, overtime, volunteer, miss-out or inverse seniority).  For the purpose of this procedure, 47 
the term “most senior available driver” is defined to mean that driver who would be first out at that particular 48 
time according to the above described order of assignment. 49 
1. If the overtime available connects directly to (in front of or behind) a shift or other piece of work and does 50 

not result in a fragment of work less than two (2) hours in length, the overtime will be filled as stated 51 
above. 52 



38 

2. If the overtime available connects directly to (in front of or behind) a shift or other piece of work and if 1 
given to the most senior available driver would result in a fragment of work less than two (2) hours in 2 
length, the overtime will be filled as follows. 3 

a. The overtime will be given to most senior available driver and the fragmented balance left (if it 4 
connects directly to a shift or other piece of work) will be filled by the next most senior available 5 
driver. 6 

b. If a fragment of work left does not connect directly to a shift or other piece of work, the overtime 7 
available will be given to the next most senior available driver. 8 

3. If the overtime work available has a report time before the most senior driver (in the order stated above) is 9 
available, then the next most senior available driver will fill the run until the more senior driver is available, 10 
but for not less than one and one-half (1 1/2) hours driving time unless coming off a run. 11 

4. Except for overtime assignments, which overlap the regular work schedule, a driver will not normally be 12 
pulled involuntarily from their bid run to replace another driver.  The switching of driver assignments for 13 
overtime purposes may not, however, violate any provisions of Article 34 regarding the order of 14 
distribution of overtime. 15 

 16 
ARTICLE 36 17 

REPORTING FOR WORK 18 
 19 

36.1 Driver Responsibilities 20 
 21 
A. It is understood that personal affairs and obligations will be conducted during non-working hours. 22 
 23 
B. If a driver is sick or otherwise unable to come to work, they must call in at least sixty (60) minutes prior to the 24 

scheduled start of the shift or be subject to the “late” policy defined in Article 13. 25 
 26 
C. Drivers being called in will be given a report time.  Drivers must report by the report time given or they will be 27 

subject to the late/miss-out policy.  Drivers not able to report with sixty (60) minutes or less notice will not be 28 
subject to a late/miss-out. 29 

 30 
D. Drivers shall not be considered to be “punched in” unless they are in proper uniform. 31 
 32 
E. Drivers must report for work at the garage.  An exception to this rule will be made any time there is a break of 33 

one (1) hour or less actual driving time between reliefs, in which case the driver is not required to report to the 34 
garage for the break.  Other exceptions will be allowed only in unusual circumstances with the approval of the 35 
Employer.  36 

 37 
36.2 Transportation 38 
 39 
A. The Employer will provide transportation between the garage and the Appleton downtown area for those 40 

drivers who are relieving or being relieved downtown, including those who are a party to a schedule change.  41 
This will be accomplished either through the use of a bus, at no charge to the employee, or by other means.  42 
If drivers are required to use the bus for transportation, the Employer will provide transportation to and from 43 
an appropriate bus stop near the garage. 44 

 45 
B. The procedure to be utilized in reporting for and being relieved from out of town relief points shall be 46 

determined by the Employer, in advance, for the entire bid period.  This procedure could include providing 47 
transportation, drivers voluntarily utilizing their own vehicles, or advancing the report time by fifteen (15) 48 
minutes to enable the relieving employees to ride the bus.  Whatever procedure is established shall be on a 49 
non-precedential basis. 50 

 51 
36.3 Paid Leave 52 
 53 
A. All paid leave is to be taken on the basis of a full shift off, except for the following: 54 



39 

 1 
1. Unused odd balances of vacation, PTO and/or floating holiday hours totaling twenty-four (24) hours or 2 

less that remain at the end of a calendar year; 3 
2. An illness or emergency that occurs during a driver’s shift. 4 

 5 
ARTICLE 37 6 

PREMIUM PAY 7 
 8 

A. Employees will be paid for all extensions of their regular schedule due to breakdowns, storms, or other 9 
circumstances beyond their control (excluding workers compensation). 10 

 11 
B. Drivers shall receive an additional one-half (1/2) hours pay for being scheduled to drive twelve (12) or more 12 

hours without any intervening time.  Employee initiated schedule changes and/or drivers working two or more 13 
shifts are exempt from this provision, however, driver’s working two or more shifts will be paid for each shift 14 
per the bid. 15 

 16 
C. Employees will be paid for making out accident reports, provided that such pay shall be limited to not more 17 

than one-half (1/2) hour after the employee has finished their job assignments for the day. 18 
 19 

ARTICLE 38 20 
UNIFORMS 21 

 22 
A. The Employer shall provide the initial uniform and replace non-serviceable uniform items for all drivers based 23 

on “D” below.  The cost of maintenance of the uniform shall be borne by the employee.  The Employer 24 
reserves the right to set standards for and regulate items of uniform clothing to include but not to be limited to:  25 
color; style; fabric; material; brand; and specifications.  The Employer further reserves the right to determine 26 
the serviceability of any uniform item.  27 

 28 
B. Drivers shall wear full uniform, as defined by the Employer, at all times when on duty. 29 

 30 
C. Uniforms may be worn only during the course of work and for travel directly to and from the place of 31 

employment. 32 
 33 
D. The uniforms for drivers which are referred to in “A.” above consist of the following allocation: 34 

 35 

 Full-time and Stand-by: 36 
 37 
  1 jacket   38 
  4 pants   39 
  10 shirts (any style combination) 40 
  2 fleece 41 
  1 pr. shoes Black, leather, from an approved vendor (maximum $55) 42 
  43 
  Part-time: 44 
 45 
  1 jacket   46 
  3 pants   47 
  5 shirts (any style combination) 48 
  2 fleece 49 
  1 pair of shoes Black, leather, from an approved vendor (maximum $55) 50 

 51 
 52 
 53 



40 

ARTICLE 39 1 
CONDITION OF EQUIPMENT 2 

 3 
A. The Employer shall not require employees to take out on the street any vehicle that is not in safe operating 4 

condition.  The final authority on whether a vehicle is safe to operate shall rest with the Transit Maintenance 5 
Supervisor or with a senior mechanic on duty if no other supervisors are on duty. 6 

 7 
B. Any mechanical problem on a bus, known to the driver, must be reported immediately if a safety hazard is 8 

involved.  Otherwise, all problems should be reported in writing at the end of the driver’s shift in accordance 9 
with established procedures.  10 

11 



41 

PART D 1 

SPECIAL PROVISIONS –  2 

MAINTENANCE and OFFICE EMPLOYEES 3 

 4 
ARTICLE 40 5 

WORK SCHEDULES 6 
 7 

40.1 Establishment of Work Schedules 8 
 9 
The Employer shall have the right to establish the schedules and to determine the classifications required to work 10 
each schedule. 11 
 12 
40.2 Breaks 13 
 14 
A. All maintenance and office clerical employees working eight (8) hours or more in a day shall receive two (2) 15 

fifteen (15) minute paid breaks during the day.  Such employees who work less than eight (8) hours per day 16 
shall receive one (1) fifteen (15) minute paid break. 17 

 18 
B. The work schedules will be set to provide lunch breaks for those employees who request them.  The lunch 19 

breaks will be a minimum of thirty (30) minutes or a maximum of sixty (60) minutes to be taken as scheduled 20 
by management. 21 

 22 
40.3 Shift Adjustments 23 
 24 
Requests for shift adjustments must be submitted in writing with at least twenty-four (24) hours advance notification 25 
unless this requirement is specifically waived by the Employer.  Such adjustments may include changes in the starting 26 
and ending time or the scheduled lunch break for a shift.  The Employer reserves the right to approve or deny all 27 
requested shift adjustments. 28 
 29 
40.4 Work at Home 30 
 31 
If employees are permitted to perform work at home, actual hours worked shall be treated the same as if the work was 32 
performed at the City facility, but no call time or shift differential will apply.  No such work shall be performed without 33 
specific approval, in advance, by the Employer.  The Employer reserves the right to inspect home work sites by 34 
appointment for safety purposes and to establish reasonable methods of monitoring actual hours worked. 35 
 36 

ARTICLE 41 37 
SHIFT BIDDING PROCEDURES 38 

 39 
41.1 Posting and Effective Dates 40 
 41 
 Maintenance Employees 42 
A. Work schedules shall be selected by seniority within the classification and will be posted no later than 43 

December 1, May 1, and August 1, and take effect on the first Monday of January, the Monday after the 44 
school year ends, and the Monday before the school year begins. 45 

 46 
B. If major changes are to be made in the work schedule, the Employer will meet with the Shop Committee prior 47 

to the posting.  If there are only minor changes or no changes, the Employer will provide the Shop Committee 48 
with copies of the schedule in advance of the posting and will meet with the Committee upon request. 49 

 50 
Office Employees 51 

C. Communication Technicians will select a shift by seniority. 52 
 53 



42 

41.2 Order of Bidding/Time Limits 1 
 2 
 Maintenance Employees 3 
A. Work shifts will be bid by seniority within classification.  Any employee who does not bid within twenty-four 4 

(24) hours of their turn will lose their turn and be passed up.  The employee may re-enter the bidding later, but 5 
only from the point to which the bidding has then progressed as determined by the last employee to have 6 
actually signed the bid sheet. 7 

 8 
For the purpose of defining within twenty-four (24) hours, bidding may be done Monday through Friday from 9 
5:00 AM to 11:00 PM.  If the previous employee bids on Friday, the next bidder will have until the same time 10 
on Monday to complete his bid. 11 

 12 
B. The placement on the bid list of employees who return from a medical leave in the middle of a bid period and 13 

the determination of whether there will be a resulting rebid will be decided on a case-by-case basis. 14 
 15 
41.3 Method of Bidding 16 
 17 
 Maintenance Employees 18 
A. Bids will be accepted by telephone from employees provided the call is made on the recorded line (832-19 

5555). 20 
 21 
B. Employees must leave with their supervisor or the office and the Union Steward, a list of first, second, and 22 

third choice bids before going on scheduled leave. 23 
 24 
41.4 Rebidding 25 
 26 
 Maintenance Employees 27 
A. If a regular vacancy occurs more than forty-five (45) days before the effective date of the next bid, any open 28 

work shifts will be rebid from the vacancy downward on the seniority list for that job classification.  Rebidding 29 
will be done as follows. 30 

 31 
1. Rebidding begins with the next employee in the same job classification following the vacancy. 32 
2. Rebidding choices are the following. 33 

a. The same work shift the employee previously bid. 34 
b. The open work shift created by the vacancy. 35 
c. Any other unbid work shift. 36 

 37 
B. If a regular vacancy occurs forty-five (45) days or less before the effective date of the next bid, and there is 38 

sufficient time available to justify doing so, employees will be asked in seniority order, from the vacancy down, 39 
if they wish to take the open bid or stay where they are.  The employee who is promoted to fill the regular 40 
vacancy will be assigned to the bid that remains.  This procedure will be handled administratively, in lieu of 41 
formal rebidding.  If this process is not followed because of the circumstances of a particular case, the 42 
employee who is promoted shall be assigned to the open bid which was created by the regular vacancy. 43 
 44 
Communication Technicians 45 

C. If a regular vacancy occurs, Communication Technicians will be asked in seniority order if they wish to take 46 
the open shift. 47 

 48 
41.5 Right to Assign Unbid Work Shifts 49 
 50 
The Employer reserves the right to assign all work shifts not bid to available employees. 51 
 52 
 53 
 54 



43 

ARTICLE 42 1 
DISTRIBUTION OF OVERTIME 2 

 3 
42.1 Seniority 4 
 5 
A. Except as modified elsewhere in this Agreement, work outside the regular hours of work shall be offered to 6 

the senior available employees in that classification of the unit. 7 
 8 
B. The Employer reserves the right to determine the level of classification necessary to perform the available 9 

overtime work.  For overtime classification purposes, the Maintenance Division will be divided into two groups:  10 
1) all levels of mechanic classifications; and 2) utility, service and all other classifications.  Overtime will be 11 
distributed by seniority within each group or will be assigned by inverse seniority within each group.  If there 12 
are no employees within a group who are eligible to work overtime, it will then be offered to the other group 13 
provided they meet the minimum qualifications necessary to perform the work. 14 

 15 
42.2 Order of Distribution 16 
 17 
The order of the distribution of such work shall be determined as follows. 18 
 19 
A. Voluntary Distribution. 20 

 21 
1. Overtime will be handled on a voluntary basis whenever possible. 22 
2. The Employer will provide the opportunity to volunteer for overtime work by posting overtime availability 23 

sheets.  Separate sheets will be provided for specific overtime that is known in advance and for 24 
unanticipated overtime.  It is the responsibility of each employee to notify their supervisor of their 25 
availability for either type of overtime work by signing the appropriate sheet no later than 10:00 a.m. the 26 
day before such work becomes available (10:00 a.m. Friday for Monday work). 27 

3. All extra work will be assigned on the basis of seniority to those who have signed for work that day 28 
provided, however, that the employee must be available for at least two (2) hours or the duration of the 29 
work, if less than two (2) hours.  Employees will be assigned a shift which results in the most available 30 
hours going to the most senior employee.  Employees will not be assigned more than one (1) full shift 31 
until all available employees have been assigned a shift. 32 

4. Any employee who signs the availability sheet and is assigned extra work or overtime at the time the 33 
following day’s work assignments are completed will be obligated to work that shift.  If an employee is 34 
called about overtime work after the work assignments are completed they will have the option of 35 
accepting or declining the offered work. 36 

 37 
B. Involuntary Distribution. 38 
 39 

1. Overtime may be assigned by the Employer on an inverse seniority basis. 40 
2. Part-time office and maintenance employees may be inversed.   41 
3. Employees who do not sign the availability sheet will, however, be assigned extra work or overtime only 42 

when the list of available employees becomes exhausted.  In that event, extra work will be assigned to 43 
the least senior full-time or part-time employee who is not already scheduled to work.   44 

 45 
C. Splitting of Overtime. 46 

 47 
1. Single overtime shifts may also be split in the following situations.  48 

a. The most senior people who have signed the overtime availability sheet agree to split the time 49 
and the hourly split will not invoke any minimum pay provisions.  50 

b. If no agreement on splitting can be reached the most senior person shall have the choice of 51 
taking all or none of the available overtime.  52 



44 

c. If, as a result of not being able to reach agreement on splitting the overtime, and the most senior 1 
person waives the overtime, the overtime will be passed to the next senior person(s) who have 2 
signed the availability sheet.  3 

2. The privilege of splitting overtime shall not supersede the Employer’s right to determine the level of 4 
classification necessary to perform the available overtime work. 5 
 6 

D. Eligibility for Overtime Work. 7 
 8 

1. A maintenance or office employee who has bid a full week of vacation, PTO or floating holiday hours is 9 
ineligible for overtime work for that entire calendar week. 10 

2. A maintenance or office employee who is on vacation, PTO or floating holiday for an entire day’s work 11 
shift(s) is ineligible for any overtime work during the calendar day(s) they are off. 12 

3. A maintenance or office employee who is on vacation, PTO or floating holiday for part of a shift is 13 
ineligible for any work during the time they are on vacation or holiday.   14 

 15 
E. If an employee is excluded from bidding a particular shift in the shop or office based on their classification 16 

qualifications, they will also be excluded from working overtime on that shift. 17 
 18 
42.3 Duration of Overtime Work 19 
 20 
If the overtime work is the result of an emergency call-in, the employee will work only as long as necessary to handle 21 
the emergency unless directed otherwise by the Employer. 22 
 23 
42.4 Errors in Distribution 24 
 25 
Management will take all reasonable steps to insure that overtime is distributed properly.  The Employer, however, 26 
assumes no financial liability for errors in overtime assignments which result from employee instigated schedule 27 
changes after the final bid is posted. 28 
 29 

ARTICLE 43 30 
REPORTING FOR WORK 31 

 32 
43.1 Maintenance and Office Employee Responsibilities 33 
 34 
A. It is understood that personal affairs and obligations will be conducted during non-working hours.  Employees 35 

may, with permission from their supervisor, use personal equipment for transit related purposes. 36 
 37 
B. If the maintenance and/or office employee responsible for opening the facility or reporting first for work is sick 38 

or otherwise unable to report to work, they must call their supervisor or designee at least sixty (60) minutes 39 
prior to the scheduled start of their shift.  All other maintenance or office employees should use the recorded 40 
line to report off work and call at least sixty (60) minutes prior to the scheduled start of their shift. 41 

 42 
43.2 Paid Leave 43 
 44 
Paid leave may be taken on the basis of either a full or partial shift off.  Except in the case of an illness or injury that 45 
occurs during an employee’s shift, the Employer reserves the right to approve or deny all requests for a partial shift 46 
off. 47 
 48 
43.3 Late Reports 49 
 50 
All employees covered under this bargaining agreement shall be subject to Article 13-Lates and Miss-outs. 51 
 52 
 53 
 54 



45 

ARTICLE 44 1 
UNIFORMS 2 

 3 
A. Coveralls or other appropriate clothing will be furnished for maintenance employees. 4 

 5 
B. Shop clothing may be worn only during the course of work and for travel directly to and from the place of 6 

employment.  7 
 8 
C. The Employer shall, at its sole discretion, provide uniforms to the office and maintenance employees.  The 9 

decision to provide uniforms to such employees and the number of items to be provided are solely at the 10 
discretion of the Employer.  The current uniform allocations for these other employee groups include the 11 
following: 12 

 13 
  Communication Technicians    Maintenance Employees  14 
  15 
  1 fleece      1 winter jacket 16 
        coveralls/work pants and shirts 17 
  1 polo shirt 18 
 19 

Office personnel are not required to wear their uniforms to work on a daily basis.  They may wear any 20 
appropriate office attire.  They may, however, be required to wear their uniform when representing Valley 21 
Transit in public or official business or when requested to do so by management. 22 

 23 
ARTICLE 45 24 

MECHANIC PROVISIONS 25 
 26 

45.1 Mechanic Classifications 27 
 28 
The Employer may hire at the Mechanic or Master Mechanic classification based on qualifications and needs of the 29 
department. 30 
 31 
45.2 ASE Testing 32 
 33 
The Employer will pay the testing fee for any approved ASE testing or re-testing.  The employees shall take the ASE 34 
tests on their own time and at their own expense.   35 

 36 
45.3   Lead Mechanic 37 
 38 
The Lead Mechanic pay will be $1.00/hour more than the Master Mechanic rate (based on qualifications of the Lead 39 
Mechanic) 40 
 41 

42 



46 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement on this    day of  1 
   ,2018. 2 
 3 
 4 
 5 
 6 
CITY OF APPLETON:     TEAMSTERS LOCAL UNION NO. 662 7 
 8 
 9 
 10 
             11 
Jacob A. Woodford     Beth Kirchman 12 
Mayor       Business Representative 13 
 14 
 15 
Attest: 16 
 17 
 18 
     19 
Kami Lynch 20 
City Clerk 21 
 22 
 23 
Provision has been made to pay any 24 
liability which may accrue under 25 
this Agreement: 26 
 27 
 28 
     29 
Anthony Saucerman 30 
Director of Finance 31 
 32 
 33 
Approved as to form: 34 
 35 
 36 
     37 
Christopher R. Behrens 38 
City Attorney 39 
 40 
 41 
     42 
Sandra Matz  43 
Director of Human Resources44 

   

 

 

 

 



47 

EXHIBIT A 

VALLEY TRANSIT SALARY SCHEDULE 

1/1/2021 Rate 4/1/2021 Rate 10/1/2021 Rate 1/1/2022 Rate 1/1/2023 Rate

BUS DRIVER 0.00% 1.00% 1.00% 2.00% 2.00%

Training Rate 80% $19.98 $20.18 $20.38 $20.79 $21.21

2080 Hours 85% $21.22 $21.43 $21.64 $22.07 $22.51

4160 Hours 90% $22.47 $22.69 $22.92 $23.38 $23.85

6240 Hours 95% $23.72 $23.96 $24.20 $24.68 $25.17

7280 Hours 100% * $24.97 $25.22 $25.47 $25.98 $26.50

STANDBY DRIVER/OFFICE CLK
Base Wage $19.49 $19.68 $19.88 $20.28 $20.69

Wage After 12 Months $20.17 $20.37 $20.57 $20.98 $21.40

Wage After 24 Months $20.47 $20.67 $20.88 $21.30 $21.73

Wage After 36 Months $21.44 $21.65 $21.87 $22.31 $22.76

Wage After 48 Months $22.42 $22.64 $22.87 $23.33 $23.80

Wage After 60 Months $23.39 $23.62 $23.86 $24.34 $24.83

Wage After 72 Months $24.35 $24.59 $24.84 $25.34 $25.85

COMMUNICATION TECHNICIAN
Base Wage $18.65 $18.84 $19.03 $19.41 $19.80

Wage After 12 Months $19.17 $19.36 $19.55 $19.94 $20.34

Wage After 24 Months $19.68 $19.88 $20.08 $20.48 $20.89

Wage After 36 Months $20.19 $20.39 $20.59 $21.00 $21.42

Wage After 48 Months $20.71 $20.92 $21.13 $21.55 $21.98

Wage After 60 Months $21.22 $21.43 $21.64 $22.07 $22.51

Wage After 72 Months $21.75 $21.97 $22.19 $22.63 $23.08

UTILITY WORKER - PT
Base Wage $17.95 $18.13 $18.31 $18.68 $19.05

Wage After 12 Months $18.47 $18.65 $18.84 $19.22 $19.60

Wage After 24 Months $18.67 $18.86 $19.05 $19.43 $19.82

Wage After 36 Months $19.40 $19.59 $19.79 $20.19 $20.59

Wage After 48 Months $20.12 $20.32 $20.52 $20.93 $21.35

Wage After 60 Months $20.84 $21.05 $21.26 $21.69 $22.12

Wage After 72 Months $21.57 $21.79 $22.01 $22.45 $22.90

MECHANIC
Start 75% of Base Wage $18.88 $19.07 $19.26 $19.65 $20.04

80% Base Wage After 6 Mo $20.13 $20.33 $20.53 $20.94 $21.36

85% Base Wage After 12 Mo $21.38 $21.59 $21.81 $22.25 $22.70

90% Base Wage After 18 Mo $22.63 $22.86 $23.09 $23.55 $24.02

$23.89 $24.13 $24.37 $24.86 $25.36

100% Base Wage After 30 Mo $25.14 $25.39 $25.64 $26.15 $26.67

1/1/2021: $.10 added to base wage (for ASE certification recognition)

MASTER MECHANIC
Start $28.00 $28.00 $28.00 $28.56 $29.13

Mid (achieved 4 Transit ASE Certifications) $29.00 $29.00 $29.00 $29.58 $30.17

Full (achieved all required Transit ASE Certifications) $30.00 $30.00 $30.00 $30.60 $31.21

CLEANING PERSON
Base Wage $19.72 $19.92 $20.12 $20.52 $20.93

1/1/2021: Mechanic II's for implementation will be placed at start rate; Master Mechanics are not eligible for 4/1/2021 and 

10/1/2021 across the board adjustments.

Note: Lump sum payment will be made ($.25/hour for all hours worked in 2020) in recognition of the extraordinary conditions of the pandemic for all 

Drivers, Communication Technicians, and Utility Workers on the payroll that includes 12/31/2020.



48 

EXHIBIT B 
 

LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING 
SICK LEAVE BANK 

 

This Letter of Understanding outlines an agreement reached between the City of Appleton and the 

Teamster Local #662 Valley Transit during negotiations for a 2017 Collective Bargaining Agreement.  

The Letter of Understanding applies to the elimination of the second sick leave bank.  The following 

employees shall be grandfathered with the total amount of hours in their second sick leave bank as of 

March 11, 2011:  

      

Randy Stammer 

 

Employees will have access to use the second sick leave bank while employed with the City and such 

leave is not eligible for any type of payout upon leaving the City. 

 

 

________________________     _________   ________________________     _________ 

For the City of Appleton      Date  For the Union         Date 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 



49 

EXHIBIT C 
LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING 

LONGEVITY AND VACATION FOR PART-TIME EMPLOYEES 

 

This Letter of Understanding outlines an agreement reached between the City of Appleton and the 

Teamster Local #662 Valley Transit during negotiations for a 2021 Collective Bargaining Agreement.  

The Letter of Understanding applies to the elimination of longevity and vacation for part-time 

employees.  The following employees shall be grandfathered as outlined below: 

    Steve Hamilton  Longevity Only 

    Tom Coon   Vacation Only 

    Paul Rollefson   Vacation and Longevity 

    Dan Kobussen  Vacation and Longevity 

      

 

 

________________________     _________   ________________________     _________ 

For the City of Appleton      Date  For the Union         Date 

 

 

 

  



50 

EXHIBIT D 
LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING 

LEAD DRIVER PROGRAM 

 

This Letter of Understanding outlines an agreement reached between the City of Appleton and the 

Teamster Local #662 Valley Transit during negotiations for a 2021 Collective Bargaining Agreement.  

The Letter of Understanding applies to the creation of  a Lead Driver Program.   

 Lead Driver Pay  

Lead Driver pay will be $1.00/hour more than the Bus Driver rate including longevity if 

applicable (based on length of service and  qualifications of the Lead Driver) 

Qualifications 

Qualifications for Lead Driver will be determined by the Employer and will reasonably relate to 

the expectations and job duties of the position. If two drivers are equally qualified, the lead 

position will be awarded to the more senior driver. 

Schedule 

Lead Drivers will have the ability to select their scheduled bid per the contract however, as part 

of the Lead Driver Program, they may have their daily hours changed during the week to 

provide for Saturday coverage. Saturday coverage will be shared between the Lead Driver 

positions on a rotational basis and shall be accomplished by a schedule shift change during the 

week to minimize any overtime impact. 

 

This Letter of Understanding will expire on December 31, 2023 

 

      

 

 

________________________     _________    ________________________    _________ 

For the City of Appleton      Date   For the Union         Date 









     
 



 

w w w . s r f c o n s u l t i n g . c o m  
3701 Wayzata Boulevard, Suite 100 | Minneapolis, MN 55416-3791 | 763.475.0010 

Equal Employment Opportunity / Affirmative Action Employer 

 

SRF 17144.PP 
September 28, 2023 

Ronald McDonald 
General Manager 
Valley Transit 
801 S. Whitman Avenue 
Appleton, WI 54914 
 

Subject:  Proposal for Professional Services for Preparation of a 2024 RAISE Grant Application  

Dear Ronald: 

Based on your request, SRF Consulting Group, Inc. (SRF) is pleased to submit this proposal to 
provide professional services for preparation of a 2024 RAISE Grant submittal application for 
Valley Transit’s Downtown Appleton Transit Center. Our Team’s scope of services is described 
below, along with the assumptions and expectations we have for Valley Transit staff participation.  

Scope of Services 

We propose to carry out the work (“Scope of Services”), set forth in Attachment B, attached hereto 
and incorporated into this Agreement. We also propose to utilize the 2023 RAISE narrative, BCA, 
and USDOT debriefing notes as the basis for updating and providing a more competitive 2024 
RAISE application. 

1. Task 1 – Project Management 

This task assumes management of daily work activities, tasks, and meetings, monitor budget, 
provide monthly billings, and maintain communications with Valley Transit staff during the entire 
duration of the process. This task also includes QA/QC for all product deliverables, including 
graphics, narrative in the application and benefit-cost analysis materials.  

2. Task 2 – Agency Coordination 

Participate in project meetings with Valley Transit staff and other stakeholders with pertinent 
information/useful data critical to application requirements. Meetings are expected at the 
following milestones: 

• Introduction to the grant narrative, benefit-cost analysis, data needs, and debrief review. 
• Review of draft grant narrative, benefit-cost findings/refinement of assumptions. 
• Work with Valley Transit staff throughout the application process to collect/review 

supplemental supporting documents and draft. As part of the task, SRF staff will provide 



Ronald McDonald September 28, 2023 
Valley Transit Page 2 

Valley Transit staff with material/content to forward to local, state, and federal delegations 
for requested letters of support. 

• Document and discuss with Valley Transit staff critical information gleaned from 2024 RAISE 
webinars, and 2023 RAISE debrief. 

3. Task 3 – Data Collection 

Gather data from Valley Transit staff, and other sources, analyze data, prepare findings, coordinate 
documentation with Valley Transit staff, and integrate this data into application text and graphics 
to respond to the new 2024 RAISE criteria (including climate change and environmental justice 
impacts). Complete a table that provides project cost by census tracts. Complete a detailed 
Statement of Work. 

4. Task 4 – Benefit Cost Analysis 

Prepare the required benefit cost analysis (BCA) for the project, following procedures as noted in 
the application rules. Complete supplemental BCA work. Perform forecasts for build and no-build 
conditions using the regional model. Prepare a BCA memo and BCA worksheets for use in 
application narrative and submittal. 

5. Task 5 – Application Preparation 

Prepare draft application two weeks prior to submittal deadline for review and comment by Valley 
Transit staff (revise within two working days and assume only one draft revision). All resolutions, 
letters of support, etc. will be gathered and assembled into the final application. 

Prepare the final application for submittal to US DOT three days prior to the published deadline  
date (TBD). Documentation, supporting application assertions, etc. will be provided by Valley 
Transit for relevant information, and SRF will add these to the application by web links.  The 
application will follow the guidance provided by US DOT. It is understood that Valley Transit 
staff will register with Grants.gov and will submit the application to this website by the due date 
(TBD). 

6. Task 6 – Graphics/Website 

Prepare graphics/tables for the grant application and links for the project website. 

Assumptions 

SRF will work with Valley Transit staff to identify data/documents that Valley Transit is responsible 
for providing.  

Schedule 

SRF will complete this work so that Valley Transit can submit the RAISE Grant application to US 
DOT three days prior to the due date (TBD). 



Ronald McDonald September 28, 2023 
Valley Transit Page 3 

Basis of Payment/Budget 

We propose to be reimbursed for our services on an hourly basis for the actual time expended.  
Other direct project expenses such as printing, supplies, reproduction, etc., will be billed at cost and 
mileage will be billed at the current allowable IRS rate for business miles. Invoices are submitted on 
a monthly basis for work performed during the previous month. Payment is due within 30 days. 

Based on our understanding of the project and our scope of services, we estimate the cost of our 
services to be $ 21,512 which includes both time and expenses.   

Changes in the Scope of Services 

It is understood that if the scope or extent of work changes, the cost will be adjusted accordingly. 
Before any out-of-scope work is initiated, however, we will submit a budget request for the new 
work and will not begin work until we receive authorization from you.  

Standard Terms and Conditions 

The attached Standard Terms and Conditions (Attachment A), and Work Task and Person Hour 
Estimate (Attachment B), together with this proposal for professional services, constitute the entire 
agreement between the Client and SRF and supersede all prior written or oral understandings. This 
agreement may only be amended, supplemented, modified, or canceled by a duly executed written 
instrument. 

Acceptance/Notice to Proceed  

A signed copy of this proposal, mailed or emailed to our office, will serve as acceptance of this 
proposal and our notice to proceed. The email address is pchellevold@srfconsulting.com.   

We sincerely appreciate your consideration of this proposal and look forward to working with you 
on this project. Please feel free to contact us if you have any questions or need additional 
information. 

Sincerely, 

SRF CONSULTING GROUP, INC. 
 

 
Paul Chellevold, AICP     Marie Cote, P.E. 
Project Manager     Project Director  

 

Attachment A – Standard Terms and Conditions 
Attachment B – Work Task and Person Hour Estimate 

mailto:pchellevold@srfconsulting.com


Ronald McDonald September 28, 2023 
Valley Transit Page 4 

Approved (Valley Transit) 

 
        
(signature) 

Name        

Title        

Date        
 
This cost proposal is valid for a period of 90 days. SRF reserves the right to adjust its cost 
estimate after 90 days from the date of this proposal. 

 



 

  



 

  



9/28/2023 Page 1 of 2

SRF Consulting Group, Inc. Work Tasks and Person-Hour Estimates
Client: Valley Transit/City of Appleton
Project: 2024 RAISE Grant Application 

Subconsultants: 0 17118

TASK NO. TASK DESCRIPTION PROF. VIII-VII PROF. VI PROF. V PROF. IV PROF. III PROF. II PROF. I TECH. SUPPORT TOTALS EST. FEE

1.0 Project Management 
Assumptions:

1.1 This task assumes management of daily work activities, coordinating tasks and 
meetings, monitor budget, provide monthly billings, and maintain 
communications with District staff during this project. This task also includes 
QA/QC for all product deliverables, including graphics, narrative in the 
application, and benefit-cost analysis materials.

- - 18 - - - - - - 18 $3,258.00

SRF Deliverables:

SUBTOTAL - TASK 1 0 0 18 0 0 0 0 0 0 18 $3,258.00

2.0 Agency Coordination
Assumptions:
Kick off meeting, bi-weekly meetings

2.1 Participate in project meetings with Valley Transit/City of Appleton staff and other 
stakeholders with pertinent information/useful data critical for the application 
requirements. 

- - 8 - - - - - - 8 $1,448.00

2.2 Work with Valley Transit/City of Appleton staff throughout the application process 
to collect/review supplemental supporting documents and data. SRF will provide 
staff material/content to forward to local, state, and federal delegations for 
requested letters of support.

- - 2 - - - - - - 2 $362.00

2.3 Document and discuss with staff critical information gleaned from 2023 RAISE  
grant webinars.

- - 2 - - - - - - 2 $362.00

SUBTOTAL - TASK 2 0 0 12 0 0 0 0 0 0 12 $2,172.00

3.0 Data Collection
Assumptions:

Client Deliverables:
Data requested from SRF

3.1 Gather data from Valley Transit/City of Appleton staff, and other sources, analyze 
data, prepare findings, coordinate documentation with staff, and integrate this 
data into application text and graphics to respond to the new 2024 RAISE criteria 
(including climate change and environmental justice impacts). Create table to 
show project cost per census tracts. Complete detailed Statement of Work.

- - 2 - - 16 - - - 18 $2,394.00

SUBTOTAL - TASK 3 0 0 2 0 0 16 0 0 0 18 $2,394.00

4.0 Benefit Cost Analysis

SRF CONSULTING GROUP, INC.
Valley Transit 2024 RAISE grant fee 0921 2023.xlsx

MINNEAPOLIS. MN



9/28/2023 Page 2 of 2

SRF Consulting Group, Inc. Work Tasks and Person-Hour Estimates
Client: Valley Transit/City of Appleton
Project: 2024 RAISE Grant Application 

Subconsultants: 0 17118

TASK NO. TASK DESCRIPTION PROF. VIII-VII PROF. VI PROF. V PROF. IV PROF. III PROF. II PROF. I TECH. SUPPORT TOTALS EST. FEE
4.1 Prepare the required benefit cost analysis (BCA) for the project, following 

procedures as noted in the application rules. Complete supplemental BCA work. 
Perform forecasts for build and no-build conditions using the regional model. 
Prepare a BCA memo and BCA worksheets for use in application narrative and 
submittal.

- - - 40 - - - - - 40 $6,680.00

SRF Deliverables:

SUBTOTAL - TASK 4 0 0 0 40 0 0 0 0 0 40 $6,680.00

5.0 Application Preparation
Assumptions:

5.1 Prepare the final application for submittal to US DOT by due date (TBD). 
Documentation, supporting application assertions, etc. will be provided by Valley 
Transit/City of Appleton for relevant information, and SRF will add these to the 
application by web links.  The application will follow the guidance provided by US 
DOT. It is understood that Valley Transit/City of Appleton staff will register with 
Grants.gov and will submit the application to this website by the TBD deadline.

- - 8 - - 28 - - - 36 $5,004.00

SRF Deliverables:

SUBTOTAL - TASK 5 0 0 8 0 0 28 0 0 0 36 $5,004.00

6.0 Graphics/Website

6.1 Prepare graphics/tables and links for the website. - - - 12 - - - - - 12 $2,004.00

SRF Deliverables:

TOTAL ESTIMATED PERSON-HOURS 0 0 40 52 0 44 0 0 0 136

TOTAL ESTIMATED FEE (SRF and Subconsultants combined) $21,512.00

SRF CONSULTING GROUP, INC.
Valley Transit 2024 RAISE grant fee 0921 2023.xlsx

MINNEAPOLIS. MN



 

 

 

 

 

NON-COMPETITIVE / SOLE SOURCE PROCUREMENT 

JUSTIFICATION AND APPROVAL 

 

 

1. Estimated Contract Amount: $_  21,512   _ 
 

2. Recommended Supplier Name, Address, and Contact Information: 
 

3. Description of requested items or services and their purpose (Attach additional sheets as 

necessary): 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 

Justification for Request: FTA Circular 4220.1F, Section 3.i.(1)(1) (Check all that Apply) 
 

A. Unique Capability or Availability. The property or services are available from one source if one of the 
conditions described below is present: 

 

  X          a. Unique or Innovative Concept. The offeror demonstrates a unique or innovative concept or 
capability not available from another source. Unique or innovative concept means a new, novel, 
or changed concept, approach, or method that is the product of original thinking, the details of 
which are kept confidential or are patented or copyrighted, and is available to the recipient only 
from one source and has not in the past been available to the recipient from another source. 

 

   b. Patents or Restricted Data Rights.  Patent or data rights restrictions preclude competition. 
 

 X  c.  Substantial  Duplication  Costs. In the case of a follow-on contract for the continued 
development or production of highly specialized equipment and major components thereof, when 
it is likely that award to another contractor would result in substantial duplication of costs that are 
not expected to be recovered through competition. 

 

            d. Unacceptable Delay. In the case of a follow-on contract for the continued development or 
production of a highly specialized equipment and major components thereof, when it is likely that 
award to another contractor would result in unacceptable delays in fulfilling the recipient’s needs. 

 

B. Single Bid or Single Proposal. Upon receiving a single bid or single proposal in response to a solicitation, 
the recipient should determine if competition was adequate. This should include a review of the specifications 

SRF Consulting Group 
2550 University Avenue West 
Suite 345N  
Saint Paul, MN  55114 

SRF was a sub-consultant during the Valley Transit Center Joint Development Master Planning. 
As part of that planning effort, SRF assisted Valley Transit with various activities related to 
submission of the 2023 RAISE grant application. The scope of their services included, but wasn’t 
limited to, data collection, benefit cost analysis, graphics, and application preparation. 



 

 

 

for undue restrictiveness and might include a survey of potential sources that chose not to submit a bid or 
proposal. 

   a. Adequate Competition. FTA acknowledges competition to be adequate when the 
reasons for few responses were caused by conditions beyond the recipient’s control. Many 
unrelated factors beyond the recipient’s control might cause potential sources not to 
submit a bid or proposal. If the competition can be determined adequate, FTA’s 
competition requirements will be fulfilled, and the procurement will qualify as a valid 
competitive award. 

 

   b. Inadequate Competition. FTA acknowledges competition to be inadequate when, 
caused by conditions within the recipient’s control. For example, if the specifications used 
were within the recipient’s control and those specifications were unduly restrictive, 
competition will be inadequate. 

 

            C. Unusual and Compelling Urgency. The Common Grant Rule for governmental recipients 
permits the recipient to limit the number of sources from which it solicits bids or proposals when 
a recipient has such an unusual and urgent need for the property or services that the recipient 
would be seriously injured unless it were permitted to limit the solicitation. The recipient may also 
limit the solicitation when the public exigency or emergency will not permit a delay resulting from 
competitive solicitation for the property or services. 

 

            D. Associated Capital Maintenance Item Exception Repealed. The Safe, Accountable, Flexible, 
Efficient Transportation Equity Act: A Legacy for Users (SAFETEA-LU) repealed the special 
procurement preference previously authorized for associated capital maintenance items. Thus, 
any sole source procurement of associated capital maintenance items must qualify for an 
exception under the same standards that would apply to other sole source acquisitions. 

 

            E. Authorized by FTA. The Common Grant Rules provides Federal agencies authority to permit  a 
recipient to use noncompetitive proposals. Under this authority, FTA has made the following 
determinations: 

 

   1.  Team,  Consortium,  Joint Venture, Partnership. With some exceptions, when FTA 
awards a grant agreement or enters into a cooperative agreement with a team, 
consortium, joint venture, or partnership, or provides FTA assistance for a research project 
in which FTA has approved the participation of a particular firm or combination of firms in 
the project work, the grant agreement or cooperative agreement constitutes approval of 
those arrangements. In such cases, FTA expects the recipient to use competition, as 
feasible, to select other participants in the project. It can sometimes be difficult to 
determine whether a bidder or offeror is submitting its bid or offer as a team or other group 
with committed parties. The Recipient should clarify with the bidder or  offeror how other 
entities included in its bid or offer are to be treated. 

 

            2. FAR Standards. To ensure that the recipient has flexibility equal to that of Federal 
contracting officers, FTA authorizes procurement by noncompetitive proposals in all of the 
circumstances authorized by FAR Part 6.3. In addition to circumstances discussed  in the 
Common Grant Rules, the FAR authorizes less than full and open competitive 
procurements in one or more of the following circumstances: 

 

            a. Statutory Authorization or Requirement. To comply with Department of Transportation 
(DOT) appropriations laws that include specific statutory requirements, with the result that 
only a single contractor can perform certain project work. 

            b. National Emergency. To maintain a facility, producer, manufacturer, or other supplier 
available to provide supplies or services in the event of a national emergency or to achieve 
industrial mobilization. 

 



 

 

 

            c. Research. To establish or maintain an educational or other non-profit institution or a 
federally funded research and development center that has or will have an essential 
engineering, research, or development capability. 

 

            d. Protests, Disputes, Claims, Litigation. To acquire the services of an expert or neutral 
person for any current or anticipated protest, dispute, claim, or litigation. 

 

   e.  International  Arrangements. When precluded by the terms of an international 
agreement or a treaty between the United States and a foreign government or international 
organization, or when prohibited by the written directions of a foreign government 
reimbursing the recipient for the cost of the acquisition of the supplies or services for that 
government. 

 

   f. National Security. When the disclosure of the recipient’s needs would compromise the 
national security. 

 

     X  g. Public Interest. When the recipient determines that full and open competition in 
connection with a particular acquisition is not in the public interest. 

 

4. Explain why the product or service requested is the only one that can satisfy your requirements, as 

well as why alternatives are unacceptable. Be specific with regard to specifications. Use additional 

sheets as necessary. 

SRF was previously contracted to assist with the Valley Transit Center Joint Development planning 
effort, including the 2023 RAISE grant application.  The current project knowledge within SRF is 
significant.  Hiring a new consultant to assist with the 2024 RAISE grant application would include a 
steep learning curve resulting in a substantial duplication of costs that aren’t expected to be 
recovered through a new competitive procurement. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

This form was reviewed and approved by the City of Appleton’s Purchasing Manager, Jeff Fait, on 10/8/2021. 



 

 

 

 
 
 

Prepared by: 
 

Date: 
 

I hereby certify, that, to the best of my knowledge, the above justification is accurate and request that 

a non-competitive / sole source request be approved for the procurement of the above requested 

item(s) and/or service(s). 

 

Signature:  Date:   

 
 
 
 









155-23 
 
AN ORDINANCE AMENDING SECTION 2-217(b) OF CHAPTER 2 OF THE MUNICIPAL 
CODE OF THE CITY OF APPLETON, RELATING TO COMPENSATION - MAYOR. 

(Human Resources and Information Technology Committee – 10-18-2023) 
 
 
The Common Council of the City of Appleton does ordain as follows: 
 
 

Section 1:  That Section 2-217(b) of Chapter 2 of the Municipal Code of the City of 

Appleton, relating to compensation – Mayor, is hereby amended to read as follows: 

(b) Mayor.  The salary of the Mayor shall be as follows: 
 
 2024 – 2025   $113,158 
 2025 – 2026   $115,421 
 2026 – 2027   $117,729 
 2027 – 2028   $120,084 
 

 
Section 2: This ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its passage and 

  
publication. 


	0000_Agenda
	0001_1_CC Minutes 10-18-23
	0002_1_Family Literacy Day Proclamation
	0002_2_Small Business Saturday Proclamation
	0002_3_Appleton High Schools DECA Week Proclamation
	0002_4_Runaway and Homeless Youth Prevention Month Proclamation
	0002_5_Native American Heritage Month Proclamation
	0003_1_Nov 1 Public Art Committee Appt Memo
	0004_1_ADI Small Business Sat request
	0005_1_ADI - Light Up Appleton
	0006_1_519 6th Street Driveway Extension Request
	0007_1_Building Move 225 N. Badger Ave to 1839 W. Winnebago St
	0008_1_Katie Baxley Denial Letter
	0008_2_Katie Baxley License Application
	0008_3_Katie Baxley PD Letter
	0009_1_The Dispo SL
	0010_1_StaffReport_Antojitos_SUP_For10-25-23
	0011_1_Clearwater Creek - Fourth Addn to Dev Agrm - 10-20-2023
	0011_2_Memo_ClearwaterCreek4th_DA_10232023
	0012_1_CEDC_CDBG_Initial_Allocation_Memo
	0012_2_CDBG PY24 Request for Funds - Appleton Housing
	0013_1_Valley Transit TA 10-16-23
	0013_2_Teamster Valley Transit 2021-2023
	0014_1_HR-IT - Alderperson Raises Deadlines
	0014_2_Alderperson Compensation Survey
	0014_3_Elected Alderperson Salaries
	0015_1_SRF Memo
	Memo to FCTC for SRF Professional Services 2024 RAISE grant
	230928_SRF Proposal Valley Transit RAISE 2024
	Scope of Services
	Assumptions
	Schedule
	Basis of Payment/Budget
	Changes in the Scope of Services
	Standard Terms and Conditions
	Acceptance/Notice to Proceed
	Approved (Valley Transit)
	Valley Transit 2024 RAISE grant fee 0921 2023.pdf
	Budget_Scope


	Non-Competitive-Sole Source Justification_SRF

	0016_1_AV Equipment Memo
	0017_1_Ordinances to Council 11-1-23

	Project and/or Address: Egge Movers - Small Building Move
	Bond: Off
	Property: Off
	Pollution: Off
	Aircraft: Off
	Drones: Off
	Watercraft: Off
	Cyber: Off
	Commercial: Off


